
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 17 January 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Miss C Tuohy (0116 305 5483). 

Email: cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
Mrs. J. Richards CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 8 November 
2018.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 
 
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 - 
2022/23.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport and 
Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 13 - 36) 

9.  
  

Environmental Performance 2017-18 and 
Greenhouse Gas 2017-18.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 37 - 62) 

10.  
  

LLEP Energy Infrastructure Strategy.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 63 - 72) 

11.  
  

A46 - Update on Midlands Connect Work  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 73 - 196) 

12.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 7 
March 2019 at 2pm. 
 

 

13.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  The 
following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point for 
developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 
 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 8 November 2018.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. A. E. Pearson CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
Mrs H. Fryer CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 

 
 
In attendance. 
 
Mr. B. Pain CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Environment and Transport. 
 

127. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2018 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

128. Mr T. W. Thompson  
 
The Committee were sad to note  the death of Tommy Thompson, former Director of 
Planning and Transportation. Mr Thompson joined the Highways Department as it was 
then known in 1972 as Principal Assistant County Surveyor. He went on to become 
Director of Planning and Transportation in 1988 and served in the post until 1997.  It was 
noted the Council owed him a great debt for all he had contributed to the County. 
 

129. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

130. Questions asked by members.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

131. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

132. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. No declarations were made. 
 
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

133. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

134. Presentation of Petitions.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

135. Risk Based Management Approach.  
 
The Committee considered a presentation from the Director of Environment and 
Transport concerning the Risk Based Management Approach to Highways Maintenance. 
A copy of the presentation, marked “Agenda Item 8” is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion the following points were noted: 
 

i) The ‘Well-managed Highway Infrastructure’ was published on 28 October 2016 
and set out an integrated, risk based approach to managing highway infrastructure 
assets that is to be applied across the United Kingdom. 
 

ii) The introduction of the new Code of Practice meant a move to the Risk Based 
Approach which would use the type of defect and assess it against the 
maintenance hierarchy of the network to give a resulting priority repair time 
allowing for better management of Highways defects. The underlying objective is 
to maximise preventative maintenance and minimise reactive maintenance. 

 
iii) Gully emptying had been one of the first areas that the department had looked into 

for the move to a Risk Based Approach. Emptying had been moved to a 10 
months, 24 months and 36 months cyclical maintenance service. Those on a three 
year cycle would be inspected at the two year stage to see if earlier intervention 
was needed. 

 
iv) Work was being undertaken on how best to circulate information about scheduled 

works, such as gully emptying, to Members, Districts, Town and Parish Councils. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the members note the presentation. 
 

136. Update on the Implementation of the Revised Funding Methodology for Community 
Transport.  
 
The Committee considered a report from the Director of Environment and Transport on 
the update on the implementation of the revised funding methodology for Community 
Transport. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 9” is filed with these minutes. 
 
From the discussion, the following points arose: 
 

i) The invaluable service that Community Transport Operators provide to the County. 
 

6



 
 

 

ii) No negative feedback had been received from Community Transport Operators or 
users of the service and there had actually been a one percent increase in 
passenger numbers. 

 
iii) The County Council would continue to work closely with all Operators to support 

them to ensure the robustness and accuracy of the data collected. 
 
iv) Shree Ram Krishna Community Project did not meet the criteria for Community 

Transport Operators and, as a result, funding had been phased out. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the update on the Implementation of the Revised Funding Methodology for 
Community Transport be noted. 
 

137. Annual Performance Report 2017/18.  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and Director of 
Environment and Transport on the Environment and Transport Annual Performance 
Report 2017/18. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 10” is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
From the discussion, the following points arose: 
 

i) Council officers and Leicestershire Police were working together to determine how 
a change in Leicestershire’s Police procedure has affected the number of reported 
collisions and a report would be brought in the new year. 

 
ii) The ‘total CO2 emissions from LCC operations (excluding schools)’ showed a 

significant annual improvement in performance of the Council’s carbon emissions. 
This was a result of a biomass boiler being installed at County Hall, converting 
Street lights to LEDs, a decrease in electricity and gas consumption following a 
review of LCC buildings and an investment in energy efficiency and renewable 
energy, and a reduction in emissions from  LCC vehicles. 

 
i) Currently there is no viable market for rigid plastics collected at RHWSs.  The 

Council had undertaken market engagement and had no response in looking for a 
solution. The Council was unable to recycle at any cost and therefore have agreed 
to be more transparent with members of the public and will retain separation of 
rigid plastics at certain strategic facilities in order to be able to react to any 
changing markets. 

 
ii) ‘Satisfaction with cycle/route and facilities’ had improved slightly since the previous 

year. It was measured via satisfaction as it is often given as a reason why people 
cycled, Cycling around the County is monitored however it was impossible to 
monitor every route. Currently the Council’s objective is to improve the safety of 
the  road network to support and encourage cycling,  

 
iii) Mandatory School Zig-Zag keep clear zones were currently being enforced by 

camera car where the Council had ensured any lines and signage complied with 
regulations.   The objective was not about catching people but as a deterrent to 
creating an obstruction or safety hazard.  
 

7



 
 

 

iv) Currently a pilot was being undertaken within the Access Fund Area in partnership 
with Leicester City Council, for a school keep clear zone which included a Traffic 
Regulation Order at certain times of the day. Managing parking around schools in 
residential areas was challenging as any parking restrictions would  also affect 
residents. The Council had a finite resource but would try to work with any school 
that were proactive and had a travel plan in place. 
 

RESOLVED:  
 
That the Committee note the report. 
 
 

138. The Development of a Unitary Structure for Local Government in Leicestershire.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive which had been submitted to 
the Cabinet on 16 October in response to the Cabinet resolution of 6 July 2018 to enable 
the Cabinet to consider outline proposals for the development of a unitary structure for 
local government in Leicestershire.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed 
with these minutes. 
 
The Director of Corporate Resources was also present to introduce the report and made 
reference to the Chancellor’s budget announcement the previous week, which had been 
more optimistic than expected.  He anticipated that Government departments outside of 
health would see a flat real-terms increase in growth and suggested that the following 
caveats should be borne in mind:- 
 

 Whether all Government departments would be treated the same, or whether 
services such as defence and the police, education and welfare would receive a 
greater share of funding; 

 The Government’s funding did not allow for changes in population or demand for 
services; there was a likelihood that these would increase, particularly for social 
care, and therefore increase funding requirements; 

 The costs could increase at a faster rate than inflation. 
 

Although the pace at which savings were required might be slower, the County Council 
would still need to make savings.  After making the maximum permitted increase in 
council tax, the County Council would still need to save between £10 million and £15 
million per year to meet ongoing funding pressures, especially in the light of future 
uncertainties such as Brexit.   
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 
Overview 
 
(i)  It was queried why the County Council was continuing to work on proposals for a 

unitary structure of local government in Leicestershire, when the Leicestershire 
MPs, who had met with the Secretary of State, and District Council Leaders were 
opposed to any re-organisation.  The Cabinet Lead Member for Environment and 
Transport advised that the County Council recognised the position of MPs and 
District Council Leaders but there were many other stakeholders who had not yet 
had a chance to make their views known.  A democratic process had been started 
by the Cabinet and it ought to be allowed to continue. 
 

8



 
 

 

Financial Situation 
 
(ii) The County Council was confident that the projected level of savings generated 

annually by a single unitary authority for Leicestershire would be in the region of 
£30 million.  This was based on evidence from recently created unitary authorities 
as well as a refresh of the figures used in the 2014 EY report.  In reorganisations 
elsewhere, savings of approximately £4.5 million per year were generated for each 
organisation that was abolished.  There was no evidence to support the assertion 
that restructuring would cost more than it saved, although it was noted that a one-
off expenditure of £19 million was estimated for the implementation of a new 
unitary authority. 
 

(iii) The development of a unitary structure of local government for Leicestershire 
would deliver a level of savings which could not be achieved otherwise and would 
go a long way towards ensuring financial sustainability.  Recent history had shown 
that organisations facing financial difficulties had had a unitary structure imposed 
on them.  It was felt to be better to make a decision voluntarily and to manage the 
process.  Indeed, the financial situation was one of the key drivers behind the 
proposals for a unitary structure of local government. 
 

(iv) The projected implementation costs included redundancy costs, calculated at a 
higher than average level to take account of the expectation that a higher than 
usual number of senior staff would be affected. 
 

(v) It might be necessary, as part of the implementation of a new unitary structure, to 
break existing contracts.  However, the implementation period would last for at 
least 18 months and following this there was likely to be a further period of 
transformation where contracts could be harmonised and decisions taken about 
whether they were worth breaking or not. 

 
Model Unitary Structure 

 
(vi) The intention was that, where appropriate, services would be managed centrally 

but delivered locally.  The new authority would be responsible for determining how 
it delivered services.  The overall approach, including Local Area Committees, 
Area Development Management sub-boards and an enhanced role for parish and 
town councils was intended to strike a balance between achieving economies of 
scale and preserving the value of local decision making.  It would enable decisions 
which were best taken at a local level, including some highways decisions, to be 
taken at that level.  Only members of the unitary authority representing electoral 
divisions within the area covered by the Area Committee would be eligible to serve 
on it, to guarantee a local focus. 
 

(vii) With regard to member allowances, a working assumption of £15,000 basic 
allowance had been made, although it was expected that this would be refined 
through the engagement process.  Attendance at the Local Area Committees had 
been taken into account when calculating the level of allowances.  Both the 
proposed Area Development Management Sub Boards and Local Area 
Committees would be committees of the unitary authority and would be supported 
centrally.  It was also intended that their meetings would be held in the relevant 
locality. 
 

9



 
 

 

(viii) There was no proposal to change social housing provision across the county.  The 
future of the service would be determined by the new unitary authority once it had 
been established and the function had transferred over. 
 

(ix) Where parish and town councils wished to take on additional responsibilities, they 
would receive funding and support to do so.  This would therefore not necessarily 
result in an increase to the parish council precept.  It was important to note that the 
taking on of additional services was voluntary and that it was understood that 
some parish councils would not wish to do so.  A view was expressed that parish 
and town councils were closest to local communities and that providing there was 
a clear distinction between their powers and the powers of the unitary authority, it 
would be good to see them take on additional responsibilities. 
 

(x) A view was expressed that bigger organisations could be more efficient but did not 
necessarily provide better services and there was no single approach that would 
suit all services.  Some were best delivered at a regional level, such as major 
transport infrastructure.  This was why the proposed Strategic Alliance for the East 
Midlands was important.  Some services were best delivered on a smaller scale.  It 
was confirmed that the Working Party had asked for analysis of the financial 
viability of existing unitary authorities, based on their size, to support their 
understanding of the best size for a unitary authority.  It was understood that the 
Secretary of State would only consider proposals where the population was 
substantially in excess of 300,000. 
 

(xi) The area of Leicester City Council was not included in the proposals for the 
Cabinet report and there was no intention to consider it; the focus was on the best 
model of governance for the people of Leicestershire.  It was also suggested that 
the edges of the county did not always associate closely with Leicestershire and 
perhaps a less rigid approach should be taken to the county boundaries.  
However, members were advised that the creation of a regional council was not a 
viable option; councils could not cross the boundaries of a Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s area.  There was also a requirement to take natural geographies 
into account and Leicestershire did have a longstanding and well-recognised 
border. 
 

(xii) A member expressed concerns that planning, particularly for major transport 
infrastructure to support economic growth, was increasingly being undertaken at a 
regional and national level.  A further view was expressed that a unitary authority 
would have more clout than the current local government structures to influence 
issues such as planning of major transport infrastructure.  A unitary authority 
would be a positive and enabling form of local government which would enable 
Leicestershire to work with regional colleagues to create a better and more 
prosperous East Midlands.  This would help combat the power of the West 
Midlands which has a more streamlined local government structure and was more 
organised as a region and consequently more successful at bidding for national 
funding. 

 
Options Appraisal 

 
(xiii) The savings to be generated from back office services covered a range of services 

such as finance, HR, IT, property and legal services.  As well as staffing 
reductions, estimated to be in the region of 400 – 500 full time equivalents, 
savings would be made from reductions in duplication, for example there would 

10



 
 

 

only need to be one statement of accounts prepared instead of eight.  There would 
also be savings from the rationalisation of IT systems.  It was confirmed that the 
savings from senior management referred to anyone earning over £50,000 per 
year. 
 

(xiv) The County Council generally paid managerial staff at a higher level than district 
councils, because of the scale of the organisation; it covered a greater area so 
staff had more responsibilities.  The differentials reduced at operational level.  In 
terms of which staff would transfer to the new organisation, the process would 
involve open competition to enable the best staff across the eight authorities to 
form the new unitary authority. 
 

Services in a Unitary Structure 
 

(xv) A view was expressed that the County Council provided good customer service 
and, where services were provided by the County Council, district council and in 
some cases the private sector, the County Council performed best.  A highly 
skilled and quality authority was needed to resolve the interfaces between 
organisations and experience had shown the County Council was best placed to 
do this.  By way of example, a local resident tripped over a piece of metal on a 
footpath.  This issue was referred to the local member because it was not clear 
where responsibility lay.  Following contact with the County Council the issue was 
resolved and compensation was awarded.  The key point from the example was 
that there was confusion between authorities; this would not be tolerated in a 
single, efficient organisation. 
 

(xvi) A further example of confusion between organisations was grass cutting, where 
the County Council was responsible for highway verges, the district council 
maintained its own green spaces and in some areas private developers were 
responsible.  The County Council was praised for its comprehensive records which 
could resolve these issues, but it was acknowledged that confusion could create 
inefficiencies in service. 
 

(xvii) A member suggested that, to the lay person, there was a lack of clarity around 
who was responsible for parking enforcement.  It could be complicated and time 
consuming for members to resolve issues and a more efficient and up-to-date 
system for local government in the county would be welcomed. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the report and information now provided be noted; 
 

(b) That the comments of the Committee be forwarded to the Scrutiny Commission for 
consideration at its meeting on 14 November 2018. 

. 
139. Date of next meeting.  

 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 17th January 2019 
at 2.00pm. 
 

 CHAIRMAN 
08 November 2018 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

17 JANUARY 2019 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2019/20 – 2022/23 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT AND THE 
DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to:- 

  
a) Provide information on the proposed 2019/20 to 2022/23 Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to the Environment and Transport Department; and, 
 

b) ask the Committee to consider any issues as part of the consultation process, and 
make any recommendations to the Scrutiny Commission and the Cabinet 
accordingly.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 
2. The County Council agreed the current MTFS in February 2018.  This has been the 

subject of a comprehensive review and revision in light of the current economic 
circumstances.  The draft MTFS for 2019/20 – 2022/23 was considered by the Cabinet 
on 18 December 2018.  

  
Background 
 
3. The MTFS is set out in the report to Cabinet on 18 December 2018, a copy of which has 

been circulated to all members of the County Council. This report highlights the 
implications for the Environment and Transport Department. 
 

4. Reports such as this one are being presented to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. The views of this Committee will be reported to the Scrutiny Commission 
on 28 January 2019. The Cabinet will consider the results of the scrutiny process on the 
8 February 2019 before recommending an MTFS, including a budget and capital 
programme for 2019/20, to the County Council on the 20 February 2019.   

 
Service Transformation 
 
5. The Department has undergone significant transformation in recent years. A range of 

initiatives including restructures, revised service delivery models, income generation, 
reductions to non-statutory service levels and various other efficiency initiatives have 
seen the Department make around £42m of revenue savings since 2010/11. 
 

 

13 Agenda Item 8



  

6. Given that the Council’s overall financial position continues to look very tight, the 

Department recognises the need to continue to be proactive in pursuing further savings 

options. However, the sheer scale of potential requirements going forwards including 

the growing number of strategic projects within Leicestershire (such as Lutterworth 

East, Future Recycling and Household Waste Site (RHWS)), external funding 

opportunities (such as Housing Infrastructure Fund), national and regional initiatives 

(such as HS2 and the A46 corridor) and continued uncertainty over future highways 

maintenance budgets, means that it is increasingly challenging to identify, attract and 

retain the appropriate skills and specialisms required to manage and deliver the work. 

This is compounded by the increased pressures on business as usual services where 

demand continues to grow, in some cases significantly, and budgets shrink. 

 

7. So increasingly, alongside the need to control or reduce costs of existing services, the 

Department is having to refocus away from service reduction. It is investigating options 

of supporting communities by exploring ways of service costs being met by other 

parties. In addition, it has also had to look at ways in which investments in the short 

term can provide increased future financial resilience. The LED replacement program 

for street lighting is an example that has now been completed. Also the purchase of a 

Part C share in the Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Partnership has secured 

cheaper gate fees for residual waste. Going forwards, investment in a new transfer 

station for bulking up waste will reduce ongoing revenue costs. And investment is being 

made in additional vehicles to reduce the dependency on expensive taxi contracts for 

students with the most acute transport needs.  This is putting an increased emphasis on 

building relationships and collaboration with other bodies and requires more commercial 

thinking in order to ensure our reputation for quality, customer focussed services is 

maintained.  

  
Proposed Revenue Budget 
 
8. Table 1 below summarises the proposed 2019/20 revenue budget and provisional 

budgets for the next three years thereafter. The proposed 2019/20 revenue budget is 
shown in detail in Appendix A.  
 

Table 1 – Revenue Budget 2019/20 to 2022/23 

 2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

Original prior year budget 63,281 66,986 67,425 68,195 

Budget transfers and adjustments 2,810 64 0 0 

Add proposed growth (Appendix B) 2,390 920 980 860 

Less proposed savings (Appendix C) -1,495 -545 -210 -370 

Proposed/Provisional budget 66,986 67,425 68,195 68,685 

 
9. Detailed service budgets have been compiled on the basis of no pay or price inflation, a 

central contingency will be held which will be allocated to services as necessary.  
 
10. The central contingency also includes provision for an increase of 1% each year in the 

employers’ pension contribution rate, in line with the requirements of the actuarial 
assessment. 

14



  

11. The total proposed expenditure budget for 2019/20 is £109.9m with contributions from 
grants, service user income, recharges to the capital programme and various other 
income totalling £42.9m. The proposed net budget for 2019/20 of £67.0m is distributed 
as shown in Table 2 below: 

 
Table 2 - Net Budget 2019/20 

 £000 

H&T Management & Training 781 

H&T Commissioning 3,392 

Highways Delivery 8,251 

Transport Operations 26,526 

E&W Management 361 

E&W Policy & Strategy 1,737 

E&W Design & Delivery 24,053 

Departmental & Business Management 1,885 

Total 66,986 

 
Budget Transfers and Adjustments 
 
12. A number of budget transfers (totalling a net increase of £2.8m) were made during the 

2018/19 financial year. These transfers are:- 
 

 £1.0m for pay and pension inflation (including the apprenticeship levy) transferred 
from the central inflation contingency; 

 £1.6m for running cost/contract inflation for waste management, street lighting and 
transport budgets from the central inflation contingency; and, 

 £0.2m for return from capital in place of leasing scheme. 
 
13. Growth and savings have been categorised in the appendices under the following 

classification:- 
 
 * item unchanged from previous MTFS 
 ** item included in the previous MTFS, but amendments have been made 

No stars - new item 
 
14. This star rating is included in the descriptions set out for growth and savings below. 
 
15. Savings have also been classified as Transformation or Departmental and highlighted 

as ‘Eff’ or ‘SR’ dependent on whether the saving is seen as efficiency or service 
reduction or a mixture of both. ‘Inc’ denotes those savings that are funding related 
and/or generate more income. 
 

GROWTH 
 
16. Details of proposed growth are set out in Appendix B and provide for an additional 

£5.2m per annum by 2022/23. These are described in the following paragraphs. Before 
the MTFS report to Cabinet on 8 February, the provisional MTFS will be reviewed and if 
appropriate updated by the latest budget monitoring position for 2018/19. 
 
 
 

 

15



  

HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT 
 
Demand & Cost Increases 
 
G15(**) SEN Transport – increased client numbers/costs - £1.44m in 2019/20 rising to 

£3.45m by 2022/23 
 

The main pressure area for growth continues to be around the Special Education 

Needs (SEN) Transport budget. This has increased significantly given the emerging 

overspend in the current financial year (£0.6m) and projections for pupil number 

increases and complexity of need (solo occupancy, medical need etc.).  The 

provisional growth over the four year period is an additional £3.45m by 2022/23. 

There is obviously a great deal of estimation in assessing future levels of growth, but 

the potential implications of the SEN quality and sufficiency work being undertaken 

within Children and Family Services makes this even more difficult. Hence the figures 

will  be reviewed and refreshed each year in light of the most up to date information 

available at the time. To give context to the growth requirement the average daily 

cost per pupil has grown significantly in recent years (£21.42 in 2011/12 to £30.11 in 

2017/18) and student numbers have also grown steadily over the period. 

G16      E&T Projects - £800,000 from 2019/20 

 
Growth has also been included to support various E&T led projects, which have an 
impact across the Council. The first of these is the £400k growth required to support 
the proactive approach to identifying and raising issues around HS2 to ensure the 
County maximises the opportunities available and minimises impact to our 
communities as the scheme is rolled out. The second is to address a combination of 
an identified shortfall in resource required to undertake tree inspections on the 
highways, coupled with the linked pressure on tree inspections arising from Ash 
Dieback, and then to appropriately action issues arising from these inspections. 
Further work is being undertaken to assess and profile this additional cost pressure 
over the MTFS period, but a provisional estimate of £400k per annum is included at 
this stage. 

 
ENVIRONMENT & WASTE 
 
Demand & Cost Increases 
 
G17(**) Waste Tonnages - £150,000 in 2019/20 rising to £900,000 by 2022/23 

 
The underlying assumption is for a 1% growth in waste tonnages per year which is 

consistent with historical trends.  However, based on last year’s tonnages, no growth 

was included for the current year. And given the tonnages experienced to date in the 

current financial year, growth for 2019/20 has been reduced from previous forecasts. 

Hence the ongoing growth has been revised down (the figure of £650k by 2021/22 is 

£230k less than in the current MTFS). It may be that these reduced tonnage levels 

increase which would allow further reductions in growth to be reflected in subsequent 

MTFS refreshes. 

 

16



  

SAVINGS 
 
17. Details of proposed savings are set out in Appendix C and total £1.5m in 2019/20 rising 

to £2.6m per annum by 2022/23. These are detailed in the following paragraphs.  
 
HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT 
 
ET1 (*) (SR) Revised Passenger Transport Policy: £400,000 from 2019/20 
 

LCC has certain statutory responsibilities in respect of passenger transport service 
provision and meeting people’s ‘essential’ needs (undefined in the 1985 Transport 
Act). It has a current local bus policy that fulfils these responsibilities; but this policy 
has not been reviewed in a number of years and no longer provides the robust 
framework needed going forward.  

 
The draft Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy was approved by Cabinet on the 
16th October 2018 and allows the MTFS savings to be delivered, although the details 
of how specific services are impacted are currently being updated now on the basis 
of latest information. New contracts/arrangements will be in place from July 2019. 

 
ET2 (*) (Eff/SR) Implement review of social care and SEN transport (Phase 2): £420,000 

from 2019/20  
 

These savings arise from implementing a range of measures to help manage down 
spend against SEN and Social Care Transport budgets. This is a second phase that 
follows on from a previous project which implemented a number of changes. 

 
Various measures have been put in place to deliver the planned savings, although 
the actual amounts that could be saved would be dependent on future demand, and 
various factors influencing the overall costs of individuals’ transport provision. 

 
ET3 (*) (Eff) Review of staff absence: £25,000 in 2019/20 rising to £50,000 from 2020/21 
 

To reflect the support being put in place to reduce staff absence a financial target has 
been allocated to all departments. This reflects the intention to meet or exceed the 
County Council’s target of 7.5 days per FTE. The target is phased 50% in 2019/20 
and 100% in 2020/21 to allow time for improvement to take effect. This is the savings 
target for the whole Department. 

 
ET4 (*) (Eff) Implement Alternative Fleet Provision: £200,000 from 2019/20 

 This saving will arise from implementing alternative delivery models for providing 
transport for some of our high cost SEN transport clients. Specifically looking at the 
balance between what is provided through external contracts and what is provided 
with our in-house fleet. 

 
ET5 (*) (Eff) Revenue Savings from Capital Programme: £50,000 from 2019/20 rising to 

£100,000 from 2020/21 
 

The Capital Programme includes provision of £410,000 to fund improvement works 
at the workshop at Croft Depot. This will improve the logistics for managing the flow 
of vehicles through the workshop and in doing so increase the efficiency of the 
operation. This will reduce the time vehicles are off the road (reducing the need for 

17



  

temporary vehicle hire), free up parking capacity and increase the workshop’s 
capacity to secure income from external work including MOTs.  

 
ENVIRONMENT & WASTE 
 
ET6 (*)  (Eff) Revised payment mechanism for recycling credits for dry materials (net saving): 

£100,000 from 2019/20 
 

These savings arise from the removal of the recycling credits paid to the waste 
collection authorities for dry materials (approximately £3.4m) offset by the cost of the 
measures that have been put in place by the County Council to manage the 
processing of those dry recyclables and avoid recyclable materials finding their way 
back into the residual waste stream.  

 
ET7    (Eff/SR/Inc) Recycling & Household Waste Sites service approach: £140,000 from              

2020/21 rising to £260,000 from 2022/23 
 

This has previously been included as a ‘saving under development’. An Outline 
Business Case (OBC) has been developed which considers a range of options for 
the future RHWS service, to see what opportunities exist for reducing costs and/or 
increasing income. There are three distinct elements to the business case: 

 Considering the commissioning approach for the RHWS and transfer station at 

Whetstone ; 

 Look at how we may be able to increase levels of re-use across all Recycling & 

Household Waste Sites; 

 Consider what possible further service configurations might be viable across the 
sites, recognising that 13 of the 14 sites are now under the direct operation and 
management of the Council. No site closures are being considered. 

 
ET8 (**)(Inc) Trade Waste Income: £100,000 from 2019/20 rising to £200,000 from 2022/23 
 

This saving will arise from increasing turnover by optimising the rates charged for 
accepting trade waste at Whetstone Transfer Station. 

 
ET9 (**) (Eff) Future residual waste strategy: £300,000 from 2020/21 rising to £690,000 from       

2022/23 
 

The original savings related to the agreement to enable increased tonnages of waste 
to be delivered to the Energy for Waste (EfW) facility at Coventry.  However, the 
savings have now been increased to reflect the further procurement exercise 
(previously a ‘saving under development’) that will be required due to the expiry of a 
number of other contracts. 

 
ET10     (Eff) Green and Wood Waste contract reductions: £200,000 from 2019/20 
 

These are additional savings that result from additional forecast cost reductions on 
green waste and wood waste going forwards due to tonnages being below forecast 
and lower gate prices having been negotiated. 

 
 
 
 

18



  

Savings under Development 
 
18. Overall, the MTFS is balanced in 2019/20 and 2020/21 but shows a shortfall of £5.3m in 

2021/22 rising to £19.5m in 2022/23. To help bridge the gap a number of initiatives are 
under development to generate further savings.  
 

19. The Department will continue to seek ways in which service efficiency can be improved, 
and where possible costs defrayed to other bodies, especially the private sector. As part 
of a pilot for an emerging Strategic Challenge Programme being led by the 
Transformation Unit, workshops have been undertaken with staff in Highways Delivery 
to generate ideas around what options might be available. In total there are over 100 
specific ideas to be considered. Many may not be taken further than an initial 
investigation, but further business analysis and modelling will be undertaken around the 
most promising ideas to emerge. This approach will be extended to cover other areas of 
the Department and it is expected that this will deliver additional savings/efficiencies 
that may be recorded against the Department, or possibly as part of wider Corporate 
savings as the approach is rolled out across all Departments. 

 
External Influences 
 

Fuel Prices 
 

20. Fuel prices continue to be a key driver in terms of the Department’s costs and these are 
expected to rise significantly in future years. This influence is both direct in terms of 
internally delivered services and indirect through externally delivered contracts, and as 
previously reported, it is estimated that fuel costs make up about £6m of expenditure 
across the Department. Therefore excess fuel inflation could have a significant impact 
on service delivery. 
 
Waste tonnages 
 

21. The Waste Management budget is essentially demand led with the driver being the 
amount of waste being generated within the local economy. The service will manage the 
waste arising through looking for opportunities to move tonnages between different 
facilities and contracts to ensure overall costs are minimised. Nonetheless, if the 
underlying assumption of 1% waste growth per annum (from 2019/20) is insufficient, the 
service will be challenged to contain costs within the indicative future years’ budgets 
suggested by this MTFS.  

 
Market prices for recyclates 

 
22. Through the ceasing of paying recycling credits to the districts and the creation of new 

contracts for the management of the materials, £1.4m saving was able to be built into 
the MTFS.  

 
23. The actual savings that can be delivered ongoing will be highly dependent on the prices 

for the different types of recyclable materials that can be achieved when they are sold 
on (or in some cases charged for). In estimating the £1.4m saving, a significant 
contingency was built it against future price fluctuations (£10 per tonne on the co-
mingled materials collected which equated to about £0.6m). Since then there have been 
a number of factors that have caused changes to the prices, including the decision by 
the Chinese Government to restrict imports of certain materials.  

19



  

24. The most significant impact has been on the price for mixed paper which has fallen 
significantly (approximately £50 per tonne down to £12 per tonne). Given that this 
represents over 40% of our recyclates, this £38 per tonne variation has a nominal 
impact of over £0.5m, essentially wiping out the contingency. The actual impact is 
slightly more complicated than this given that we get a price for co-mingled recyclates 
rather than individual materials, but nonetheless the price for the co-mingled waste is 
impacted by the market rate for individual materials, albeit with a risk sharing element 
with the contractor. However, this does serve to indicate how volatile the costs of 
recycling are, and the difficulty of longer term projections. 
 

Other Funding Sources 
 
25. For 2019/20, a number of additional funding sources are expected and allowed for 

within the budget outlined in Appendix A. The key ones include:- 
 

 Section 38 and 278 agreements  – £2.1m income from developers relating to fees 
for staff time, mostly around design checks for these agreements; 

  

 Capital fee income - £5.1m for staff time charged in delivering the capital 
programme.  Should elements of the capital programme not be delivered as 
planned this could have an impact on the amount of staff time recovered. 
However, the use of agency and temporary staff resource does give some scope 
for varying staff levels in order to minimise the risk of this resulting in overspending 
in staffing cost centres.   Future years’ capital programme allocations from the 
Department for Transport (DfT) are also uncertain and could therefore have a 
knock on impact on the fees recovered; 

 

 External works/charges to other bodies (works for other authorities, enforcement 
of road space booking, permit scheme and network management ) - £3.6m; 

  

 Capital substitution - £3.5m of central funding is provided in exchange for a 
corresponding reduction to capital resources to enable savings in previous years 
to be made on capital expenditure rather than impacting on revenue; 

   

 Driver Education workshop - £2.3m of fee income collected for the Road Safety 
Partnership from drivers taking speed awareness and similar courses. This income 
is returned to the partnership net of the cost of operating the courses; 

 

 Joint arrangement income - £9.4m from Leicester City Council primarily to cover 
the costs and the management of the City Council’s concessionary travel provision 
plus other areas of joint transport arrangements in relation to local bus services, 
SEN and mainstream school transport; 

 

 Civil parking enforcement income - £1.5m which covers penalty charge notices 
(PCNs) for on-street parking and income from the Districts to cover the cost of 
processing off-street PCNs on their behalf; 

 

 Vehicle workshop internal recharge - £1.3m, to ensure vehicle use is recharged 
back to the capital programme where appropriate; 

 

 Trade Waste income and income from charging at RHWS - £1.4m; 
 

20



  

 Other small specific grants (such as Bus Service Operators Grant) - £0.9m;  
 

 Income from the sale of recyclable materials collected at RHWSs - £0.6m; 
 

 Leicester, Leicestershire, Rutland road safety partnership - £0.6m returns and a 
drawdown from reserve to fund safety schemes; and, 

 

 Leicester and Leicestershire integrated transport model - £0.6m funding provided 
for the modelling team. 

 
Capital Programme 
 
26. The draft capital programme is summarised in Table 3 and the detailed programme is 

set out in Appendix D. The capital programme is funded by a combination of the Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) grant, discretionary funding and other external and internal 
sources.  

 
Table 3 – Summary Draft Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2022/23 

 

 2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Highways and Transportation 45,310 51,950 39,310 22,630 159,200 

Environment and Waste 1,710 9,760 350 350 12,170 

Total 47,020 61,710 39,660 22,980 171,370 

 

21



  

 
HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORTATION 
 
27. The 2019/20-2022/23 capital programme for Highways & Transportation is funded from 

the following sources shown in  
28. Table 4.  
 
Table 4 - Transportation Capital Funding 

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Grant - Local Transport Plan (LTP)  - 
Integrated transport element 

2,728 2,728 2,728 2,728 10,912 

Grant - Local Transport Plan (LTP)  - 
Total needs/formula allocation 

11,442 11,442 11,442 11,442 45,768 

Grant - Local Transport Plan (LTP)  - 
Maintenance - Incentive element1 

2,383 2,383 2,383 2,383 9,532 

Grant – Pothole Fund 717 717 717 717 2,868 

Grants -  National Productivity 
Investment Fund (NPIF) 

2,780    2,780 

Grants – Single Local Growth Fund 
(via the LLEP) 

11,025 975   12,000 

Grants - Melton Mowbray Distributor 
Road Dft Funding 

0 25,049 24,423  49,472 

LLEP funding for Advance Design 
works 

125 0   125 

External Contributions 2,689 9,159   11,848 

MTFS 18/19 outturn – Summer 
damage 

2,000     2,000 

Revenue and Earmarked Funds – 
renewals 

75 75 35    185 

Additional funding from Corporate 
asset investment fund 

2,300    2,300 

Capital substitution -3,545 -3,100 -3,100 -3,100 -12,845 

Corporate Funding (capital receipts 
and revenue) 

12,301 12,282 1,032 8,810 34,425 

Total  Highways & Transportation 47,020 61,710 39,660 22,980 171,370 

1Assumes level 3 achieved   
 
29. The DfT has previously informed local authorities of the indicative amounts they will 

receive for the LTP in 2019/20 to 2020/21. At the time of writing the Government has yet 
to confirm the allocation for 2020/21 and the pothole funding for any future years so the 
figures above are still provisional. The LTP comprises two elements:- 

 
a) Integrated Transport Schemes - funding of £2.7m has been assumed each year 

from 2019/20 to 2022/23.  This funding will be used as match funding for grant 
bids into the Single Local Growth Fund via the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) and the National Productivity Investment Fund 
(NPIF) as well as other future potential funding opportunities. This resource will 

22



  

also be used to fund advanced design and feasibility studies to ensure outline 
business cases are available to support any such bids; 
 

b) Maintenance – LTP Maintenance funding  now comes in 3 elements:- 

 £11.4m is assumed each year for the basic needs based allocation; 

 £0.7m is assumed for the pothole fund allocation; and, 

 £2.4m is assumed each year as the Incentive Fund allocation.  
Table 5 – Difference between Level 2 and Level 3 for the Incentive Fund  

Year Incentive Fund  
if at Level 3  

£000 

Incentive Fund 
if at Level 2  

£000 

Difference  
£000 

2019/20 2,383 1,668 715 

2020/21 2,383 1,192 1,191 

2021/22 2,383 715 1,668 

2022/23 2,383 715 1,668 

 

30. Levels of funding for capital maintenance activity on highways assets are dependent on 
the County Council being able to continue to demonstrate Level 3 in our Asset 
Management assessment. The full amount available each year is expected to be 
£13.8m if Level 3 is achieved, but only achieving Level 2 would see an increasing 
proportion of this funding lost (up to £1.7m by 2021/22). Table 5 shows the difference 
each year. Our most recent self-assessment has seen us declare at Level 3. 

31. However, even if Level 3 is maintained, future indicative funding levels will only be at 
current cash levels, a cut in real terms. Furthermore, maintenance levels in recent years 
have been boosted by various one-off monies made available from Corporate 
underspends/asset investment fund but also from the Government through the Pothole 
Fund. It is uncertain as to what extent such additional funding will be available in the 
future. Decisions on how to prioritise the funding available going forwards need to be 
taken in line with the recently approved Highways Infrastructure Asset Management 
Plan (HIAMP), focussing on preventative rather than reactive maintenance. This is one 
of the requirements of a Level 3 assessment.  

32. Funding for improvement schemes, including those within the Prospectus for Growth, is 
limited to funding that can be secured from the various Government funding streams for 
infrastructure mentioned in the previous section. Some provision (around £6m over the 
MTFS) exists for advance design/match funding. However, increased levels of capital 
funding are being channelled through bidding processes. This has an impact in two 
ways. Significant amounts of staff time are required in submitting bids (including options 
modelling, developing business cases, liaising with Central Government, Midlands 
Connect and/or LLEP) which may be wasted if bids are unsuccessful. For example the 
Council’s unsuccessful Challenge Fund bid cost an estimated £250,000. And more 
recently Highways England’s Growth and Housing funding pot was closed with no 
funding to be awarded only a matter of weeks before LCC were due to submit a £4.5 
million bid. The cost to LCC in developing this abortive bid are in the region of 
£100,000. Also, in order to make the bids look attractive, and maximise the benefits the 
Government see from investing in our schemes, it is necessary to identify an element of 
match funding out of already scarce resources or for LCC to cash flow future developer 
money.  

33. Schemes for which external funding has already been secured include:- 

 Leicester North West (Single Local Growth Fund (SLGF) 2); 

23



  

 Hinckley Phase 3 wrap up (SLGF2); 

 M1 J23 (SLGF3 &Growth and Housing Fund (GHF)); 

 Anstey Lane (GHF); 

 Hinckley Junctions (NPIF); and, 

 Melton Mowbray Eastern Distributor Road (LMF). 

 

34. Bids for which decisions are outstanding are:- 

 South West Leicestershire Strategic Growth Area (HIF); 

 Melton Mowbray Southern Distributor Road (HIF); and, 

 
35. In October 2018, the government announced there would be further bidding pots with 

details to be announced within the next few months. 

 
36. The key elements of the discretionary capital programme are:- 
 

 Match funding/ Advanced Design for major schemes (£6.6m) - has been allocated 
over the four years of the Capital Programme to undertake further feasibility and 
advanced design work to ensure the Council is in a good position to bid for funding 
for other potential future schemes such as through the SLGF, NPIF, GHF, the 
Local Authorities Major Fund etc. However, such bids require match funding to be 
identified for which some of this funding will be utilised; 

 Zouch Bridge replacement (£0.6m) – the bridge over the River Soar at Zouch, 
which carries the A6006, is beyond economic repair due to its age, condition, 
complexity of the structure and materials used at the time of construction. 
Preliminary work on this started in 2015/16. However, the project continues to 
suffer slippage due to delays in securing land required for the scheme. This 
slippage has mean the allocated budgets from previous years will now be used in 
2019/20 as it is expected that the majority of the work will be completed within the 
year; 

 County Council Vehicle Programme (£8.0m) – this is the funding required to 
support the County Council’s vehicle replacement programme. Through the Driver 
and Vehicle Management team, a more coordinated approach to managing and 
maintaining the County County’s vehicle fleet has been put in place. This includes 
mapping out a planned replacement programme taking into account the expected 
future vehicle requirements (based on future workloads, the current age of the 
fleet, the expected usable life for each class of vehicle and the cost of 
replacement); and, 

 Melton Depot replacement (£3.7m) – the depot currently used in Melton is leased 
from Melton Town Estates. This arrangement could be terminated with relatively 
short notice and indications have already been given that it will certainly not be 
renewed beyond October 2020. This is a crucial location for Highways services, 
especially for Winter Maintenance, and work is currently ongoing to identify a new 
site in the area. 

37. The main risk to delivery of the capital programme, other than securing appropriate 
levels of funding, is in terms of delivery timescales. Government funding streams can 
often mean delivering to a time frame that is difficult to achieve. This can then lead to 
knock on pressures for the Department delivering its own programme as resources for 

24



  

scheme design, programme planning and to an extent delivery on the ground need to 
be diverted, and resources cannot always be secured externally.  

38. Often this can be compounded by other pressures. Adverse weather conditions can 
play a part, especially for certain maintenance activities (such as surface dressing and 
flood alleviation works). Also, for some of the larger schemes, legal issues may need 
resolving around for example, compulsory purchase orders (the Zouch Bridge 
replacement scheme has been delayed a number of years for this reason). 

39. Grant funding opportunities will continue to be pursued where appropriate, including 
further bids into the pots where we have already been successful. Potential funding 
sources include:- 

 Local Authority Challenge Fund; 

 Housing Infrastructure Fund; 

 National Productivity Investment Fund; 

 Growth and Housing Fund; 

 Single Local Growth Fund; 

 Local Majors Fund; and, 

 Future Major Road Network Funding available from 2020/21. 
 

ENVIRONMENT & WASTE 
 
40. The 2019/20–2022/23 capital programme for Environment & Waste is shown in Table 6 

below.  
 

Table 6 – Environment & Waste Capital Programme 

 2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

Total 
£000 

RHWS – drainage  120    120 

RHWS – general improvements   500 850 350 350 2,050 

Kibworth Site Redevelopment 490 2,010   2,500 

Waste Transfer Station 
Development 

600 6,900   7,500 

Total  Environment 1,710 9,760  350  350 12,170 

 
41. Ongoing service delivery is likely to require investment in new infrastructure to avoid 

significant increases in revenue costs. The difficulty is knowing what potential external 

market capacity will be available to us to manage waste streams in the medium term. 

However, it is now highly likely that a transfer station will need to be constructed to 

ensure waste can be managed locally and haulage and other processing costs reduced. 

The need for such a facility is further reinforced by the increasing risks around resilience 

as disposal capacity in the County is reducing (through permanent landfill site closures), 

which is exacerbated further in periods of bad weather when other sites may need to 

close temporarily requiring us to bulk waste for onward haulage. A waste transfer site is 

being sought by with the total cost (construction and fees) likely to be up to £7.5m.  

 

42. Improvements and major maintenance will continue to be needed at RHWS facilities. 

The most pressing of these is Kibworth where significant work is needed to modernise 

the functionality of the site. 

25



  

 
Capital Programme – Future Developments 
 
43. Where capital projects are not yet fully developed or plans agreed these have been 

included under the heading of ‘Future Developments’ under the Department’s 
programme in Appendix D, £39m is being held corporately to fund future capital 
schemes. It is intended that as these schemes are developed, and where there is a 
financial justification, or an investment required to maintain delivery of the service, they 
are added into the capital programme. These include:- 

 Speed Cameras – for a potential roll out across the County depending on the 
outcome of the trial at seven specific locations in the County; 

 S106 developer schemes – these will be schemes brought forward as S106 
contributions are agreed to fund future infrastructure to support housing 
developments (will be funded directly by developer contributions); 

 Windrow composting facility – the County Council’s current disposal options for 
green waste may not be available beyond the medium term. Depending on the 
outcome of soft market testing, it may be necessary for the Council to construct its 
own facility; 

 

 New Melton RHWS - The existing Melton RHWS struggles in terms of capacity. 
With the expected housing growth in the area, these pressures are likely to 
increase over; time.  

 

 Compaction equipment at RHWS - this relates to future compaction equipment at 
the RHWS which could include like for like replacement of static compactors or 
other equipment, as well as greater use of rollerpackers combined with specialist 
waste loading plant on site. 

 

 Whetstone mobile plant future purchase of a mechanical plant at the Whetstone 
RHWS & Waste Transfer Station such as loading shovel / telehandler.  

 
Background Papers 
 
18 December 2018 – Cabinet – ‘Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2022/23’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=53670#mgDocuments 
 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers, Director of Environment & Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000 
E-mail: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Finance, Corporate Resources Department 
Tel:    (0116) 305 6199 
E-mail: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 

26

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=53670#mgDocuments
mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk


  

Nick Wash, Head of Finance, Corporate Resources Department 
Tel:    (0116) 305 7146 
E-mail: Nick.Wash@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A– Revenue Budget 2019/20 
Appendix B – Growth 2019/20 – 2022/23 
Appendix C – Savings 2019/20 – 2022/23 
Appendix D – Capital Programme 2019/20 – 2022/23 
 
Equality and Human Rights implications  
 
44. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to:- 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected characteristics 
and those who do not; and, 

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and those 
who do not.   
 

45. Many aspects of the County Council’s MTFS may affect service users who have a 
protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the impact of the 
proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a formative stage prior to any 
final decisions being made. Such assessments will be undertaken in light of the 
potential impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed changes. Those 
assessments will be revised as the proposals are developed to ensure decision makers 
have information to understand the effect of any service change, policy or practice on 
people who have a protected characteristic. 

 
46. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject to the 

County Council Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality Impact 
Assessment to be undertaken as part of the action plan.  

27

mailto:Nick.Wash@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET 2019/20

Budget

2018/19 Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income

Gross 

Budget

External 

Income Net Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORTATION

780,900 H & T branch management and training 945,800 312,000 0 1,257,800 -476,900 780,900

Highways commissioning

1,332,100   Staffing & Admin Commissioning 6,720,100 899,900 -2,449,000 5,171,000 -3,438,900 1,732,100

1,248,200   Traffic Controls 0 1,348,200 0 1,348,200 -100,000 1,248,200

127,300   Road Safety 375,400 501,400 -627,400 249,400 -122,100 127,300

0   Speed Awareness 170,500 1,494,300 596,000 2,260,800 -2,260,800 0

284,000   Sustainable Travel 0 285,000 0 285,000 -1,000 284,000

Highways delivery

1,459,200   Staffing, Admin. & Depot Overhead Costs 7,979,500 1,059,500 -5,375,700 3,663,300 -2,231,100 1,432,200

3,817,000   Environmental Maintenance 1,336,800 2,952,200 0 4,289,000 -72,000 4,217,000

2,589,400   Street Lighting Maintenance 0 2,645,700 0 2,645,700 -56,300 2,589,400

1,800,000   Reactive Maintenance (Structural & Safety) 439,600 1,360,400 0 1,800,000 0 1,800,000

1,628,800   Winter Maintenance 0 1,628,800 0 1,628,800 0 1,628,800

-3,416,000   Capital revenue Switch -3,416,000 -3,416,000 -3,416,000 

Transport Operations

1,290,000   Staffing & Admin Transport 2,853,300 975,700 -2,289,600 1,539,400 -272,400 1,267,000

9,645,600   Special Education Needs 0 10,574,600 0 10,574,600 -109,000 10,465,600

3,988,100   Mainstream School Transport 0 4,038,100 0 4,038,100 -50,000 3,988,100

3,647,600   Social Care Transport 0 3,747,600 0 3,747,600 -100,000 3,647,600

190,100   Fleet Transport 3,692,500 1,672,300 -4,865,300 499,500 -309,400 190,100

4,929,900   Concessionary Travel & Joint Arrangements 0 13,868,600 0 13,868,600 -8,938,700 4,929,900

2,389,300   Public Bus Services 0 3,509,700 -135,000 3,374,700 -1,385,400 1,989,300

48,900   Blue Badge 0 230,900 0 230,900 -182,000 48,900

0   Civil Parking Enforcement 0 1,492,200 0 1,492,200 -1,492,200 0

37,780,400 TOTAL 24,513,500 54,597,100 -18,562,000 60,548,600 -21,598,200 38,950,400

ENVIRONMENT & WASTE MANAGEMENT

361,200 E & W management branch management 358,400 2,800 0 361,200 0 361,200

Environment and Waste commissioning

1,367,500   Staffing & Admin Policy & Strategy E&W 974,800 449,100 -40,400 1,383,500 -16,000 1,367,500

309,800   Initiatives 0 707,100 -258,800 448,300 -138,500 309,800

1,988,000   Recycling & Reuse Credits 0 60,000 0 60,000 0 60,000

Waste management delivery

230,000   Staffing & Admin Design & Delivery E&WM 259,000 1,000 -10,000 250,000 -20,000 230,000

6,295,000   Landfill 0 6,295,000 0 6,295,000 0 6,295,000

10,917,000   Treatment Contracts 0 10,917,000 0 10,917,000 0 10,917,000

0   Dry Recycling 0 1,828,000 0 1,828,000 0 1,828,000

1,660,000   Composting Contracts 0 1,610,000 0 1,610,000 0 1,610,000

2,786,400   Recycling & Household Waste Sites 2,289,400 1,401,500 -142,500 3,548,400 -762,000 2,786,400

1,764,100   Haulage & Waste Transfer 112,900 1,651,200 0 1,764,100 0 1,764,100

-1,278,000   Income 0 32,000 0 32,000 -1,410,000 -1,378,000 

26,401,000 TOTAL 3,994,500 24,954,700 -451,700 28,497,500 -2,346,500 26,151,000

DEPARTMENTAL AND BUSINESS MANAGEMENT

1,472,300   Management & Admin 1,393,300 103,100 -18,100 1,478,300 -6,000 1,472,300

437,300   Departmental Costs 0 419,800 -7,500 412,300 0 412,300

1,909,600 TOTAL 1,393,300 522,900 -25,600 1,890,600 -6,000 1,884,600

66,091,000 TOTAL ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT 29,901,300 80,074,700 -19,039,300 90,936,700 -23,950,700 66,986,000

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT DEPARTMENT

29



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

References GROWTH 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT

Highways & Transport

Demand & cost increases

** G15 Special Educational Needs transport - increased client numbers/costs 1,440 2,110 2,840 3,450

G16 E & T Projects (HS2 & Ash dieback/highways forestry) 800 800 800 800

Total 2,240 2,910 3,640 4,250

Environment & Waste

Demand & cost increases

** G17 Waste tonnage increases 150 400 650 900

Total 150 400 650 900

Total 2,390 3,310 4,290 5,150

31



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

References SAVINGS 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000

References used in the following tables

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

Eff - Efficiency saving

SR - Service reduction

Inc - Income

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT

Highways & Transport

* ET1 SR Revise Passenger Transport Policy -400 -400 -400 -400

* ET2 Eff/SR Implement Review of Social Care and SEN Transport (Phase 2) -420 -420 -420 -420

* ET3 Eff Review of staff absence -25 -50 -50 -50

* ET4 Eff Implement Alternative Fleet Provision -200 -200 -200 -200

** ET5 Eff Revenue savings from capital programme -50 -100 -100 -100

Total Highways & Transport -1,095 -1,170 -1,170 -1,170

Environment & Waste

* ET6 Eff Revised payment mechanism for recycling credits for dry materials -100 -100 -100 -100

ET7 Eff/SR/

Inc

Recycling & Household Waste Sites service approach 0 -140 -230 -260

** ET8 Inc Trade Waste income -100 -130 -160 -200

** ET9 Eff Future residual waste strategy 0 -300 -390 -690

ET10 Eff Green and Wood Waste contract reductions -200 -200 -200 -200

Total Environment & Waste -400 -870 -1,080 -1,450

TOTAL ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT -1,495 -2,040 -2,250 -2,620

33



This page is intentionally left blank



ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2022/23 - Draft APPENDIX D

2019/20       

£000

2020/21       

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

Total

£000

Commitments b/f

Zouch Bridge Replacement 0 600 600

Advance Design / Match funding 2,680 1,570 1,270 1,120 6,640

Melton Mowbray Distributor Road 2,410 25,140 25,000 9,420 61,970

County Council Vehicle Programme 3,040 2,890 1,500 650 8,080

Melton Depot - Replacement 3,610 50 3,660

11,740 30,250 27,770 11,190 80,950

Major Schemes
Anstey Lane A46 (subject to £4.1m Leicester City contribution) 2,690 1,400 4,090

M1 Junction 23 (subject to £7.8m developer contribution) 11,030 8,730 19,760

13,720 10,130 0 0 23,850

Transport Asset Management* 9,820 9,840 9,770 29,430

Capital Schemes and Design 4,330 4,330

Bridges 740 740

Flood Alleviation- Environmental works 240 240

Street Lighting 250 250

Traffic Signal Renewal 140 140

Preventative Maintenance - (Surface Dressing) 4,130 4,130

Restorative (Patching) 6,410 6,410

Additional Highway incentive fund subject to meeting level 3 criteria 0 1,670 1,670 1,670 5,010

Hinckley Hub (Hawley Road) 3,530 3,530

Highways Maintenance - IT renewals 80 80 30 190

19,850 11,570 11,540 11,440 54,400

Environment & Waste
Recycling Household Waste Sites Improvements - Drainage 120 120

Recycling Household Waste Sites Improvements and works 500 850 350 350 2,050

Kibworth Site Redevelopment 490 2,010 2,500

Waste Transfer Station Development 600 6,900 7,500

1,710 9,760 350 350 12,170

Total E&T 47,020 61,710 39,660 22,980 171,370

* Government Grant allocations, indicative 2020/21 onwards. 

* programme amended by -£3.5m (2019/20), -£3.1m (2020/21) -£3.1m (2021/22) and -£3.1m (2022/23) for substitution to E&T revenue budget

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

Waste Transfer Station - potential new site

S106 Schemes - externally funded tbc

Speed Cameras - Roll out

Windrow Composting Facility

New Melton RHWS

Compaction equipment

Whetstone mobile plant

35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE - 17 JANUARY 2019 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2017-18 AND 

GREENHOUSE GAS REPORT 2017-18 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. This report provides details of the Council’s environmental performance and 

greenhouse gas emissions for 2017-18.  The report consists of:- 
 
i) Part 1 which provides an update on progress in delivering the targets in the 

Council’s Environment Strategy 2011–2021 and the corresponding 
elements of the Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire 2014 – 2020; 
and, 

 
ii) Part 2 which provides an update on progress against the Greenhouse Gas 

(GHG) emission targets for Leicestershire County Council (LCC) in 2017-18 
and a summary of project delivery through the year.  In addition, this report 
details the costs incurred by the Council in relation to the Carbon Reduction 
Commitment (CRC).  

 
2. The Committee is asked to note the contents of the report. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
3. The Environment Strategy 2011–2021 includes a vision that “Leicestershire 

County Council will continue to be one of the best performing County Councils 
in England on environmental issues”.  The Strategy, which was initially adopted 
in 2008 and subsequently reviewed and refreshed in 2011, includes a number 
of objectives, targets and work programmes.  Some of the targets were re-
profiled at the end of 2013-2014 as a result of changing delivery plans but the 
targets for the end of the strategy period remain the same.  The Carbon 
Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire was adopted in July 2014. 
 

4. LCC joined the Carbon Trust’s Carbon Management Programme in 2008 and a 
revised Carbon Management Plan (CMP) was adopted by the Council in 
November 2011.  The CMP has now been superseded by the Environment and 
Climate Change Risk Registers which identify actions to reduce GHG emissions 
from service activities, especially high risk areas.  

 
5. The new Environment Strategy 2018-2030 approved in July 2018 did not apply 

during 2017-18, the period covered by this report, hence all references are to 
the Environment Strategy 2011-2021. 

 
 
 

37 Agenda Item 9



 

Background 
 
6. Environment and Climate Change Risk Registers identify actions to reduce 

GHG emissions from service activities, especially high risk areas.  LCC’s target 
is to reduce the Council’s carbon emissions by 34% from the 2008-09 baseline 
by the end of March 2021 and the same target has been applied to GHG 
emissions also.  The Council is required to publish an annual report on its GHG 
emissions.  A copy of this report is included in Appendix A. 

 
7. The CRC is a mandatory carbon emissions reporting and pricing scheme that 

covers large public and private sector organisations in the UK.  Organisations 
must report their electricity and gas usage on an annual basis, against which 
their carbon emissions are calculated.  Organisations are required to buy 
allowances from the Government or, if available, from the secondary market 
each year to cover these reported emissions.  The CRC Scheme will come to 
an end on 31 March 2019 and will be replaced by a streamlined Energy and 
Carbon Reporting Framework as well as an increase in the Climate Change 
Levy which is applied to energy bills. 

 
8. On 6 July 2018, Cabinet approved a new Environment Strategy 2018-2030.  

This new Strategy supersedes the 2011-2021 Environment Strategy and the 
Carbon Reduction Strategy 2014-2020.  This report will refer to the 2011 
Environment Strategy as it applied for the period covered by this report. 

 
9. Where circumstances have changed since the end of 2017-18, the current 

position is provided where appropriate. 
 

10. An external ISO14001 Environmental Management System (EMS) re-
certification audit was carried out in October 2018.  No non-compliances were 
found and a new certificate valid for the next three years has been issued for 
Strategic and Operational Property Services and the Environment Policy and 
Strategy Team.  Only those services externally certified to ISO14001 are 
subject to internal and external audits. 

 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
11. None.  
 
Equal Opportunities and Human Rights Implications  
 
12. This paper provides a report on the County Council’s environmental 

performance and greenhouse gas emissions and therefore in itself has no equal 
opportunities or human rights implications. 

 
Recommendations 
 
13. Scrutiny is asked to note the contents of the report. 
 
 
 
 

38



 

Officers to Contact 
 
Joanna Guyll Tel:     (0116) 305 8101 
Assistant Director, Environment and 
Waste 

Email: Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk 

 
James O’Brien  Tel:     (0116) 305 7319 
Team Manager, Strategic Development Email: James.OBrien@leics.gov.uk 

 
  

39

mailto:Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk
mailto:James.OBrien@leics.gov.uk


 

PART 1:  

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2017-18 
 
 
Introduction 
 
14. This section provides an update on progress in delivering the targets in the 

Council’s Environment Strategy 2011–2021 and the corresponding elements of 
the Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire 2014 – 2020.  The 
environmental performance summary dashboard for 2017-18 is available at 
Appendix B.  

Measures currently behind target 

C15 - Total CO2 emissions from Leicestershire road transport 
 

15. Data is provided by the Department of Business Energy and Industrial Strategy 
for all UK regions and is two years in arrears. 
 

16. There has been a 3.2% rise in the CO2 emissions in the Leicestershire local 
authority area originating from road transport during 2016.  This has meant the 
KPI has remained above the 2010 baseline target (Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
target requires no increase) and reflects higher traffic volumes on the 
Leicestershire road network.  The Council’s influence in this area is through LTP 
Sustainable Travel initiatives. 

R1 - Outstanding actions on climate change risk register 
 

17. Subsequent to the review of Climate Change Risks conducted in 2015-16, there 
is still one risk scoring 15 or more. 

 
18. This high level risk relates to flood risk caused by highways infrastructure not 

being able to cope with heavy rainfall.  The council is moving towards 
implementing a risk-based approach to gulley maintenance as a means of 
minimising this risk.  

M3 - Environmental risks scoring >15  
 

19. At the end of 2017-18, there were a total of 17 environmental risks scoring 15 or 
more (this number is now at 12 as of December 2018).  These environmental 
risks relate to areas where the council is not meeting legal requirements, 
council policy or significantly failing to address Environment Strategy objectives.  

 
20. The number of risks scoring 15 or more increased during 2017-18 due to a 

review of the Environmental Risk Register (ERR) for Waste Operations in 
quarter 3 and following the insourcing of the 13 Recycling Household Waste 
Sites (RHWS).  Three RHWS sites were visited as sample sites to refresh the 
ERR. 

 
  

40



 

Departmental risks are summarised as follows:- 
 

 Environment and Transport Department – 15 risks (now ten): 
 

 Waste water discharges from Passenger Transport depots (three risks, 
now two due to closure of a depot). Drain surveys have been carried 
out at the other two sites. These confirm that the discharges are not 
compliant with regulations and discharge consents are required. 
Engineering solutions have been developed and planning has 
commenced on completing the required works; 

 
 Ensure Cleaner Road Vehicle Regulations 2011 are being taken into 

account of in the procurement of vehicles. Will be included as part of 
refresh of 10 Year Vehicle Replacement Plan (one risk); 

 
 Biodiversity considerations not sufficiently taken into account in  

Highways mowing regimes (one risk); 
 
 Various operational risks from RHWS sites (ten risks now six) (including 

drainage infrastructure, provision of disposal facilities for household 
waste and oil interceptor procedures). Engineering solutions are being 
considered and funding has been allocated in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy for the three drainage risks. The risk status remains 
high until the solutions are put in place; 

 
 A risk that the Landfill Directive was not being complied with due to the 

current amounts of biodegradable waste being sent to landfill was 
identified. Subsequent information provided has shown that this is no 
longer a high risk. (one risk, now none); 

 

 Corporate Resources Department –two risks (same as last year): 
 

 These relate to School Food Support Services kitchens' lack of grease 
traps and food waste recycling. A pilot food waste recycling project was 
in development but further progress is awaiting the roll out of lockable 
waste bins which is a new requirement in the Waste Contract let in April 
2017. Discussions continue with the service area regarding these risks. 

LW2 - % Recycled from LCC sites 
 

21. There had been a steady decline in the rolling annual recycling percentage 
since quarter 3 2016-17.  However, the last quarter of 2017-18 showed a small 
increase, with the 12 month figure at 56%.  This is still below the target of 70%.  
Actions are being taken to target those LCC buildings that have the lowest 
recycling rates, in conjunction with the departments using these buildings. 

 
22. This target has been reset as part of the review of the Environment Strategy, 

with a target of achieving 70% recycling by 2030.  Separate targets have also 
been set for County Hall (80%) and non-County Hall sites (60%).  
 

41



 

HW2 - % Household waste reused, recycled and composted 
 

23. The household waste recycling figure has continued to decline and is at 45.8% 
which is under the target of 50%. 
 

24. There are several reasons for the decline including the closure of the 
mechanical biological treatment (MBT) facility under which some recyclates 
were recovered from the residual waste.  This residual waste currently goes to 
landfill.  

 
B1 - % LCC's Sites of Special Scientific Interest in favourable/recovering condition 
 
25. Natural England has not re-assessed the Sites of Significant Scientific Interest 

(SSSI) on Council land since 2014 so the sites’ status has not changed.  
However, action is being taken to improve the condition of the SSSI’s in County 
Council ownership following the last assessment. 

 
26. This situation will not change until the next Natural England assessment which 

was due to take place during 2017-18.  This did not happen and no date has 
been provided. 

B2 - % of LCC Local Wildlife Sites in good or reasonable condition 
 

27. Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) are identified and selected locally by partnerships of 
local authorities, nature conservation charities, statutory agencies, ecologists 
and local nature experts, using robust, scientifically-determined criteria and 
detailed ecological surveys.  The designation is non-statutory but is recognition 
of a site’s significance with many sites being of county and often regional 
importance for wildlife.  In Leicestershire and Rutland, there are 1,000 LWS 
covering well over 3,000 hectares.  
 

28. Of the 143 LWS on land owned or managed by the County Council, 81 of these 
are highway verges with the remainder managed by Operational Property.  

 
29. In 2014, 71 sites were revisited to carry out condition surveys and a further 5 

sites in 2015 but none since.  At that time, 26 sites were identified as being in 
either poor or declining condition.  Note that the indicator only includes sites 
surveyed within the last five years so there is a declining percentage of sites 
known to be in good or reasonable condition. 

 
30. There is a need to improve the condition of at least 26 sites and to revisit the 

sites whose condition is unknown because they have not been surveyed in the 
last five years. Work is currently taking place to better understand the situation 
and to put in place a practical solution to both surveying the sites and improving 
their condition. Given the limited resources available however, this is likely to be 
challenging. 

 
31. A working group has been formed to consider how the Council can improve 

performance on this issue and work has been undertaken to assess and 
prioritise all LWS on roadside verges.  Discussions with Highways colleagues 

42



 

on how to pilot verge management solutions for the 2019 mowing season are 
currently taking place. 

 
WA1 - Water consumption per full time equivalent member of staff 
 
32. After a significant increase in water consumption in 2016-17, which turned the 

indicator from green to red there was a reduction in consumption in 2017-18, 
bringing the indicator back closer to target but still red. 

 
33. At County Hall there was a doubling of normal use in July, August, November 

and December without any clear cause.  Initial investigations have not been 
able to identify the cause of this increase. 

 
34. Property Services have approved a Water Strategy 2017-21 with planned 

measures and investments.  

Measures which are ahead of target 

C14 - Total CO2 emissions from Leicestershire (under local authority influence) 
 

35. Data is provided by the Department of Business Energy and Industrial Strategy 
for all UK regions and is two years in arrears. 

 
36. Emissions fell by 2.5% in 2016 compared with 2015 and there has been a 29% 

reduction against the 2005 baseline, the Council is ahead of target, continuing 
the downward trend. 

C1 - Total CO2 emissions from LCC operations 
 
37. Carbon emissions from LCC operations continue to fall and are now well ahead 

of target.  There was a 25% reduction in CO2 emissions between 2016-17 and 
2017-18.  Overall, there has been a 61% reduction in emissions against the 
2008-09 baseline compared to the target of a 34% reduction by 2021.  

 
38. The reasons for this include the installation of the biomass boiler and photo-

voltaic solar panels (PVs), the LED streetlighting scheme, building closures and 
energy efficiency improvements. 

 
39. Fleet fuel carbon emissions, which equate to around half of those from Council 

buildings but cost more, are not reducing as fast.  A more strategic approach to 
reducing fleet fuel use (and business mileage) could potentially deliver 
significant carbon and cash savings.  Improved monitoring of individual vehicle 
and driver performance, planning of highways maintenance schemes and the 
use of pool cars (particularly electric vehicles) are examples of opportunities. 

  
40. The opportunity to applying for funding from the Government to carry out an 

assessment of LCC fleet to identify opportunities to reduce emissions will be 
included as part of the development of the 10 Year Vehicle Replacement Plan. 
 
 

43



 

C17 - Renewable energy generated on County Council land and properties 
 

41. The amount of renewable energy generated as a percentage of total energy 
consumed increased to 12.7% at the end of 2017-18, significantly above the 4% 
target. 
 

42. Figures have recovered since the biomass boiler was out of operation for most 
of quarter 3 2016-17 due to a mechanical fault.  Also, new PV and biomass 
systems have been installed at various Council buildings to add to the overall 
generating capacity.   

C18 - Total business mileage 
 

43. Business mileage claims have continued to fall and are comfortably within 
target.  However, there were still almost 6 million business miles claimed during 
2017-18, costing the Council over £2.5 million, presenting an opportunity for 
further improvement. 

LW1 - Total waste for LCC sites 
 

44. The rolling annual waste figures remained fairly level during 2017-18.  The 
lowest figure recorded since 2012-13 was taken in quarter 1 of 2017-18 at 454 
tonnes.  The overall total waste figures for 2017-18 was 466 tonnes; well below 
the target of 790 tonnes. 

 
45. The general waste audit conducted in 2017 showed that 30% of items put into 

the non-recyclable bin could have been recycled or composted.  However, a 
recent 2018 audit showed a significant drop with only 16% of items being 
recyclable or compostable.   

  
P2 - Commissioned print 

 
46. The amount of commissioned printing has gradually reduced over the last few 

years. However, there was a slight rise during 2017-18, but performance is still 
well ahead of target.  

 
M5 - Environmental enforcements/prosecutions 
 
47. There were no enforcement notices or prosecutions logged in 2017-18. 

Measures which are not performance rated 

HW 1 - Total household waste per household 
 

48. There has been a 3.9% reduction in the quantity of household waste per 
household in 2017-18 compared to the previous year. The current figure of 
1,051kg is an improvement on the 2016-17 figure of 1,094kg.  

M1 - Environmental complaints 
 

49. Overall, there were five environmental complaints in 2017-18, up from three in 
2016-17.  

 

44



 

50. Whilst there is no static target for this KPI, continuous improvement is expected. 
Levels of environmental complaints remain satisfactorily low.  

 
M2 - Environmental incidents  
 
51. There were no environmental incidents reported in 2017-18. 

LW10 - % of recycled aggregates used in highways 
 

52. The proportion of recycled aggregates used during 2017-18 declined to 6.1% 
compared to 44.4% in 2016-17. 

 
53. Highways colleagues have confirmed that recycled aggregate is currently 

unavailable and at present they have to purchase 100% virgin aggregate.  A 
solution is being sought.  

 
54. The use of recycled aggregates may not always be the best environmental 

option when processing, logistics and energy use is factored in.  However, use 
of recycled aggregates in certain schemes could significantly reduce 
transportation and waste costs. 

 
Measures for which complete data is not available 

E1/E2 - Staff engagement 
 
55. As part of a refresh of the mandatory Environmental Awareness E-Learning 

training, a survey has been included to gather fresh data for this KPI.  The new 
module was introduced at the end of Q4 2017-18.  

 
56. Of the 43 staff that completed the survey during Q4, 95% agreed that the 

council was doing enough to reduce its impact on the environment.  
 
57. Of the 43 staff that completed the survey, 100% felt they understood how they 

can contribute to green issues at work. 
 
58. The first full year’s data will be available at the end of 2018-19 and should be 

more representative as more staff complete the module. 
 

P1a - Total office paper purchased 
 
59. The overall reduction trend has continued and the target is comfortably being 

met.  However, no data has been provided for the last two quarters of 2017-18 
due to issues with producing the required report from Oracle.  A solution is 
currently being sought.  

Conclusions 
 
60. The following conclusions can be drawn from the environmental performance 

for 2017-18:- 

 
i) The number of comparable indicators rated green has increased from 

seven to nine compared to 2016-17; 

45



 

ii) The number of comparable indicators rated red has increased from five to 
seven compared to 2016-17; 

 
iii) One indicator previously rated as green could not be rated due to 

incomplete data; 
 
iv) There is only one climate change risk remaining and environmental risks 

exceeding a score of 15 have increased from eight to 17 (now 12); 
 
v) Most amber and red indicators relate to areas where there is limited 

control or resources to address.  While action on reducing climate change 
and environmental high risks has taken place, progress has been slow in 
some areas due to other priorities and resourcing issues.  The increase in 
environmental high risks has largely been due to a mini internal audit 
being conducted during the year; 

 
vi) LCC fleet fuel carbon emissions, which equate to around half of those 

from LCC buildings but cost more, are not reducing as fast.  A more 
strategic approach to reducing fleet fuel use (and business mileage) will 
be considered as part of the development of the 10 Year Vehicle 
Replacement Plan; and, 

 
vii) Monitoring of the status of Local Wildlife Sites on Council land is not 

currently resourced.  The Council has a duty to give ‘due regard’ to 
biodiversity under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act.  A 
working group is currently considering how the council ensures it is 
meeting this duty.   
 
Further research and options will be explored over the coming months as 
will work on developing a more strategic approach to how the Council 
protects and enhances biodiversity in the county. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



 

Part 2: 
 

LCC GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REPORT 2017-2018 
 
 
Introduction 
 
61. This section provides an update on progress against the GHG emission targets 

for LCC in 2017-18 and a summary of project delivery through the year.  In 
addition, this report also provides details of the costs incurred by the Council in 
relation to the Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC). 
 

Progress against the County Council GHG reduction targets in 17-18 

 
62. A copy of the full public GHG Director’s Report is provided in Appendix A.  

Table 1 outlines the Council’s GHG emissions in the baseline year (2008-09) 
and changes between 2017-18 and the previous year. 
 

63. Table 1 shows that the Council’s total carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) 
emissions in 2017-18 were 55.4% below the baseline year and 29% below 
2016-17.  The 2017-18 emissions total has fallen below the target projection 
again and continues to surpass the 34% reduction target set for 2020-21.  
Despite the significant reduction LCC was still responsible for nearly 16,000 
tonnes of CO2e emissions during 2017-18. 
 

64. Good annual reductions have been made from most contributory sources.  The 
most significant decrease at 46.7% has been from street-lighting.  This has 
been as a result of the project to replace sodium lights with LEDs which was 
fully completed during the year and a lower carbon conversion factor reflecting 
decarbonisation of the national electricity supply. 
 

65. A fall in electricity consumption and related emissions has been achieved as the 
Council reduces the number of buildings it uses to provide services and 
continues with a programme of energy efficiency and renewable energy 
investments in the remaining property estate.  Some of the reduction can also 
be attributed to a change in the carbon conversion factor.  
 

66. The further reduction in emissions from Council fleet vehicles (23.3%) reflects 
further modernisation of part of the fleet and improved monitoring of both 
vehicles movements and driver behaviour through a tracking system. 
 

67. Emissions from business travel have also reduced by 8.2% as a result of a 
number of projects aimed at reducing the need to travel and managing staff 
journeys such as Skype for Business and the flexible working policy. 

  

47



 

Table 1: Leicestershire County Council’s CO2e emissions 2008/9 (baseline), 
2016-17 and 2017-18 

 

GHG emissions data for period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 
(tonnes of CO2e) 

  Sector 
2017-

18 
2016-

17 
% 

change 

Base 
Year  

2008-09 

% 
change 

Scope 1 – Direct 
emissions e.g. 
boilers, owned 
transport, air 
conditioning gases 

Buildings 1,944 1,887 3.0% 4,317 -55.0% 

Fleet vehicles 2,381 3,106 -23.3% 4,358 -45.4% 

Fugitive 
gases(1) 

77.76 0.006 
1,241, 
343% 

n/a n/a 

Sub-total 4,403 4,993 -11.8% 8,675 -49.2% 

Scope 2 – Energy 
Indirect e.g. 
purchased 
electricity 

Buildings 3,593 4,138 -13.2% 6,562 -45.2% 

Streetlighting 
& traffic 
signals 

5,502 10,333 -46.7% 15,581 -64.7% 

Sub-total 9,096 14,471 -37.1% 22,143 -58.9% 

Scope 3 – Other 
Indirect e.g. 
business travel 

Business 
Travel 

1,712 1,865 -8.2% 3,237 -47.1% 

Electricity 
Transmission 
& Distribution 
losses 

778 1,200 -35.2% 1,722 -54.8% 

Sub-total 2,490 3,065 -18.8% 4,959 -49.8% 

Total Gross 
Emissions 

TOTAL 15,989 22,529 -29.0% 35,778 -55.3% 

Carbon offsets   0 0   0   

Renewable energy 
exports 

  -36  -48    0   

Green tariff   0 0   0   

Total annual net 
emissions 

  15,953 22,481 -29.0% 35,778 -55.4% 

Intensity 
measure: 
Tonnes of CO2e 
per Full Time 
Equivalent 
employee* 

FTE 4,511 4,519 -0.2% 6,880 n/a 

  3.54 4.98 -28.9% 5.2 -32.0% 

Petrol and diesel 
(2) (Outside of 
Scope) 

  0.05 0.1 -15.6%     

Woodchip (Out of 
Scope) 

  831 652 27.5%     

 
(1)    Gases released by air conditioning and refrigerant units.  
(2)    Accounts for biofuel element of standard forecourt fuel. This is out of scope because CO2 should be 

reabsorbed. 

48



 

68. There was a slight increase of 3% in emissions from heating buildings.  This is 
likely to have been due to the exceptionally cold winter that took place during 
the year. 

 
69. The over 1.2m percent increase from fugitive gases was due to three air 

conditioning units being found to have a leak compared to one in the previous 
year.  All air conditioning units are serviced at least twice per year.  It is very 
difficult to predict when units will develop a leak. 

 
70. Renewable energy exports to the national grid from some of the Council’s 

buildings   have also been accounted for, which effectively replaces the need for 
electricity to be generated from fossil fuels.  This reduced the council’s carbon 
emissions by 36 tonnes during 2017-18. 

 
71. The County Council is also registered under the CRC Regulations which 

requires the Council to pay a fee for each tonne of carbon it emits from its 
energy use in its property and from street lighting.  The cost of the carbon 
emissions under the CRC for 2017-18 was £178,118, nearly £83,000 less than 
the previous year.  This was in part due to a reduction in the Council’s electricity 
consumption, largely as a result of the LED street lighting project.  

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A -  Leicestershire County Council Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report 

2017-18 - Director’s Report  
 
Appendix B -  2017-18 Environmental Performance Summary Dashboard 

49



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

Appendix A 
 

Leicestershire County Council 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report 2017/18 

 

Director’s Report 
 

Leicestershire County Council is committed to protecting and enhancing the 
environment of Leicestershire and to improving the quality of life for Leicestershire 
people both now and in the future.  By minimising the impacts of the Council’s 
activities and those of the community where the Council has duties or responsibilities 
to control and influence them, Leicestershire County Council will contribute to the 
improvement of the local and global environment (Environment Policy 2011).  
 
A new Environment Strategy was approved in July 2018 but for the purposes of this 
report we refer to the 2011 Environment Strategy as it applied for the period covered 
by this report. 

1. Introduction 
 
A greenhouse gas is the generic term for a gas that traps heat in the atmosphere and 
thereby contributes to climate change. The principal greenhouse gases are carbon 
dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and fluorinated gases. The first three are released 
into the atmosphere as a consequence of burning fossil fuels. An organisation’s 
consumption of electricity, gas, oil, petrol and diesel therefore results in the emission 
of greenhouse gases, either directly (eg. burning gas) or indirectly (eg. using 
electricity generated at a coal fired power station). Fluorinated gases are used in 
refrigeration and air conditioning, and leakage results in emissions of these into the 
atmosphere. 
 
Leicestershire County Council is committed to measuring and reporting its 
environmental performance in order to better understand its impacts and to monitor 
progress towards the targets in its Environment Strategy. This Greenhouse Gas 
Report is part of this commitment and, in accordance with Government 
recommendations; it is published on the Council’s website. 

2. Operational Scope 
 
The Council has followed the Government’s Environmental Reporting Guidelines, 
published by DEFRA (2015). As required, all Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions have 
been included and Scope 3 emissions have been included where reliable data exists. 
A description of the three scopes is shown below: 

 
 Scope 1 (Direct emissions) Activities owned or controlled by your organisation 

that release emissions straight into the atmosphere. Examples of scope 1 
emissions include emissions from combustion in owned or controlled boilers, 
owned or controlled vehicles.  

 

51



2 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

 Scope 2 (Energy indirect) Emissions being released into the atmosphere 
associated with the consumption of purchased electricity, heat, steam and 
cooling. These are indirect emissions that are a consequence of your 
organisation’s activities but which occur at sources you do not own or control. 
The most common type of Scope 2 emission is electricity purchased for our 
own consumption from the National Grid or a third party.  

 

 Scope 3 (other indirect) Emissions are discretionary to include that are a 
consequence of your actions, which occur at sources which you do not own or 
control and which are not classified as scope 2 emissions. Examples of scope 
3 emissions include business travel not owned or controlled by your 
organisation (eg. use of public transport), commuting, use of ‘grey fleet’ (i.e. 
use of employees’ own cars for which fuel costs are claimed back via 
expenses), emissions from contractors, and supply chain procurement.  

 
All emissions are expressed as CO2 equivalent tonnes. 
 
Appendix 1 lists each source and scope and briefly describes the basis for inclusion 
or exclusion in this report. 

3. Organisational Boundary 
 
The Council has used the Financial Control approach to define the boundary of 
Leicestershire County Council’s operations and activities for the greenhouse gas 
report. Within the boundary, the Council has excluded greenhouse gas emissions 
from schools (all scopes) and contracted services such as waste disposal and 
business travel by public transport (Scope 3) due to the cost of data collection and/or 
its availability. The Council has included the direct emissions resulting from the 
assets and operations where the Council is responsible for the purchase of energy or 
fuel.  Transmission and Distribution losses are included for electricity consumption 
(Scope 3) but Well To Tank (Scope3) emissions have not been reported as they are 
discretionary. The Council has excluded the emissions resulting from activities 
undertaken by contractors in order to ensure these emissions are not double-
reported and due to limited requirements for contractors to annually monitor energy 
and fuel usage within existing contracts.  

4. Geographic Breakdown: 
 
Leicestershire County Council does not operate outside the UK, all emissions are UK 
based. 

5. Base Year and Target 
 
The adopted baseline year is 2008/09 which the Council set in its Environment 
Strategy 2011 using a fixed base year approach.  
 
Where there are relevant significant changes in the factors that informed the 
calculation of the base year emissions, such as the sale of council buildings that 
result in a greater than 5% change in the total base year emissions, then the 
emissions for the base year and the year prior to the reporting year will be 
recalculated. 

52



3 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

The Strategy includes a commitment to reduce carbon emissions from the Council’s 
own estate and operations by 34% against this base year by the end of 2020/21.  
 
Joanna Guyll, Assistant Director Environment and Waste, within the Environment 
and Transport Department, is responsible for the achievement of the target. 
  

6. Calculation 
 
Emissions have been calculated in accordance with these figures and the guidance 
provided.  Activity data has been collected for fuel consumption in buildings and 
vehicles.  Wherever possible this has been actual consumption based on bills, 
invoices and receipts.  Estimated activity covers less than 5% of emissions from 
building energy consumption and is based on extrapolation from known previous 
activity data.  Activity data by volume or mass e.g. kWh of energy or litres of fuel 
have been prioritised for accuracy, however where this is not available other methods 
have been employed for example km travelled have been used for some transport 
sources. 
 
The appropriate emissions factors for each year are drawn from the DBEIS 
Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factor Repository. 
 

7. External Assurance Statement 
 
Leicestershire County Council has not sought independent external assurance of the 
Greenhouse Gas report. 

8. 2017/18 Emissions 
 
Figure 1 summarises the County Council’s greenhouse gas emissions for the 
2017/18 year (April to March) and compares these to emissions in the previous year 
(2016/17) and to the baseline year (2008/09).  

53

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting


4 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

GHG emissions data for period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 (tonnes of CO2e) 

  Sector 2017-18 2016-17 % change 
Base Year  

2008-09 
% change 

Scope 1 – Direct emissions e.g. boilers, 
owned transport, air conditioning gases 

Buildings 1,944 1,887 3.0% 4,317 -55.0% 

Fleet vehicles 2,381 3,106 -23.3% 4,358 -45.4% 

Fugitive gases 77.76 0.006 1241343%* n/a n/a 

Sub-total 4,403 4,993 -11.8% 8,675 -49.2% 

Scope 2 – Energy Indirect e.g. purchased 
electricity 

Buildings 3,593 4,138 -13.2% 6,562 -45.2% 

Streetlighting & 
traffic signals 

5,502 10,333 -46.7% 15,581 -64.7% 

Sub-total 9,096 14,471 -37.1% 22,143 -58.9% 

Scope 3 – Other Indirect e.g. business 
travel 

Business Travel 1,712 1,865 -8.2% 3,237 -47.1% 

Electricity 
Transmission & 
Distribution 
losses 

778 1,200 -35.2% 1,722 -54.8% 

Sub-total 2,490 3,065 -18.8% 4,959 -49.8% 

Total Gross Emissions TOTAL 15,989 22,529 -29.0% 35,778 -55.3% 

Carbon offsets   0 0   0   

Renewable energy exports   -36  -48    0   

Green tariff   0 0   0   

Total annual net emissions   15,953 22,481 -29.0% 35,778 -55.4% 

Intensity measure: 
Tonnes of CO2e per Full Time 
Equivalent employee** 

FTE 4,511 4,519 -0.2% 6,880 n/a 

  3.54 4.98 -28.9% 5.2 -32.0% 

Petrol and diesel (Outof Scope)   0.05 0.1 -15.6%     

Woodchip (Out of Scope)   831 652 27.5%     

 
Figure 1: Leicestershire County Council’s greenhouse gas emissions during 2017/18, with a comparison to the previous year and the baseline 
year of 2008/09. 
*See section 11 for explanation ** See section 12 for explanation

54



5 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

 

 
 
Figure 2: Greenhouse gas sources in 2017/18 compared to those from 2016/17 

 
 

 
 
Figure 3: Percentage of greenhouse gas emissions for 2017/18 in each scope 

 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

To
n

n
e

s 
(C

O
2

e
) 

Comparison of 2017/18 emissions with    
previous year 2016-17 2017-18

27% 

57% 

16% 

2017/18 Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Source 

Scope 1

Scope 2

Scope 3

55



6 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

Commentary Report 
 

9. Company Information 
 
Leicestershire County Council is the local government authority that provides council 
services within the Leicestershire area.    
 
Registered address is: 
County Hall 
Glenfield 
Leicestershire 
LE3 8RA. 
 

10. Reporting Period 
 
1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018 
 

11. Change in Emissions 
 
Emissions have fallen by 55.4% during 2017/18 compared to the 2008/09 baseline 
year, and by 37% compared to 2016/17.  
 
The 2017/18 emissions total has continued to fall below the target projection and has 
significantly surpassed the reduction target set for 2020/21, as illustrated in figure 4. 
 

 
 
Figure 4: Leicestershire County Council’s greenhouse gas emissions compared to the target 
stated in its Environment Strategy. 

 
 
Emissions from most contributory sources of greenhouse gas emissions have fallen 
this year, except for premises fuel sources such as gas use, woodchip and oil, 
fugitive gases, and fleet distance.  

56



7 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

Buildings (gas and other heating fuels) 
The slight increase of 3% in emissions is due to an increase in fuel use in buildings. 
This is likely to have been due to the exceptionally cold winter that took place over 
quarters 3 and 4.  

Fleet fuel and distance  
The 23.3% reduction in fuel emissions from the Council’s vehicles reflects a 
modernisation of part of the fleet and improved monitoring of both vehicle’s 
movements and driver behaviour through a tracking system.  

 
Emissions calculated based on  distance travelled by fleet however have increased 
on last year’s figure of 10.9 tonnes to 13.3 tonnes.  

Fugitive gases 
This is calculated from the replacement gases used during maintenance of the 
Council’s air conditioning units. The figure has increased significantly over the 
2017/18 year, but this is due to the fact that only one air conditioning unit was 
checked during the 2016/17 year, compared to 3 units in 2017/18. Therefore, the 
figures are not appropriately comparable for this indicator.  

Building electricity 
A 13.2% fall in electricity consumption and related emissions has been helped by the 
Council reducing the number of buildings it uses to provide services as well as a 
continued programme of energy efficiency and renewable energy investments in the 
remaining property estate. However  some of this reduction can be attributed to a 
change in the carbon conversion factor reflecting decarbonisation of the national 
electricity supply. 

Street lighting and traffic signals 
The 46.7% reduction in street lighting and traffic signal energy consumption is partly 
due to the lower carbon conversion factor but also a result of the Council’s project to 
replace sodium lights with LEDs which was completed in March 2018.  

Business travel 
Emissions from business travel reduced by  8.2% as a result of fewer business miles 
claimed by staff. A number of projects are in place which are aimed at reducing the 
need to travel and managing staff journeys such as Skype for Business and a flexible 
working policy. Further projects, including the introduction of an electric pool car for 
staff use in the Environment and Transport Department will help further reduce 
emissions 

Electricity transmission & distribution losses 
The 35.2% reduction follows from the reduced consumption described above and the 
lower carbon conversion factor. 

 

12. Intensity Measurement 
 
The Council has adopted ‘Full Time Equivalent employee' as the intensity factor 
across the organisation.  For 2008/09 the intensity factor has been applied to both 
County Council and schools emissions as information on all employees was available 
at that time. For 2014/15 onwards the intensity measure has only been applied to the 
County Council’s emissions (excluding schools) as the Council no longer holds 
comprehensive data on Academy school employees, nor energy use.  The Council 

57



8 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

continues to develop intensity factors for specific emissions sources which more 
closely reflect the nature of the service. 
 

13. Carbon Offsets 
 
Leicestershire County Council has not purchased any carbon offsets. 
 

14. Renewable energy exports 
 
The Council has invested in photo-voltaic solar panels on around 20 of its buildings. 
It is estimated that around 25% of the electricity generated is not used directly in 
these buildings and is instead exported to the grid for others to use. This effectively 
replaces the need for electricity to be generated from a fossil fuel power station and 
can be used as a credit in the greenhouse gas report. County Hall generation has 
been excluded from the calculation as the high baseload in this building is likely to 
mean that all generated electricity is used in situ. 
 

15. Green Tariffs 
 
Leicestershire County Council has not purchased any green tariff electricity during 
2017/18 financial year. 
 
 
 
  

58



9 | P a g e  -  L e i c e s t e r s h i r e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l  2 0 1 7 - 1 8  G r e e n h o u s e  G a s  R e p o r t  

 

Appendix 1 - Operational Scopes 
   
The Council has measured the scope 1, 2 and significant scope 3 emissions, where 
accurate and annual data was available for the period. 
 

 Specific exclusions and % this 
represents for relevant scope (excluding 
geographic exclusions) 

Scope 1  

Council combustion e.g. 
gas, solid and liquid fuels 
in boiler plant 

Less than 5% of total fuel use excluded where 
information was unavailable. 

Owned transport Fuel consumption has been excluded if LCC does 
not pay for fuel 

Process emissions Waste processing is a contracted service under 
Scope 3 and has not been calculated.  LCC has no 
responsibility for any process emissions under 
Scope 1 

Fugitive emissions Emissions from air conditioning gas top ups have 
been included but information was not pursued for 
the school estate.  Assuming the school emissions 
are proportionate to other emissions this represents 
less than 1% of Scope 1. 
 

Scope 2  

Purchased electricity No exclusions 

Significant Scope 3  

Electricity and natural gas Well To Tank emissions have been excluded 

Solid and liquid fuels Well To Tank emissions from liquid and solid fuels  
consumption have been excluded e.g. diesel, LPG, 
coal 

Business travel Business travel by public transport has been 
excluded, based on previous years this represents 
approximately 1% of Scope 3. 

Employee commuting LCC does not routinely monitor commuting so 
information was not available. 

Waste disposal LCC has excluded waste disposal but monitors 
waste data and has scoped the significance of this 
source. 

Product in use Excluded due to lack of good quality information. 

Out of Scope  

Biomass fuel - woodchip As a renewable fuel source, the carbon emitted 
from burning is not included in the calculation as 
this will be reabsorbed by growing fuel trees as part 
of the natural carbon cycle. 

Vehicle fuels – petrol and 
diesel 

Standard vehicle fuels include a small percentage 
of biofuels. The carbon emissions from this element 
is ‘out of scope’ as it will be reabsorbed by new 
biomass crops. 

 

59



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: 

2017-18 Environmental Performance Summary Dashboard 

Staff engagement

GREEN

GREEN
RED

RED
RED

M5 - environmental enforcement/prosecutions

E1 - staff agreeing - council doing enough for env.

E2 - staff understanding how to contribute to green issues

M1 - environmental complaints upheld

M2 - environmental incidents

M3 - environmental risks scoring >15

Quality and compliance

Data TBC

Data TBC

no rating

no rating

RED

worsening

no change

Data TBC

Data TBC

TrendKPI Your Rating

Performance Summary

C17 - renewable energy generated on LCC land

RED

no target

C1 - total CO2 from LCC operations (tonnes)

C2a - elec consumption per m2 in LCC buildings

C14 - CO2 emissions from Leics (under LCC influence)

C15 - CO2 emissions from Leics road transport

improving

improving

worsening

improvingGREEN
GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

C2b - gas consumption per m2 in LCC buildings GREEN

Resources

Biodiversity

Carbon / Energy

C18 - total business miles claimed

R1 - outstanding actions on climate change risk register

LW1 - total waste from LCC sites (tonnes)

Waste

improving

improving

no change

GREEN

HW1 - total household waste per household

HW2 - % household waste reused, recycled & composted

LW10 - % recycled aggregates used in highways

improving

GREEN

RED

GREEN

C18a - CO2 from business mileage N/A

LW2 - % recycled from LCC sites

WA1 - potable water consumed per fte

improving

Data incomplete

worsening

improving

no change

improving

improving

worsening

N/A

improving

worsening

no target

RED
no target

Data incomplete

B1 - % LCC's SSSIs in favourable/recovering condition

P1a - total office paper purchased (A4 sheets)

no change

P2 - paper used for LCC commissioned print (tonnes)

B2 - LCC's local wildlife sites in good/reasonable condition

 

 

 

 

61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE - 17 JANUARY 2019 

 
LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP 

ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGY 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To provide an overview of the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise 

Partnership’s (LLEP) Energy Infrastructure Strategy. 
 
2. The Committee is asked to note the contents of the report. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
3. Cabinet approved a new Environment Strategy 2018-2030 on 6 July 2018.  The 

Strategy contains aims and objectives to reduce greenhouse gases, to support 
the use of and generation of low and zero carbon energy, to reduce the 
environmental impacts of travel and transport, to reduce pollution, to protect 
people from harm and to support the development of a low carbon circular 
economy.   
 

4. Within the Environment Strategy Action Plan there is an action to work with the 
LLEP and Leicester City Council to develop an Energy Infrastructure Strategy 
for the area. The development and subsequent implementation of the 
recommended projects within it will support the achievement of the Environment 
Strategy’s aims and objectives. 
 

5. During 2018, the Council signed up to the UK100 Pledge.  Delivery of the 
recommended projects within the Energy Infrastructure Strategy could support 
the Council in meeting this pledge. 

 
Background 
 
6. The development of the Energy Infrastructure Strategy is set within a complex 

international, national and local policy context.  At a national level, the 2008 
Climate Change Act established a legally binding requirement for the UK to 
reduce CO2 emissions by at least 80% by 2050 compared to 1990 levels.  
Following the Climate Change Act, the UK set five legally binding carbon 
budgets each covering five years from 2008 to 2032.  The fifth carbon budget 
(2028-2032) targets a 57% reduction in greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from 
1990 levels. To achieve this target the pace of decarbonisation needs to be 
accelerated significantly. 
 

7. In 2015, as part of the international Paris Agreement, governments agreed ‘a 
long-term goal of keeping the increase in global average temperature to well 

63 Agenda Item 10



 

below 2°C above pre-industrial levels’.  The UK targets are not yet high enough 
to achieve this target. 

 
8. To meet the carbon budgets, the Government sees a growing role for local 

authorities and Local Enterprise Partnerships, and is supporting a localised 
approach to decarbonisation, as presented in the Clean Growth Strategy and 
National Industrial Strategy.  

 
9. Clean growth will not only provide environmental benefits but is also an 

opportunity to drive economic growth, both locally and nationally.  The Clean 
Growth Strategy estimates that the low carbon economy could grow at a rate 
four times faster than that projected for the economy as a whole between 2015 
and 2030. 

 
10. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was released in July 

2018, and provides a framework within which Local Plans can set the policy for 
domestic and non-domestic development.  

 
11. At a local level, all local authorities have various commitments and targets to 

reduce carbon emissions and to tackle climate change.  The setting of clear 
local targets relating to CO2 emissions reductions is important as it helps local 
areas understand the scale of what needs to be done to stay in line with 
national objectives. 

 
12. The local authorities across the LLEP area have recently developed a Strategic 

Growth Plan for the area which sets out the aspirations for delivering growth 
(housing, economic and infrastructure) until 2050. 

 
13. The local planning authorities each have Local Plans which set out the planning 

policies for development. Some have particular policies to encourage low 
carbon development and to address climate change. 

 
14. The Government has asked all Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) to produce 

Local Energy Strategies which should feed into the Local Industrial Strategy.  
 

15. The development of the Energy Infrastructure Strategy was a joint project with 
the LLEP (who led on the project), Leicestershire County Council, Leicester City 
Council and De Montfort University. Following a procurement exercise 
consultants were appointed to develop the strategy with work commencing in 
March 2018.  The final report was launched by the LLEP on 30 November 2018.  
A copy of the full report can be found on the LLEP website at: 
www.llep.org.uk/strategies-and-plans/energy-infrastructure-strategy/ 

 
Project Approach Applied 
 
16. The overall purpose of producing the Energy Infrastructure Strategy was to 

generate a shortlist of recommended project opportunities, consistent with a 
future energy system able to support low carbon economic growth.  
 
 
 

64

http://www.llep.org.uk/strategies-and-plans/energy-infrastructure-strategy/


 

17. In addition, the project had a number of further aims including to:- 
 

 Set out a vision of a low carbon future for the LLEP area up to 2050 and 
provide a clear and strategic roadmap and action plan for achieving that 
vision; 

 Provide a clear analysis of the energy opportunities and challenges for the 
LLEP area; 

 Identify what low carbon priorities and types of energy projects are needed 
for the LLEP area; 

 Shape the LLEP area’s response to the Midlands Engine Strategy and the 
Government’s Industrial Strategy; 

 Provide an evidence base for informing future resource allocation, funding 
priorities and funding bids for developing local energy solutions; 

 Provide confidence to businesses and investors that the LLEP area has a 
clear plan in place for ensuring that a sustainable, secure and affordable 
energy solution exists and to encourage their involvement and investment 
in making it happen; and, 

 Build the capacity and interest of decision makers and to promote local 
energy activities. 

 
18. The project approach applied to the achievement of these aims included 

carrying out a review of national and local policy, establishing current and future 
energy use, exploring three energy future scenarios (baseline, high 
electrification and decarbonised gas), the production of an Energy Challenge 
Paper and a final draft report. Consultation with public and private sector 
stakeholders was carried out at key points in the process. 
 

19. The consultation exercise included engagement with the following:- 
 

– County & City Council Officers  - Universities 
– District Councils – e.g. Planning  - National Farmers’ Union 
– Western Power Distribution  - Energy businesses 
– The National Forest Company  - Councillors 

 
Current and Future Energy Use 
 
20. In order to understand the implications of the Climate Change Act and the UK 

100 Pledge, the consultants developed a baseline scenario which projected the 
future level of carbon emissions in the LLEP area based on current and planned 
policy as of July 2017. Two decarbonisation scenarios, (one based on 
decarbonisation of the electricity grid and a second based on decarbonisation of 
the gas grid) which achieve a level of emissions reduction locally that is in line 
with, as a minimum, the current UK wide 2050 obligations, were also 
developed.  The resulting carbon emission trajectories for these scenarios are 
presented in Figure 1. 
 

 
 
 
 

65



 

Figure 1: Comparison of CO2 emissions in the baseline and decarbonisation scenarios.          
The 80% emissions reduction target in 2050 is relative to 1990 levels. 

 

 
21. In addition to developing the three future carbon emission scenarios, the 

consultants also sought to establish details of current energy use in the LLEP 
area.  This showed that total energy use across domestic, non-domestic and 
road transport (based on where the fuel was consumed) sectors in Leicester 
and Leicestershire is currently 22,100 GWh/yr.  Figure 2 shows the split of 
energy use by sector; domestic, non-domestic and road transport. 

 
 
Figure 2: Energy use by sector 

 

 
 

 
22. When total energy use is broken down by sector and type (Figure 3), gas is the 

dominant fuel in both the domestic and non-domestic sectors, followed by 
electricity.  Bioenergy and waste use makes up just 1.5% of total fuel use; this is 
significantly lower than the average for England of 2.9%.  

 
  

66



 

Figure 3: Total energy use by sector and type 

 

 
 
23. The report goes on to forecast the energy demand by sector across the three 

carbon emissions scenarios.  In the baseline scenario (Figure 4), energy 
demand falls slightly in the medium term, as planned policies are implemented, 
but then picks up in the period post-2030, reflecting growth in population and 
economic activity, with limited further change in energy intensity (the measure 
of energy inefficiency of an economy). The road transport sector remains 
dependent on petroleum in the long term and, although there is some limited 
electrification of heating and industry.  Natural gas continues to play an 
important role in the energy mix. 

 
 
Figure 4: Energy demand by sector – Baseline Scenario 

 
 
24. In the electrification scenario (Figure 5), there is a steady fall in final energy 

demand, reflecting energy efficiency improvements and fuel switching (from 
petrol/diesel to electricity in road transport, and from gas to electricity for 
heating).  The share of electricity in final energy demand increases from the 
22%, in 2016, to 58% by 2050, reflecting electrification of heating, industry and 
road transport. 

 
 
 

67



 

Figure 5: Energy demand by sector – Electrification Scenario 

 

 
 
25. The decarbonised gas scenario (Figure 6) is characterised by energy efficiency 

improvements and electrification in the medium-term, with hydrogen 
deployment playing an important role in the energy system in the longer term.  
By 2050, hydrogen accounts for around one third of final energy demand, 
following large investments to repurpose the gas grid to transport hydrogen at 
concentrations of up to 100%.  Similar to the electrification scenario, the road 
transport sector sees the largest fall in energy demand, due to efficiency 
improvements associated with the switch to fuel-cell electric vehicles in the 
medium to long-term. 

 
 
Figure 6: Energy demand by sector – Decarbonised Gas Scenario 
 

 
 
26. Leicester City Council and Leicestershire County Council have pledged to reach 

100% clean energy by 2050 as part of the UK100 Pledge.  While it is not clear 
what this will mean in practice, it is unlikely that any remaining fossil fuel 
consumption will be compatible with this.  As such, it is likely that the energy 

68



 

system will need to be decarbonised by 2050 to an extent where it reaches the 
lower level of the purple wedge indicated in Figure 1. 

 
Recommended Projects 
 
27. As part of the UK’s commitment to the UN Framework Convention on Climate 

Change (COP21) that was agreed in Paris in December 2015, the UK 
government announced that by 2020 it will disclose how it proposes to meet the 
target of keeping the increase in global average surface temperatures to well 
below 2°C above pre-industrial levels, and pursuing efforts to limit the 
temperature increase to 1.5°C.  
 

28. This information will be useful for local councils around the country to adapt 
their decarbonisation strategies to be coherent with policies at the national level.  
Though the decision in 2020 at the national level will likely affect the pathway 
from 2035-40 onwards, there are many actions that can be undertaken today 
(e.g. uptake of energy efficiency, heat networks, heat pumps, renewable 
generation etc.) that are seen as ‘low regrets’, and that are valid irrespective of 
the longer-term pathway chosen.  The Energy Infrastructure Strategy 
recommends projects specific to Leicester and Leicestershire which are robust 
to any pathway chosen. 

 
29. The projects have been segmented into three themes aligned to the national 

Clean Growth Strategy.  These are as follows:- 
 
Improving the energy efficiency of our homes and businesses, and 
supporting clean growth 

 
1. Planning policy to improve our homes  
2. Exemplar low carbon development on local authority owned land  
3. One-stop shop for energy efficiency retrofit  

 
Accelerating the shift to low carbon transport 

 
4. Supporting electric cars and vans  
5. Strategic plan for HGV refuelling and rapid charging hubs  

 
Delivering clean, smart, flexible power 

 
6. Providing low cost and low lead time connections for new demand 

customers  
7. Flexibility based connection offers for new electricity demand loads  
8. Strategic plan for renewable electricity generation deployment 

 
30. Table 1 below provides a summary of the key points and recommended actions 

for each of the eight recommended LLEP projects. 
 
 
 
 
 

69



 

 
Table 1: Summary of LLEP recommended projects 

 

1. Planning policy to improve our homes  
 

• Need to have tighter standards on energy efficiency in National 
Planning Policy Framework 

• Requiring new homes to meet higher carbon emission standards now 
will make economic sense in the long term 

• Mitigate need to retrofit homes in the future 
• LLEP and local authorities (LA) lobby Government to make these 

changes 
 

2. Exemplar low carbon development on local authority owned land  
 

• Support the development of low and zero carbon homes on LA owned 
land 

• Consult with real estate developers and businesses  
• Undertake more detailed assessment of shortlisted sites 
• Take learnings from Saffron Lane eco-homes project 
• Identify which low carbon standard the LAs wish to include in its 

contractual obligations 
 

3. One-stop shop for energy efficiency retrofit  
 

• Could save 500ktCO2 per year if energy efficiency measures deployed 
to their full 

• Save domestic consumer £100m and business consumers £50m per 
year 

• Create a locally-led one-stop shop as a not-for-profit financial facilitator 
for energy efficiency retrofit for homes and businesses 

• Workshops to share best practice and inspire stakeholders 
• Search for funding sources, partner with banks 
• Support local suppliers and installers 

 

4. Supporting electric cars and vans  
 

• Integral to decarbonisation and improving air quality 
• Support infrastructure changes necessary to encourage uptake of EVs 
• Identified potential rapid charging locations 
• Better co-ordination between local authorities 
• Develop policy position 

 

5. Strategic plan for HGV refuelling and rapid charging hubs  
 

• HGV’s constitute 1.5% of road vehicles but contribute 21% of road CO2 
emissions and 28% of NOX emissions 

• Area very dependent on transport and logistics industry 
• Strategic HGV refuelling / recharging station near Junction 23A M1 
• Provide biogas, later accommodate electric HGVs and then hydrogen 

HGVs 

70



 

6.   Providing low cost and low lead time connections for new demand 
customers 

 
• Western Power Distribution (WPD), the local distribution network 

operator does not invest in grid ahead of need – resulting in long lead 
in times for connections 

• LLEP act as facilitator between new customers and WPD 
• Operate case studies with WPD to test shared risk models 
• Lobby Government to allow Distribution Network Operators (DNOs) to 

invest in network ahead of need 
 

7.   Flexibility based connection offers for new electricity demand loads  
 

• New customers could be given the choice to invest in grid 
reinforcements i.e. a conventional connection offer, or to agree to a 
certain level of demand (or generation) flexibility thereby reducing or 
avoiding network upgrades 

• LLEP provide facilitative role between flexibility providers and 
connection customers 

• Engage with WPD to find out what is possible 
• Bring flexibility providers, demand customers and WPD together 
• Explore funding opportunities for a trial project in Leicestershire 

 

8.  Strategic plan for renewable electricity generation deployment 
 

• Renewable energy has the technical potential to provide over 90% of 
electricity requirements by 2050 (86% from wind alone) 

• Deployment of the full potential of wind power could generate £600m 
gross added value in local economy and over 1,000 jobs 

• Set targets for renewable energy generation and identify potential sites 
• Ensure local economy is well positioned to generate value from 

deployment of renewable energy 
 

 
Conclusions 
 
31. The following key conclusions can be drawn from the Energy Infrastructure 

Strategy :- 
 
i) That local action on decarbonising the energy system is now essential if 

the worst effects of climate change are to be mitigated. 
 
ii) Such local action will require a significant amount of cross sectoral 

partnership working over a prolonged period of time. 
 
iii) While there is uncertainty about how the government proposes to take 

action on reducing carbon emissions in the future there are actions that 
can be taken locally irrespective of what happens on a national level. 

 

71



 

iv) Around half of the required emissions reduction to 2050 will require much 
greater change at a local level across use of energy in homes, businesses 
and all modes of transport. 

 
v) The recommended actions not only reduce carbon emissions but also 

contribute to lowering energy costs, increasing energy productivity, 
improving economic growth and creating employment opportunities. 

 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
32. None.  
 
Equal Opportunities and Human Rights Implications  
 
33. This paper provides a report on the LLEPs Energy Infrastructure Strategy                   

and therefore in itself has no equal opportunities or human rights implications.  
However, how the recommended projects are developed and implemented 
could have significant equal opportunity and human rights implications. 

 
Recommendations 
 
34. Scrutiny is asked to note the contents of the report. 
 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Joanna Guyll Tel:     (0116) 305 8101 
Assistant Director, Environment & Waste Email: Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk 
 
James O’Brien  Tel:     (0116) 305 7319 

Team Manager, Strategic Development Email: James.OBrien@leics.gov.uk 

 

72

mailto:Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk
mailto:James.OBrien@leics.gov.uk


 

  
 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 17 JANUARY 2019 

 
A46 - UPDATE ON MIDLANDS CONNECT WORK 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee on the work Midlands Connect 

is carrying out around the A46 corridor across the East and West Midlands. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

2. The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (LLSGP) is an overarching 
plan that sets out the aspirations for delivering growth (housing, economic, 
infrastructure) in Leicester and Leicestershire until 2050. Nine local authorities in 
Leicester and Leicestershire, along with the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise 
Partnership (LLEP), have worked together to develop the Plan. The Plan includes 
the A46 corridor, identified as a key area for growth. 

 
3. In November 2018, the Cabinet approved the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 

Growth Plan.   
 
4. In March 2017, the Leader of the County Council gave a position statement at the 

meeting of the County Council, on the Midlands Engine and Midlands Connect. The 
Leader welcomed the launch of the Midlands Connect Strategy.  

 
5. At the same time, Members were advised of the launch of the Midlands Connect 

Strategy and provided with a link to the full document. Members were also advised 
that there was an aspiration to develop the A46 corridor to Expressway standard, 
with initial concentration on the section between the M40 (south of Warwick) and 
Syston, including a Leicester Southern and Eastern bypass.  

 
Background  

 
6. Midlands Connect was formed in 2014 and is a partnership across the east and west 

Midlands including Local Authorities, Local Enterprise Partnerships and other major 
transport bodies, such as Highways England, HS2 Ltd, Network Rail and the 
Department for Transport. 
 

7. In 2017, the Midlands Connect Strategy was launched. Along with other key 
infrastructure, this identified the potential significance of the A46 corridor in 
supporting economic growth in the Midlands. The Strategy noted that improvements 
to the corridor could:- 

73 Agenda Item 11



 

 Provide a strategic alternative to the M5/M42: reducing pressure on the 
Midlands Motorway Hub and increasing network resilience;  

 Improve connectivity between the South West and South Midlands, supporting 
the manufacturing, logistics and agricultural sectors along the corridor; 

 Improve journey time reliability for all journeys, including freight;  

 Assist in unlocking and accelerating numerous strategic housing and 
employment sites in the corridor; and,  

 Overcome local community impacts such as safety and severance. 
 

8. The Strategy recommended that improvements to the A46 corridor were worthy of 
further consideration to better understand the potential national, regional and local 
benefits which it could deliver. The study work undertaken by Midlands Connect is 
outlined later in this report.  
 

9. The A46 Corridor spans 155 miles from Gloucestershire to Lincolnshire, the 
Midlands section is home to 5.5 million people and almost 3 million workers. Its 
businesses earn £115 billion a year, equating to 9% of the English economy. The 
map below shows the extent of the A46 Corridor which is under consideration for this 
study. 

 
Map 1: A46 Corridor  
 

 
 

74



 

Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan  
 

10. The A46 Expressway (Leicester Southern/Eastern bypass) concept is an ambitious 
but deliverable project that would bring very significant national, regional and local 
benefits. It will provide the potential to address the existing issues around J21, M1 
J21–J21a and the A46 between the M1 and Hobby Horse, all of which experience 
significant congestion at present and which will be unlikely to be able to cope with 
traffic growth beyond the mid 2030’s.  
 

11. The proposal will also facilitate the continued economic growth and prosperity of 
Leicester and Leicestershire, beyond the current round of local plans. The A46 
Expressway is a vital element of the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth 
Plan, with a Leicester Southern/Eastern bypass having the potential to unlock 38,000 
new dwellings. Investment in transport infrastructure in this area will enable housing 
schemes to be accelerated. 

 
12. A Strategic Assessment of Transport Impacts (SATI) forms part of the evidence base 

to the Strategic Growth Plan. The SATI includes the A46 Express Way (along with 
strategic upgrades to the A5 and A42); it is important to note the purpose of the SATI 
is to provide commentary on changes in travel related metrics (e.g. changes in 
delays or travel speed) across broad geographical area in the Leicester and 
Leicestershire areas as forecast by the Leicester and Leicestershire Transport Model 
(LLITM)1. It is intended to provide an indicative indication of the area’s ability to 
accommodate growth in transport terms given certain infrastructure assumptions. 
The SATI does not drill down to route level or consider particular transport impacts or 
benefits. 
 

13. Complementing the SATI, the County Council has begun to undertake initial high 
level transport modelling to investigate the potential impacts of some of the schemes 
in the Plan i.e. M1-J20a, A46 Expressway. Work is currently being undertaken to 
gain an understanding of the transport benefits of and demand for a scheme at a 
national and regional level. This will enable the County Council to develop an 
evidence base, placing it in the best position to bid for funding, (should it become 
available) supporting the housing and economic growth ambitions of Leicestershire 
and will provide input to the wider work being undertaking by Midlands Connect as 
part of its A46 Express Way Study Stage Two (see later section in this report.) 
 

Midlands Connect – Stage One Study 
 

14. Midlands Connect has been working with authorities along the corridor, including 
Leicestershire County Council, overseeing work on an A46 corridor study. 
  

15. On 7 November 2018, Midlands Connect published the results of Stage One of this 
study; The Enhanced Strategic Case, along with a briefing booklet which can be 
found at Appendix A and B. 

 

16. The Stage One study makes the overall case for investment in the A46, including:- 

                                            
1
 For the purposes of modelling, links need to be amended in or to be added to the model to give a broad representation 

of the potential route corridor for and nature of a scheme. These links are, in essence, ‘diagrammatic’, and cannot be 

interpreted as defining anything like a definitive route for a scheme. 

75



 

 Over the next 60 years, corridor-wide improvement could bring economic 
benefits of £7.1billion through quicker journeys, reduced business costs and 
improved connectivity; 

 prioritising areas for further investigation, including Leicester and 
Leicestershire; 

 setting out elements that will be looked at as part of the further study work – in 
Leicestershire this will include options for improvements to Hobby Horse 
interchange, future improvement to M1 J21 and upgrading the Leicester 
Western bypass; and, 

 presenting an indicative package of measures to demonstrate the potential 
benefits of a whole route upgrade, including a new potential Leicester 
Eastern/Southern Bypass. 

 
17. Midlands Connect has also undertaken its own strategic traffic modelling to help 

demonstrate potential impacts on traffic flows on the corridor and the surrounding 
local road network as part of establishing the ‘in principle’ case for investment in the 
corridor. It should be noted, however, that as this is presently an early strategic 
study, using a strategic model, it is not possible to draw conclusions at this time 
about any localised impacts. Further work will need to be undertaken to establish 
local impacts should proposals progress to a more detailed stage of development. 
 

18. The study document also includes a Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment 
(PERA). It is important to stress however, that the PERA is:- 

 

 Corridor long; 

 an assessment of environmental risks intended primarily to establish if a project 
will encounter barriers to delivery in respect to scope, programme and budget 
and is not an assessment of environmental impacts and effects; and, 

 covers both the bypass and upgrading of existing route in the Leicester area 
(e.g. in respect of the existing route it notes the presence of the Leicester 
Forest East AQMA and the Scheduled Ancient Monument on the NW corner of 
M1 J21). 

 
19. In summary, Stage One focussed on revisiting the case for investment in the corridor 

as a whole both in transport and economic terms. It also looked at which area along 
the corridor should be prioritised for further investigation in Stage Two of the study 
work.  
 
Midlands Connect Stage Two Study  
 

20. Midlands Connect is now undertaking a second stage of the study to gather further 
evidence to develop the strategic case. This study will begin to look at a number of 
priority sections of the A46 corridor in more detail i.e. those that Stage One of the 
study have shown to have the potentially strongest case for intervention. These 
sections are:- 

 Tewkesbury (M5 Junction 9) to Warwick (M40 Junction 15); 

 Leicester area; 

 Lincoln area; 

 Newark; and, 

 Coventry, Warwick and Leamington Spa area. 

76



 

Decisions about prioritisation were based on evidence about traffic condition, 
economic potential and growth challenges/ambitions. 

 
21. The further work on the Leicester and Tewkesbury sections is relatively more 

detailed than the other sections, highlighting the strength of the potential case for 
future investment. Further investigation into priority sections and development of a 
preferred package will allow Midlands Connect to put together a sequenced 
programme for the corridor. Midlands Connect expects the second stage of the study 
to be complete during 2019. This work will again involve modelling work that includes 
amendments to or adding links into a transport model to give a representation of not 
just a potential Leicester southern and eastern bypass, but to represent potential 
improvements to the existing A46 corridor. 
 

Next Steps  
 

22. Officers will continue to engage with Midland Connect on the A46 Corridor Study as 
it is further developed and will keep Members updated at appropriate times. It is 
anticipated that Midlands Connect will use the outcomes from the Stage Two work to 
engage with Government to seek future funding for improvements to the A46. 
 

23. It is not the purpose of the Midlands Connect work to identify particular routes for 
schemes and the County Council does not have any route proposals for a Leicester 
Southern/Eastern bypass. Rather, assessment of route options would come forward 
at a later stage in the process i.e. after any in principle agreement by Midlands 
Connect and Department for Transport that an A46 Leicester Southern and Eastern 
Bypass should be taken forward for delivery.  
 

24. For the proposal to be taken forward as a Trunk Road project, it would need to be 
introduced into the Road Investment Strategy (RIS) process. Through that process it 
is normal for Highways England (HE) to undertake wide ranging investigations and 
public consultations on potential route options for schemes of this nature, prior to the 
Secretary of State making a preferred route announcement. Alternatively, if elements 
come forward through the planning process (e.g. Local Plans, Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects or planning applications) then these would be subject to the 
relevant public consultation and approval process. 
 

25. At the same time the A46 Partnership is refreshing its own A46 Prospectus, which 
will be aligned to, and complement, the Midlands Connect documents. The 
Prospectus is likely to be published in spring 2019. It also includes reference to M1 
Junction 20a and the Leicester Southern and Eastern Bypass. The County Council is 
a member of this Partnership and officers support the development of work 
undertaken by the Partnership. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
26. Officers will continue to work with Midlands Connect as the Stage Two study is 

developed. No additional resources are required at this stage to support Midlands 
Connect in the development of their Study programmes. 
 

27. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the contents of this 
report. 

 

77



 

Background Papers 
 
22 March 2017 – County Council - Position statement of Leader: Midlands 
Engine/Midlands Connect 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b11258/Position%20Statements%20Wednesday%2
022-Mar-2017%2014.30%20County%20Council.pdf?T=9  
 
Cabinet – 23 November 2018 – Strategic Growth Plan  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5185&Ver=4  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
  
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
28. As a third party project, Midlands Connect will be responsible for preparing 

assessments, including an Environmental and Human Rights Impact Assessment for 
the A46. However, the County Council will examine its assessments and take 
account of these when identifying appropriate mitigation. 

 
Appendices 

 
Appendix A - Stage One corridor study results: The Enhanced Strategic Case 

Appendix B - Briefing booklet 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000  
Email:  Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Ian Vears 
Assistant Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7966  
Email:    Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk 

78

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b11258/Position%20Statements%20Wednesday%2022-Mar-2017%2014.30%20County%20Council.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b11258/Position%20Statements%20Wednesday%2022-Mar-2017%2014.30%20County%20Council.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5185&Ver=4
mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk


                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 

 
A46 Corridor Study – Stage One 

Enhanced Strategic Case 
November 2018 

79

HHUDSON
Text Box
APPENDIX A



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

1 

Contents 

1. Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. The case for investment in the A46 Corridor ........................................................................................ 8 

3. Priority sections for investment .......................................................................................................... 22 

4. Recommendations for next steps ........................................................................................................ 29 

Appendix A: Stakeholders 
Appendix B: Wider Economic Benefits Calculation 
Appendix C: Prelimary Environmental Risk Assessment (PERA)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

80



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

2 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Background 

The A46 corridor runs for 250 kilometres between the South West of England and Humberside, through the 
Midlands. The corridor comprises the M69 and short sections of the M1 and A45. At either end, the corridor 
divides into a number of corridors, notably the A15 and A1173 in the north, and the A44 and A435 in the 
south (the A46 begins again in Cheltenham and continues via Stroud to Bath). The majority of the A46 
corridor is within the area of interest for this study, as shown in Figure 1-1. 

The A46 corridor performs many functions: a bypass to the major settlements along its length (such as 
Coventry, Leicester, Newark and Lincoln); a connection between radial road corridors (such as the M1 and 
A1); and providing access to the Port of Bristol, the Humber Ports, and South Wales. 

The road’s form is as varied as its function: from single carriageway ‘A’ road with local accesses to three-lane 
dual carriageways and motorways. As a consequence of the design of the roads in the corridor and the 
widely-varying demand for its use, the performance of the corridor also varies considerably. High demand 
around the urban areas results in peak time delays, as do many of the at-grade junctions. Road safety, noise 
and air quality issues are most prevalent where the roads pass close to, or through, communities. In general 
the problems on the corridor are well-understood, and in many cases local solutions have already been 
developed. 

Despite the corridor largely 
comprising a single ’A’ road, the 
corridor has not historically 
been considered as a whole; 
improvements to the original 
1920s road have been delivered 
locally on a needs basis by the 
(then) Highways Agency and by 
local highway authorities (the 
section between the M5 and 
Lincoln is now part of the 
Strategic Road Network). 

There are numerous and varied 
problems and issues along the 
corridor in terms of congestion 
and accident hotspots, 
environmental and community 
impacts which future 
investment should seek to 
address. Failure to do so will 
result in further worsening of 
current network performance, 
increased impacts on 
communities and the 
environment, and inhibit future 
economic and housing growth. 

 

Figure 1-1: The A46 corridor 

 

 www.openstreetmap.org 2011 OpenStreetMap contributors, CC-BY-SA 

81

http://www.openstreetmap.org/


                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

3 

Despite the fact that the corridor provides relatively rare east-west connectivity, relatively few longer-
distance journeys use the A46 for a significant distance due to the varied standards of the road and the 
resultant performance. In addition, the demand for travel along the length of the corridor is thought to be 
limited, potentially in part due to the lower standard of some of the corridor, but also reflecting the fact 
that there is no large city at either end. As discussed in Section 2, there are a large number of strategic 
housing and employment growth sites on or close to the corridor. This is significant in terms of the 
potential for the corridor to assist in these sites coming to fruition, however it is noteworthy that the 
majority of these sites are located where the A46 intersects with other, higher-quality sections of the SRN, 
such as the M40, M6 and M1. This suggests it is the connectivity offered by these roads, rather than the 
A46, which is determining the location of these sites. 

1.2 Midlands Connect 

Midlands Connect is a pan-Midlands partnership of local transport authorities, local enterprise 
partnerships and local business representatives working with the Department for Transport and its key 
delivery bodies. The Partnership now forms the transport component of the Midlands Engine. 

The aim of the Partnership is to support the Midlands Engine to unlock the Midlands’ economic potential 
and support the competitiveness of the whole UK through improving strategic transport links to speed up 
journey times and improve reliability, capacity and journey quality where it’s needed. Midlands Connect’s 
aspirations are for strategic transport networks which: 

• are ready for HS2, and are able to fully exploit the economic and regeneration potential the new 
railway will bring; 

• enable the productivity of Midlands businesses to be maximised; 

• enable the population and employment growth critical to the future needs of the Midlands economy; 

• enable Midlands businesses to efficiently access overseas markets through international gateways; 

• enhance the quality of life of Midlands residents; and 

• minimise the impacts of travel on the environment. 

In March 2017, Midlands Connect published a long-term transport strategy which sets out the Partnership’s 
views on the infrastructure capital programme needed over the next 25 years to improve connectivity 
between key economic hubs in the Midlands, and to the rest of the UK and overseas, and the benefits they 
will bring. 

Since the publication of the Strategy, Midlands Connect has been successful in securing £6 million to fund 
an ambitious three-year programme of technical work to develop further the projects identified in the 
Strategy. This study is part of this 
technical programme. 

 The A46 Partnership 

In recent years, interest in improving the 
A46 corridor has been growing. In 2015 the 
A46 Partnership was formed, comprising 
local authorities and Local Enterprise 
Partnerships. The objective of the A46 
Partnership, since expanded to include 
authorities as far north as Leicester, is to 
work together to bring forward 
improvements on the corridor to address 
challenges including congestion, road 
safety, poor resilience and community 
severance. 

The A46 Partnership published its 
prospectus, ‘Investing in the A46 to keep the Midlands Moving’, in December 2017. 

 

82

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/A46-partnership


                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

4 

 Midlands Connect Strategy 

In its 2017 Strategy, the Midlands Connect Partnership identified the potential significance of the whole 
A46 corridor in supporting economic growth in the Midlands. The Strategy notes that improvements to the 
corridor could: 

• provide a strategic alternative to the M5/M42: reducing pressure on the Midlands Motorway Hub 
and increasing network resilience; 

• improve connectivity between the South West and south Midlands, supporting the manufacturing, 
logistics and agricultural sectors along the corridor; 

• improve journey time reliability for all journeys, including freight; 

• assist in unlocking and accelerating numerous strategic housing and employment sites in the 
corridor; and 

• overcome local community impacts such as safety and severance. 

The strategy also sets out Midlands Connect’s aspirations for the strategic road network and the rail 
network. The ‘Conditional Outputs’ for roads (see Figure 1-2) describe the long-term aspiration for road 
journeys between key 
centres being both quick 
and reliable in terms of 
journey time. At this time, 
much of the A46 corridor 
does not meet either of 
these aspirations. 

The Strategy included 
proposals for a strategic 
study of a potential 
expressway route between 
the M5 and the M40, as well 
as development of business 
cases for upgrades along the 
corridor. This study is the 
first part of this work; but 
with a broadened scope 
covering the corridor from 
the M5 to Humberside 
rather than the M40. 

 Long-Term Midlands Motorway Hub Study 

The Midlands Motorway Hub spans key sections of the M42, M5 and M6, and lies at the heart of the 
regional and national strategic road network. Both Highways England and Midlands Connect Partnership 
have identified the critical importance of the Hub to both the regional and national economy. 

However, the performance of much of the Hub network falls below what is required to support economic 
growth in the Midlands and further afield. Therefore, in late 2016, Midlands Connect and Highways 
England commissioned a study to prepare a long-term investment strategy to address challenges and meet 
the network performance, economic growth and wider objectives. 

The study, which concluded in December 2017, examined a wide range of potential options for meeting 
these objectives, including measures to reduce demand on the Hub by providing alternative routes further 
afield. The A46 corridor between the M5 and M6 was identified as potentially providing an attractive 
alternative to the M5/M42/M6 route via the Hub.  

The study examined the broad impacts of upgrading the A46 to a common expressway standard between 
the M5 and the M6/M69, which included: a mixture of new offline alignment and online dualling from M5 
J9 to south of Evesham; online dualling of the Evesham Bypass; and online dualling between Alcester and 
the A439. 

Figure 1-2: Midlands Connect Conditional Outputs - road 

 

 

83



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

5 

The initial assessment of the upgrade found that journey times could be reduced by as much as 13 minutes 
between the M5 and M40, but that congestion on the A46/A45 around Coventry could increase as more 
traffic is drawn into the corridor.  

Wider economic benefits were not estimated for the scheme on its own, but the study concluded that 
investment in this route would deliver significant wider economic benefits resulting from: 

• increased agglomeration and productivity gains through supporting inter-city movements; 

• long-distance agglomeration arising from reduced journey times between the South-West, the 
Midlands and on to Yorkshire and the North-East; and 

• a positive impact on economic growth from increased output and job creation through enabling 
growth in key business clusters and high value economic sectors. 

The study concluded that improvements to the A46 were worthy of further consideration to better 
understand the potential national, regional and local benefits which it could deliver. 

 A46 Corridor studies 

The route has been subject to a range of studies across the years led by, Midlands Connect and local 
authorities. Most recently this has included the Midlands Motorway Hub, the work of the A46 Partnership 
and a range of Strategic Outline Business Cases (SOBCs) and Option Assessment Reports (OARs) produced 
to inform the South Midlands & North and East Midlands Route Strategies which guide Highways England’s 
RIS process. 

 Planned schemes 

The route has a number of schemes proposed by Highways England and local authorities. These are at 
different stages of development but include: 

• Binley Interchange (Coventry) - Part of Walsgrave and Binley improvement package. No confirmed 
delivery date. 

• Walsgrave Interchange (Coventry) - Part of Walsgrave and Binley improvement package. No 
confirmed delivery date. 

• Newark bypass – A46 Newark Northern bypass – Announced in RIS1 to be developed for potential 
construction in RIS2, subject to value for money and affordability. 

• Lincoln eastern bypass - Due to be completed by late 2019.  

1.3 Study objectives and scope 

As a result of the findings of the Long-Term Midlands Motorway Hub Study, Midlands Connect has 
commissioned ACJV to undertake a study of the whole A46 corridor from the M5 to the M180. The purpose 
of the study is to enhance the evidence base behind this corridor, and to use it to develop a strategic case 
for investment along all or part of the corridor to support Midlands Connect’s broader objectives.  

The study objectives, as set out in the client brief are to: 

• convey the current and potential future role and function of the A46 through the Midlands and 
nationally; 

• develop a set of specific transport objectives for the A46, based upon the aspiration for its future role 
and operation; 

• identify a long-list of options which could meet the transport objectives, and undertake a high-level 
assessment of the potential value for money (VFM), benefits and impacts of the different options; 

• shortlist the better options to be carried forward; 

• make recommendations as to how investment in the corridor should be sequenced; 

• form a preliminary enhanced strategic case for improving the A46 based on the strategic and 
economic benefits; identifying the role and contribution each section makes to the overall case for 
investment;  

• achieve strong stakeholder buy-in to the proposals being put forward; and 

84



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

6 

• scope the work required to take the first three sections of route to a Strategic Outline Business Case 
stage. 

1.4 Study process 

The project commenced in October 2017 and has subsequently progressed through five stages as illustrated 
in Figure 1-3. The figure also shows the deliverables for each stage and the actual or planned delivery date of 
the final version of each. This report is one of the deliverables of Task 4.  

Figure 1-3: Summary of Study Process 

 

This report will be summarised in a shorter Strategic Document and also in leaflet form. The final 
deliverable will be a technical note setting out the work required to progress the next phase of the corridor 
study with reference to how this work could link to Highways England’s (HE) Project Control Framework 
(PCF) Stage 0 and beyond. 

1.5 Stakeholder engagement 

Stakeholder engagement has been an important part of this study and has supported an evidence-led 
approach and generated support for study findings. Stakeholders were engaged at two stages during this 
study; during Task 1 to understand the constraints and opportunities on the corridor and during Task 2 to 
help develop the long-list of options. Key stakeholders also sit on the Project Board. Further engagement 
has also taken place through attendance of study team members at the A46 Partnership meetings in 
December and May. 

During Task 1, a range of interviews were held with LEPs, highway authorities, and planning authorities 
from across the corridor to understand the baseline conditions on the corridor. The findings from the 
interviews were complimented by 16 interviews with businesses and industry groups along the corridor. A 
selection of the LEPs, Highway Authorities, and Planning Authorities were engaged with again during Task 
2 to provide input into the long-list of options. 

Table 1-1 summarises the stakeholder engagement that has been undertaken as part of this study. A full list 
of the stakeholder organisations which participated in this study is provided in Appendix A. 

 

 

Table 1-1: Summary of stakeholder engagement activities 

Task Activity/purpose Method Date 

1 LEP interviews to establish growth priorities for each of the 
LEP areas on the A46 corridor. 

Telephone 

December 2017 
– February 
2018 

LA interviews to establish planned development sites and 
associated transport schemes. 

Telephone 

Business interviews to better understand how the A46 could 
act as a barrier to growth and investment. 

Telephone 

2 Workshop 1 to establish options for the Gloucestershire and 
Worcestershire sections of the corridor. 

Face-to-face 19/02/2018 

Workshop 2 to establish options for the Warwickshire, 
Coventry City, Leicester City and Leicestershire sections of 
the corridor. 

Face-to-face 22/02/2018 

85



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

7 

Workshop 3 to establish options for the Nottinghamshire, 
Lincolnshire and Humber sections of the corridor. 

Skype 15/03/2018 

1.6 Purpose and structure of this report 

This is the final main deliverable from the study and is intended to set out the case for investment in the 
corridor and set out the next steps towards delivering that investment. The following chapters are 
structured as follows: 

• Chapter 2 describes the strategic case for investment in the A46 corridor, emphasising the important 
economic role which the corridor already plays, and how this could be positively transformed in the 
future. This includes a summary of the appraisal of an illustrative package of measures which is 
intended to represent the maximum likely level of investment in the corridor.  

• Chapter 3 describes where on the corridor the case for investment is strongest. 

• Chapter 4 sets out our recommendations for the activities which are now required to progress 
towards detailed scheme development and delivery. 

86



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

8 

2. The case for investment in the A46 Corridor  

2.1 Background and context 

 The A46 corridor 

The A46 corridor runs for over 250 kilometres from the M5 at Tewkesbury to Grimsby in Humberside. As 
well as the A46, the corridor includes sections of the A44, A422, A45, M69, M1, A15, M180, A160, and the 
A1173. 

The characteristics of the road vary 
significantly along the corridor, from single 
carriageway rural sections to urban dual 
carriageways and motorways. Upgrades to 
the original roads have been piecemeal as the 
most pressing problems of congestion and 
safety have been addressed. However, at-
grade junctions and single carriageway 
sections result in traffic bottlenecks, 
exacerbated by very high traffic volumes in 
some locations. 

The character and function of the landscape the corridor passes through is also very varied. Approximately 
two-thirds of the corridor passes through rural areas, running adjacent to market towns and villages, but 
passing directly through relatively few, and connecting them to the wider Strategic Road Network. 

The corridor serves many, sometimes conflicting, purposes for both local and longer-distance traffic 
including: 

• providing access to international gateways including the Humber Ports, Port of Bristol, Humberside, 
Coventry and Birmingham Airports; 

• linking locations on the A46 to other parts of the Strategic Road Network (SRN) and the rest of the 
country; 

• providing critical connections between homes and jobs; 

• providing access to existing jobs and housing sites;  

• acting as a ring road and/or bypass for locations such as Warwick, Coventry, Leicester and Lincoln; 
and 

• to a greater or lesser extent, providing connectivity for parts of long-distance journeys. 

 The economic importance of the A46 corridor 

The A46 corridor is already an important economic spine; businesses in the corridor produced £115 billion 
output in 2015, nearly 9% of English GVA. The corridor is home to over 2.8 million jobs (over half of all jobs 
and GVA from the Midlands Connect area). The corridor is home to 5.5 million people and 2.4 million 
homes.  

The Strategic Road Network is critical to the economy of the Midlands. 28% of Midlands GVA is in SRN-
dependent sectors, such as construction, manufacturing, logistics and quarrying/mining, which is much 
higher than the English average (21%). SRN dependent sectors on the A46 make a significant contribution 
to the Midlands and UK economy - 10% of England’s total output in these sectors is located on the A46 
corridor. Some of the key sectors include automotive, aerospace, textiles and agriculture. Outputs from 
industries such as aerospace and automotive generate a large volume of exported goods due to the 
international profile and significance of the products created. In fact, 22% of goods and services are 
exported from the A46 corridor. 

250 kilometres

The A46 corridor

5.5 m people
2.9 m jobs

30% urban
70% rural

87



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

9 

The largest single industrial sector is Distribution (Wholesale & Retail, Logistics & Transport & Food 
Services), which accounts for 20% of all economic output, whilst Manufacturing accounts for 16%. In 
comparison to England as a whole, the corridor’s economy has a high share of Agriculture, Other 
Production (quarrying and mining) and Manufacturing (almost twice the English average, and 30% above 
the national average outside London); but a low relative share of economic activity in Information & 
Communication, Finance and Business Services. 

Over a quarter of all jobs and GVA in the corridor are in sectors dependent on the Strategic Road Network 
such as retail, manufacturing and construction. The share of Midlands jobs in these sectors is higher than 
any other part of England and significantly above the UK average. 

The agricultural industry, whilst not the dominant sector in any one location, is important to many areas 
along the corridor. The road network is vital in the distribution of perishables and produce but also in 
ensuring high quality staff are available to sustain the industry and ensures its future. 

In the more peripheral parts of the corridor 
to the north-east and south-west, the 
dominant sectors tend to be manufacturing 
and less footloose sectors such as tourism and 
agriculture. The performance of these sectors 
is less dependent on peak-time network 
performance and more dependent on reliable 
journey times. The central part of the 
corridor, including the Coventry/Leicester 
economic hub and Warwick, has a more 
mixed economy including manufacturing and 

logistics, but also a larger professional services sector which is dependent on peak period capacity, 
connectivity to labour markets and absolute journey times.  

The East and West Midlands exports a higher share of GVA than any other region in England after the 
North East. Access to international gateways is therefore critical to the Midlands economy. Half of these 
exports are generated in the A46 corridor and are particularly important to the economies of Solihull, 
Coventry, North and North-East Lincolnshire, Warwickshire and Worcestershire. 

Over the period 2015 to 2030, the economic output of the corridor is forecast to increase by 35% to £153 
billion. Over the same period, the number of jobs in the corridor is forecast to grow by 146,000 or 5%, and 
the population by nearly 400,000. Jobs growth rates are particularly high in the logistics & freight, retail & 
wholesale and manufacturing sectors. But, this ‘business as usual’ (BAU) growth could be significantly 
higher with greater investment supporting productivity and new sites. 

 Conditions and use of the A46 

Traffic flows (excluding the short M1 section) are highest on the Leicester Western Bypass (70-80,000 
vehicles Annual Average Daily Traffic – AADT in 2017). Traffic levels on the Coventry-Leicester and 
Leicester-Newark sections are lower at approximately 40,000 AADT, whilst traffic levels on the more 
peripheral sections can fall to 20,000 AADT. 

The performance of the vast majority of the corridor falls 
below the Midlands Connect Conditional Output of an 
average speed during the peak periods of 60 mph. Average 
speeds tend to be higher where road standards are higher; 
such that where improvements have been made average 
speeds are consistent with the design standard. The only 
sections of the A46 which meet or exceed the conditional 
output are those which operate as either Dual-2 lane All 
Purpose or Motorway (D3) standard. 

8.6% of English GVA

£115
bn

The economy of the A46 corridor

16% of GVA in 
manufacturing, 20% 

in distribution

22% of goods & 
services are exported

“Making the route into a dual 
carriageway or more of a motorway-type 
road would have massive benefits. Traffic 
would be much more predictable.”

FCC Environment, Lincolnshire

88



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

10 

These sections are also where traffic is greatest, meaning that the sections with generally higher speeds are 
also those with higher traffic levels but also greater aggregate levels of delay which reflects the higher 
capacity of the links and junctions which are more typical in the central section. In this regard, the capacity 
and standard of the road does influence its use compared to alternatives, as a higher standard will make the 
A46 more attractive. But it is also clear that, historically, investment has occurred in those locations 
experiencing the greatest delays due to congestion, meaning that the capacity and/or standard of the road 
is influenced by demand for its use.  

Both average speeds and journey time reliability are significantly impacted by at-grade junctions with the 
worst ‘hotspots’ including the M1/A46 around Leicester, Hobby Horse Interchange, the A1/A46 interchange, 
Lincoln bypass and the Coventry ring road. The absolute capacity of the road also causes delays where 
traffic is highest. Particularly high ‘volume / capacity ratios’ are observed around Evesham, Coventry, 
Leicester and Lincoln where local and longer-distance traffic interact. 

Average journey times on the A46 are 
generally slightly lower than those on 
alternative motorway journeys (such as the 
M5/M42/M6). The evidence suggests that the 
A46 currently carries a relatively small 
proportion of national traffic as the 
variability of journey times on the motorway 
network tends to be lower, and the legibility 
of the route is poorer. 

There are also currently relatively few 
journeys which currently travel along the entire corridor, which reflects the poorer legibility and 
performance of the corridor at present, but also the fact that there are currently relatively few journeys 
travelling between the South West and Humberside areas; investment in the corridor could fundamentally 
influence where businesses decide to locate, meaning that over time the A46 corridor could become a much 
more important economic spine. 

Origin-destination patterns in the corridor are complex. A significant proportion of traffic is made up of 
sub-regional journeys of 50-100 kilometres in length, most of which begin, end or pass through the central 
section. Some sections also have a particularly important local function; for example, only 20% of traffic on 
the Leicester Western Bypass is through traffic (although the very high traffic volumes on this section mean 
it is also strategically important). 

Road safety is a key issue for the A46 corridor due to a range of issues including road geometry and a 
number of single carriageway sections which results in overtaking manoeuvres and consequential 
accidents. Congestion at key junctions also results in a range of accidents. Accident blackspots tend to 
occur more frequently north of Newark and south of Coventry.  

2.2 Objectives of intervention 

The role and function of the A46 corridor is complex and varies greatly in different locations. This is 
reflected in the diversity of types of short, medium and long-distance trips using the corridor. The study has 
adopted a simplified model to understand and describe the role and function based on three geographic 
levels, and to define objectives of intervention.  

The primary objective for intervention in the A46 is to unlock and enable economic growth. Transport 
investment can support this by: 

• improving connectivity and reducing journey times for freight to support business productivity and 
reduce transport-related and other operational costs – bringing suppliers and markets closer to 
businesses; 

• improving connectivity and reducing journey times for people on this critical part of the SRN to 
expand skilled labour pools, attract skilled labour through enhanced quality of life and make 
business to business interaction easier and cheaper (supporting agglomeration benefits); 

20-80,000 vehicles 
per day

Current traffic conditions in the A46 
corridor

Peak delay per 
vehicle per km

Average speed

48
mph

4.5
secs

89



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

11 

• reducing the variability of journey times so that businesses can minimise costs associated with 
building in additional time into schedules to allow for delays in deliveries and ensure goods are 
delivered on time; 

• providing additional capacity to enable growth in jobs and homes, including providing capacity for, 
and access to, key growth sites; 

• improving links to international gateways, improving the attractiveness of the Midlands and wider 
UK economy for new international trade and investment; and 

• raising the resilience of the network to planned maintenance, incidents and events so that businesses 
can continue to operate normally during periods of disruption. 

Table 2-1 summarises the agreed objectives for investing in the corridor for each of the three geographic 
levels. 

Table 2-1: Summary of objectives of intervention in the A46 corridor 

Level Objectives of intervention 

National Provide viable alternative routes (to the M5, M42, M6, M1 and M18) for long-distance 
east-west traffic travelling between the M5 and M1 corridors, and between the M1 and 
A1 corridors, thereby improving network resilience. 

Providing an alternative to the congested M42/M6 Birmingham motorway box is 
particularly important. 

Minimise greenhouse gas emissions from traffic. 

Sub-
regional 

Provide high quality connectivity (journey times and journey time reliability) between 
the Midlands economic hubs, in particular: Leicester/Coventry; Derby/Nottingham; 
Warwick/Leamington; and Birmingham/Black Country. 

Provide high quality connectivity to the rest of the UK and to international gateways. In 
particular between: 

• settlements in the corridor and BHX, EMA and HS2 Interchange, Toton and/or 
Sheffield stations; 

• the Midlands and the South West (including Port of Bristol); 

• the Midlands and Humberside; 

Support delivery of strategic employment sites along the corridor; and the longer-term 
supply of jobs. 

Support delivery of strategic housing sites along the corridor; and the longer-term 
supply of housing. 

Local Support delivery of local employment and housing sites. 

Minimising the negative impacts of the road corridor on communities: air quality, 
safety, noise and severance. 

Minimise the negative impacts of the road corridor on the built and natural 
environment. 

90



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

12 

The remainder of this chapter describes the case for investment in the A46 corridor as a whole. The case is 
structured around the Government’s four priority objectives for transport investment described in the 
Transport Investment Strategy 1. As shown in Figure 2-1, the 
outcome objectives for the A46 corridor shown above relate 
closely to these priorities, and to the economic roles of the SRN 
defined by Highways England 2, As such, the content of this 
chapter clearly demonstrates how investment in the corridor will 
support not only the objectives of Midlands Connect, but those 
of the Department for Transport and Highways England.  

Figure 2-1: The government’s transport investment priorities, and 
the economic roles of the SRN 

 

                                                      
1 As set out in Department for Transport (July 2017) Transport Investment Strategy: Moving People Ahead 
2 As set out in Highways England (March 2017) The Road to Growth: Our Strategic Economic Growth Plan 

Transport investment priorities (DfT) Economic roles of SRN (HE)

C
re

at
in

g
 a

 t
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 

n
et

w
o

rk
 t

h
at

 w
o

rk
s 

fo
r 

al
l

B
u

ild
in

g
 a

 s
tr

o
n

g
er

, m
o

re
 

b
al

an
ce

d
 e

co
n

o
m

y

E
n

h
an

ci
n

g
 o

u
r 

g
lo

b
al

 

co
m

p
et

it
iv

en
es

s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 t
h

e 
cr

ea
ti

o
n

 o
f 

n
ew

 h
o

u
si

n
g

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 b
u

si
n

es
s 

p
ro

d
u

ct
iv

it
y 

&
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

n
es

s

P
ro

vi
d

in
g

 e
ff

ic
ie

n
t 

ro
u

te
s 

to
 

g
lo

b
al

 m
ar

ke
ts

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 

in
te

rn
at

io
n

al
 g

at
ew

ay
s

S
ti

m
u

la
ti

n
g

 &
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

o
f 

h
o

m
es

 &
 

em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

sp
ac

es

A
46

 o
u

tc
o

m
e 

o
b

je
ct

iv
es

National

Provide viable alternative routes for long-distance east-west traffic to improve network resilience

Minimise greenhouse gas emissions

Sub-regional

Provide high quality connectivity between the Midlands economic hubs

Provide high quality connectivity to the rest of the UK and to international gateways

Support delivery of strategic employment sites and the longer-term supply of jobs

Support delivery of strategic housing sites and the longer-term supply of housing

Local

Support delivery of local employment and housing sites

Minimise negative impacts of the road corridor on communities

Minimise negative impacts of the road corridor on the built and natural environment

91



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

13 

2.3 Creating a transport network that works for all users 

The current performance of the A46 is very mixed. In some places it performs well (such as the M69 and 
the Newark-Widmerpool section) but most of the corridor suffers from a range of performance issues. In 
particular, the poor standard of the road in some places, the remaining at-grade junctions, and the sheer 
volume of traffic result in congestion. The worst pinch points generally occur where the A46 intersects with 
other arterial routes (such as at Hobby Horse Interchange, the A1 at Newark, and the M1 at Leicester) or 
where there is significant interaction with local traffic (such as at Evesham, Coventry and Lincoln). As 
detailed elsewhere, average speeds in the peak and inter-peak can be low, and variability of journey times 
can be high. The latter is often of most concern to businesses, especially those in the manufacturing, 
construction and distribution sectors; reliable journey times are critical to allow businesses to operate 
efficiently using complex just-in-time delivery processes. This is a particular issue for trips to the ports 
(exporting activities are particularly important to the economies of Derby, Coventry and Kingston-upon-
Hull). Therefore, better accessibility to the Port of Bristol and Humber ports via the A46 could help to 
sustain and grow the markets for these ports by attracting new business (some of which could be re-routed 
from other ports) especially in the Roll-on Roll-off (Ro-Ro) market. 

Investment in the A46 corridor such as that proposed 
in the ‘illustrative strategy’ (see below) will transform 
the performance of the route in terms of its capacity 
to accommodate growth, and the speed and 
reliability of journeys. Doing so will create a new 
economic spine for the Midlands and UK supporting 
the productivity of businesses across the UK, 
supporting and enabling housing and jobs growth, 
and improving conditions for local communities 
(especially regarding air quality, severance and 
safety) and the environment. Without that 
investment, the performance of the route will decline, with consequent impacts on business performance 
and inward investment. 

As a new economic spine, the A46 can serve local, regional and long-distance users, wherever they live or 
work by enabling fast, reliable access to jobs, labour markets, and supply chains. At a national level, the A46 
could become an important national spine, proving much better connectivity between the South West, 
Midlands and east coast, critically offering a viable alternative to routes via the Birmingham Motorway Box 
which is critically congested. Improvements are needed on much of the corridor to achieve this, especially 
the section west of the M1. 

At a sub-regional level within the Midlands, an improved A46 will offer better, more reliable connectivity 
between our economic hubs (particularly Leicester/Coventry, Derby/Nottingham and 
Warwick/Leamington Spa), to Birmingham and East Midlands airports and the ports of Humberside and 
Bristol. The current poor performance of sections of the corridor hold back growth in our region and 
nationally by inhibiting the efficient movement of people and goods. 

The A46 also has an important role in supporting the 
local economies along its length, such as Lincoln and 
Evesham, by reducing the conflicts between local and 
longer-distance traffic and improving connectivity in 
a way which transforms the economic 
competitiveness of these locations. For example, a 
better A46 will provide the improved connectivity to 
make more peripheral land/premises more accessible 
and therefore viable; supporting profitability and 
helping to re-balance the economy (e.g. by 
broadening supply chains); widen markets and 

connect people to jobs. It can help those communities which have been left behind economically to become 
more attractive locations to invest and for the businesses in those locations to perform more strongly. 

85%
of businesses use the 
A46 for  long-distance 

journeys

Source: Midlands Connect A46 Corridor Busniess Survey 2018

71% of businesses 

think congestion on the 
A46 has significantly 

worsened in the last five 
years

Source: Midlands Connect A46 Corridor Business Survey 2018

92



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

14 

As the Transport Investment Strategy notes, there are few significant lateral (east-west) arteries across 
England. Ensuring that these routes perform to their highest potential is important for all users of the 
corridor, as well as those on alternative routes and in the economies and communities through which the 
A46 passes. Business as usual investment will over time remove bottlenecks and other barriers to growth, 
but potentially the scale of underlying growth in demand for travel will mean that overall conditions 
deteriorate further and the A46 remains a barrier to growth. Therefore, what is required to unlock this 
growth potential along the corridor is BAU+ investment which brings tangible and large-scale 
improvements in performance which enable this growth to materialise. 

2.4 Building a stronger, more balanced economy 

Historically the Midlands has lagged behind 
the UK in terms of productivity (GVA/head), 
as shown in Figure 2-2. The Government’s 
Industrial Strategy recognises the importance 
of reducing the productivity balance between 
the north and south of the UK as well as the 
gap to our G7 peers. 

Closing this gap is a key aim of Midlands 
Engine. Productivity in the A46 corridor is 
already slightly above the Midlands average, 
due to clusters of sectors such as advanced 
manufacturing and agri-food. These include 
the battery technology sector in Warwickshire, 
car manufacturing, Leamington’s ‘Silicon Spa’ 
and food production in Leicester. These 
sectors also have a high growth potential, 
meaning that the corridor has the potential to 
play an important role in closing the national 
and international productivity gaps; reducing the imbalance of economic prosperity between different parts 
of the UK. 

Performance and growth in these ‘SRN dependent’ sectors is heavily dependent on the SRN, meaning that 
an effective A46, with the capacity to accommodate future growth, will be critical to achieving these 
aspirations. As well as enabling businesses to perform more efficiently and attract investment, an improved 
A46 which connects economic hubs within the Midlands to each other and the rest of the UK will also 
support a stronger economy and enable further clustering of high-performing businesses. This includes 
providing reliable landside connections to ports and airports. 

An expressway standard A46 corridor between Tewkesbury and 
Leicester for example could enable average speeds of 60 mph. This 
would reduce journey times between the M5 J9 and M1 J21 by as much 
as 16 minutes and significantly reduce the variability of journey times by 
tackling pinch points and congestion. 

Similarly, whilst the majority of the A46 between the M1 (J21A) and the 
A1 at Newark is already built to expressway standard, the congestion 
hotspots on this section, in particular on the Leicester Northern Bypass, 
at Hobby Horse Interchange and at the junction with the A1 at Newark 
mean that the route is not attractive as it could be for inter-urban 
movements. Congestion on the M1 is forecast to worsen in the future 
meaning the A46 could provide an increasingly attractive alternative for 
inter-urban journeys if the pinch points are addressed. 

Figure 2-2: GVA/head by region (2015) Source: Office 

for National Statistics (ONS) 

 
 

£0

£10,000

£20,000

£30,000

£40,000

£50,000

“We experience daily delays 
along the A46 corridor, 
impacting on our ‘delivery 
on time’ targets, which in 
turn can drive inefficient 
routing, as the planners will 
plan to arrive on time but 
are unable to fill the vehicle 
due to driving time lost 
through delays”

Nisa Retail, Lincolnshire

93



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

15 

Investment in the A46 will also support urban networks to function more effectively by widening labour 
pools and increasing economic density, and reducing business costs. Where the A46 currently serves both a 
local and more strategic function (such as around Leicester and Coventry), improved performance on the 
A46 itself could enable local road networks to function more effectively by ensuring that strategic traffic is 
using the SRN, and that the SRN does not cause severance effects. 

Access to skilled labour is seen as an issue across 
the A46 corridor. In more peripheral areas such as 
Greater Lincolnshire, poorer connectivity makes 
commuting difficult and therefore, attracting 
labour from other areas is challenging. The A46 can 
play a key role in expanding the labour markets of 
the urban areas along the corridor. In high growth 
areas around Warwick, Coventry and Leicester the 
A46 is becoming increasingly important for local 
traffic and for accessing jobs in city centres and key 
Midlands Connect growth sites. Further, as 

population and housing spreads across a wider area people are using the A46 to commute longer distances 
to access jobs. This is a key issue for the A46 as it needs to serve the needs of both longer distance traffic 
and more local traffic.  

A significant number of key growth sites are located along the corridor. The largest tend to be in the central 
section (Warwick-Leicester) but smaller-scale growth is potentially transformational in other parts of the 
corridor too. At present, this growth is expected despite, rather than because of, the A46 because of the 
generally good connectivity to/from the Midlands. This is a corridor in which businesses want to locate, but 
current performance of the A46, as well as access to skilled labour, is a deterrent to investment. In fact, the 
A46 has been identified by many stakeholders as a potential brake on growth which must be overcome. 
Poor performance of the corridor is also impacting locational investment decisions as well as operational 
performance and profitability; for example, delay-affected access to the M5 at Ashchurch and the M69 at 
Hinckley is believed to be inhibiting investment. 

The A46 could also unlock growth in more peripheral areas in sectors which are more dependent on good 
connectivity but which may previously not have located there, e.g. wind turbine production in Lincolnshire. 
Whilst other locations may still have better connectivity, peripheral areas may have other locational 
advantages. 

2.5 Enhancing our global competitiveness 

At 22%, the share of production in the A46 corridor which is exported is significantly above the UK average 
of 15%. This reflects the importance of advanced manufacturing, aerospace and agri-food sectors in 
particular. To build and maintain successful international links to suppliers and markets, businesses are 
dependent on high quality, low-cost, reliable and frictionless ‘landside’ connections to international 
gateways. The A46 corridor provides these connections to East Midlands Airport, the UK’s busiest for 
dedicated air cargo, from the Midlands and beyond to the North East and South West. 

An improved A46 would 

make a significant 
improvement

in the productivity of 

42% of businesses

Source: Midlands Connect A46 Corridor Business Survey 2018

94



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

16 

The corridor is also ‘bookended’ by the 
ports of Bristol and Humberside with 
the A46 itself acting as an important 
‘commodity corridor’ linking our key 
manufacturing, agri-food and logistics 
sectors to ports. For example, in 2016, 
190,000 motor vehicles were exported 
via the Port of Bristol and a further 
250,000 via Immingham 3. 

The A46 has the potential to provide 
much greater quality of connectivity to 
these international gateways than it does 
at present and current performance is 
thought to act as a barrier to exporting. 
Investment in the A46 would reduce 
‘landside’ costs (which make up an 
increasingly large share of total 
international transport costs) and 
increase trade flows. There is potential 
for significant journey time reductions, 
particularly between the M5 and M40 but also between the M1 and A1 corridors. Further, unreliability of 
journey times in the corridor deters use by vehicles involved in just-in-time delivery systems which could 
be addressed by resolution of key pinch points. 

As a dominant importer and export area within the UK, the Midlands also has an important role in 
attracting overseas investment to the UK. As the Transport Investment Strategy notes, the quality of 
transport connections to ports and airports can determine whether businesses are able to effectively 
integrate their international operations and ultimately decide to invest here. Better accessibility to the Port 
of Bristol and Humber ports via the A46 will also help to sustain and grow the markets for these ports by 
attracting new business (some of which could be re-routed from other ports) especially in the Ro-Ro 
market. 

2.6 Supporting the creation of new housing 

The local authorities in the A46 corridor are working hard to identify housing needs in their areas and to 
work with the private sector to redress the significant national shortfall in house building. More homes are 
needed, in the right places, to meet demand, keep housing prices in check and to keep pace with the 
anticipated growth in jobs in the corridor. 

Official ONS projections are for the population of the A46 corridor to grow by 600,000 (over 10%) between 
2018 and 2041; an increase which would require an additional 250,000 homes (approximately 11,000 per 
annum). This level of growth is above the English average, and higher than any other region outside of the 
south of England. However, within the region, authorities are planning for much higher growth than these 
projections suggest, reflecting the growing economy and attractiveness of the Midlands as a place to invest. 

Collectively, the Local Plans of the 40 local planning authorities in the corridor aim to deliver around 
25,000 new homes per year (typically to 2031). At this rate, 575,000 new homes could be built in the corridor 
by 2041. Leicester and Leicestershire alone have identified a need for over 95,000 new homes between 2011 
and 2031 and a notional 90,000 between 2031 and 2050. These levels of growth would deliver significantly 
more housing than the ONS projections suggest and are more akin to growth rates in the South East of 
England. 

The expected intensity of new housing development is greatest in the central section of the corridor, 
particularly near Warwick, Coventry, Rugby, Nuneaton and Leicester where several large housing 
developments are planned or in train, as well as around Lincoln. Locally significant housing growth is also 
planned at Evesham, Newark and Gainsborough.  

                                                      
3 Source: DfT (2018) Transport Infrastructure for our Global Future – A Study of England’s Port Connectivity 

Figure 2-3: Value of exported goods and services as a 
proportion of total GVA, 2017 

 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

95



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

17 

The A46 can play an important role in providing 
connectivity between new housing development, jobs 
and services, and providing the necessary capacity, as 
well as ensuring that the needs of existing residents are 
also catered for. 

As set out in the Housing White Paper 4, providing 
transport infrastructure is one of the ‘keys to unlocking 
development’ by providing the necessary capacity for 
travel and to connect homes to jobs. The scale of 
strategic housing need described above means that the 

scale of investment in transport required to unlock it needs to be a step-change above current levels. 
Without these additional homes, in the right places, the number of jobs in the corridor, and the size of 
labour pools will be constrained. However, with investment, improved connectivity will expand labour 
pools, by bringing cheaper housing further from urban centres within viable commuting times. By enabling 
the right type of housing in the right locations (those connected to employment centres) businesses will 
have access to a wider pool of skilled labour. 

Better connectivity will also help to address shortages of skilled labour in many parts of the corridor, for 
example the agri-food and manufacturing sectors in Lincolnshire and Worcestershire. Better connectivity 
between homes and jobs enabled by the A46 will help to reduce these skills shortages, especially in more 
peripheral areas. 

Multi-modal approaches are required, but inevitably additional road capacity will be needed to unlock 
housing sites to meet long-term strategic housing needs. This is especially true in the high pressure central 
part of the corridor where high levels of congestion and lack of road capacity are already constraining 
housing growth. A better-performing A46 would also ‘spread the load’ of commuting journeys on the road 
network (such as the M40 and M1) by enabling a more diverse pattern of commuting. 

2.7 Appraisal of the ‘illustrative package’ 

 Introduction 

An ‘illustrative package’ of options has been modelled and appraised to give an indication of the potential 
costs and benefits of significant investment in the A46 corridor which brings most of the route to 
expressway standard. 

The package as tested is shown in Figure 2-4. The Project Board selected these options on the basis that 
they represented the maximum likely level of investment in the corridor. The figure also shows the schemes 
assumed to be in the ’do minimum’ scenario, i.e. those assumed to be in place before the illustrative 
package. It is this ‘do minimum’ that the package is compared against. The ‘do minimum’ scenario includes 
some schemes which are not yet committed but which the Project Board see as a necessary precursor to the 
illustrative package. These are: 

• Binley and Walsgrave junction improvements east of Coventry; 

• A5 Dodswell – Longshoot widening; and 

• Newark Northern Bypass and junctions including A1, A46 and A17. 

The key elements of the illustrative package are: 

• offline bypasses of Ashchurch, Beckford and Evesham and other improvements to provide a high 
quality dual carriageway standard between the M5 and M40; 

• junction improvements at Thickthorn, Stivichall and M6 J2; 

• a new Leicester Eastern/Southern Bypass, including a link from M69 J2 and a new M1 J20A; 

• junction improvements between the A1 and Lincoln to provide grade separation; 

• a southern bypass of Lincoln, connecting to the under construction eastern bypass; and 

• targeted improvements on the A15 north of Lincoln. 

                                                      
4 HCLG (2017) Fixing our Broken Housing Market 

25,000 new 

homes are expected 
each year in the 

corridor

575,000 new 

homes could be built 
by 2041

96



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

18 

These components would be delivered in a phased programme over approximately 20 years (for the 
purposes of the appraisal scheme opening years are assumed to be 2031 to emphasise the benefits of an 
accelerated delivery programme).  

 

97



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

19 

Figure 2-4: ‘Illustrative package’ 

Coventry

Lincoln

Nottingham

Leicester

Gloucester

Evesham

Newark

Worcester

A46

A46

M69

A46

A46

M5

M50
M40

A45

2

M1

A5

1M6

A422
7

A44

21

A1

A15

M180

5

A15

A63
A1033

A164

Grimsby

A180

A46

A1173

A18

Market Rasen

4

A631

Kingston-
upon-Hull

Stratford-on-
Avon

19

Warwick

Ashchurch & 
Beckford 

bypasses

Stivichall 
junction 

improvements

M6 J2 
improvements

9

Evesham 
eastern 

bypass

Alcester-
Warwick 

expressway

20a

Leicester southern / 
eastern bypass

Salford Priors 
improvements

Longbridge Island 
improvements

15

Widening M40 –
Leek Wootton

Thickthorn junction 
improvements

19

21a

M1 J19-23A 
smart motorway

Newark-Lincoln 
expressway 

(junctions)

Lincoln bypass 
expressway (to A158)

Lincoln southern 
bypass

A15 targeted 
improvements

Lincoln eastern 
bypass (DM)

Newark northern 
bypass (DM)

A5 Dodwell –
Longshoot 

widening (DM)

Binley & Walsgrave 
junction improvements (DM

Stanks interchange 
improvements (DM)

Stoneleigh junction 
improvements (DM)

Key

Motorway
‘A’ road (SRN)
‘A’ road (other)
Online improvement
Offline improvement

‘Do minimum schemes shown in grey

98



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

20 
 

 Traffic impacts 

Figure 2-5 shows the forecast change in traffic flow between the ‘do minimum’ and illustrative package 
scenarios in the 2031 morning peak (average hour) for the central part of the corridor. No additional travel 
demand has been included, meaning the effects shown are due purely to re-routing of trips. The improved 
A46 corridor in the illustrative package has the effect of drawing traffic from other routes. This includes re-
routing of traffic: 

• from the M5/M42/M6 between the M5 and M40 corridors; 

• from the M42/A42, A14/A43, and A4304/A427 (north of the A14) between the M40 and M1 corridors; 
and 

• from the A1 corridor south of Newark (as the M1/A46 route becomes more attractive). 

These impacts are supportive of the strategic case for investment, particularly the national objective of 
providing a reliable alternative to other parts of the SRN, notably the Birmingham Motorway Box; and the 
sub-regional objectives of improving connectivity between the economic hubs and to/from the rest of the 
UK, including international gateways. 

Figure 2-5: Impact of A46 illustrative Package on traffic flow, average morning peak hour 2031 

 
Blue bars indicate a reduction in traffic, green bars represent an increase in traffic compared to the ‘do-minimum’ 

Other notable effects are: 

• increases in traffic along much of the corridor as it becomes more attractive (for example around 
Stratford-upon-Avon and Coventry, on the M69 and between Leicester and Newark; 

• significant reductions in traffic on the M1 and Leicester Western Bypass as a result of the Leicester 
South Eastern Bypass; 

• increased traffic on the A47 between the Leicester South Eastern Bypass and the A1 at Peterborough; 

• re-routing of traffic to/from Nottingham from the M1/A453 to the A46; and 

• localised re-routing around Lincoln reflecting completion of ring road. 

These re-routing effects are forecast to lead to reductions in delays on those routes from which traffic has 
been reduced, most notably the M5 (J9-J4A), M42 (M5 to M40), M6 (Coventry to M1), M1 (J121-21A), A14 
(M1/M6 to Kettering) and the A46 Leicester Western Bypass. Reduced delays at junctions are also forecast 
to be particularly high in the Leicester, Newark and Lincoln areas. Where traffic volumes increase (such as 
around Coventry and on the A47 between Leicester and Peterborough) further investment may be required. 

Leicester

Coventry

Newark

Birmingham

A1

Northampton
M5

A47

99



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

21 
 

 Economic appraisal summary 

The illustrative package is estimated to generate £3.8 billion net present value (NPV) of traditional 
economic benefits (discounted to 2010 prices and values) over the 60-year appraisal period. Of these 
benefits, over £3.6 billion are travel time savings, the remainder being vehicle operating cost savings. 

This initial appraisal does not include benefits arising from reduced variability of journey times as a result 
of less recurring congestion. Given that poor reliability is a key issue particularly in the southern half of the 
corridor, these benefits could be significant. The appraisal does not include quantified accident benefits. 

The illustrative package is forecast to generate additional ‘wider economic benefits’ arising from static 
agglomeration impacts whereby improved connectivity between businesses results in improved 
productivity. These benefits are forecast to be £120 million per annum in 2031 rising to £420 million per 
annum in 2041. Figure 2-6 shows the distribution of these benefits, and the changes in effective 
employment density forecast to arise from the illustrative package. The zones with high forecast 
agglomeration therefore tend to be those forecast to experience high increases in the Effective Density (e.g. 
Harborough area), or have large quantum of employment (e.g. Leicester).  

The discounted NPV over 60 years of the wider economic benefits is £3.3 billion. Additional benefits to the 
‘real economy’, for example those relating to absolute growth in the number of jobs, have not been 
estimated at this time. The approach to estimation of WEBs, and a fuller description of the results, is 
provided in Appendix B.  

 

Figure 2-6: Agglomeration benefits of illustrative package and change in effective densities 

 

100



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

22 
 

3. Priority sections for investment 

3.1 Introduction 

This chapter describes the strategic case for investment for different sections of the corridor. By identifying 
where the case for investment is strongest against each of the agreed outcome objectives, the locations 
which are the priorities for investment have been identified. 

 Priority locations for investment 

Table 3-1 below sets out which areas or sections are the priority areas for investment based on how well 
they support the outcome objectives for the A46 study. Linked to the overarching rationale for investment 
in the corridor detailed above a selection of more detailed evidence is included. An evidence source is also 
provided to ensure the recommendation is linked to findings from the study or from other relevant 
commissions. 

Table 3-1: Identification of priority locations for investment 

Spatial 
level 

Outcome 
objective 

Location(s) 
demonstrating 
the strongest 
strategic case 
for this 
objective 

Key points 

National Providing a 
viable 
alternative to 
the SRN 

M5 (Ashchurch) 
– M6 (Coventry)  

The Birmingham motorway box is underperforming 
and strategic alternatives are required (Source: Long-
Term Midlands Motorway Hub Study). 

There is potential for improved agglomeration across 
industry sectors such as automotive and aerospace 
which requires better links between the South-West 
and the Midlands. 

Achieving the Conditional Outputs in this section 
could see a 28% (13 minute) reduction on a weekday 
journey at 9am.  

Journey times between M5 J9 (Tewkesbury) and M1 J21 
(Leicester) are comparable in the peak, and 7 minutes 
shorter via the A46 than via the M5/M42/M6, but only 
10% of trips use the A46 due to poor reliability. 

Interviews with businesses and freight industry has 
verified that businesses do not view the A46 as a viable 
route due to unreliability of the corridor. 

M40 (Warwick) 
– M1 (Leicester) 

Inrix O/D data show that the A46 is used by vehicles to 
access the M40 (for south coast ports) from the 
Leicester area and beyond to the North-East.   

Tackling hotspots at Leicester and Coventry could help 
to facilitate greater use of the M40 and assist 
congestion on the M1. 

M1 (Leicester) – 
A1 (Newark) 

Inrix O/D data analysis shows this section is already 
being used by strategic east-west traffic but is 
constrained by poor performance in the Leicester area 
including Hobby Horse and Leicester Western Bypass  

The route has the potential to support travel to/from 
the Nottingham area which could relieve the M1 and 
the A52 in Nottingham. 

101



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

23 
 

Spatial 
level 

Outcome 
objective 

Location(s) 
demonstrating 
the strongest 
strategic case 
for this 
objective 

Key points 

Minimise 
greenhouse 
gas emissions 
from traffic 

Whole A46 
corridor 
including A15 

Strategic highway investment may result in a mode 
shift where improved traffic flow makes driving 
relatively more attractive than public transport, 
destinations change where higher road speeds allow 
drivers to choose more distant destinations than 
before, or more trips where higher road speeds mean 
drivers make additional trips. Consequently, 
investment may generate traffic in the medium to 
long-term and result in an absolute increase in 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions. This will need to be 
monitored and evaluated with each scheme on the 
corridor and give recognition to the role of new 
technologies as they emerge. 

Sub-
regional 

Inter- hub 
connectivity 
(journey times 
and reliability) 

Warwick – 
Coventry – 
Leicester – 
Nottingham 

There is less economic interaction than would be 
expected between cities the size of Coventry, Leicester 
and Nottingham.  

Investment would support agglomeration between 
these centres and complement SRN-dependent 
industries such as advanced manufacturing. It would 
also improve access to labour markets in these centres, 
and Birmingham. 

Analysis also shows the importance of agglomeration 
benefits to also support growth around Coventry. 

The presence of multiple bottlenecks at Coventry, 
Leicester and Newark, and high traffic flow, means this 
area has the highest level of aggregate delay in the 
corridor.  

Is an important area for the agri-food sector and for 
distribution of products and access to markets.  

Connections 
to the UK and 
international 
gateways 
(journey times 
and reliability) 

 

Whole A46 
corridor 
including A15 

Important role of ‘commodity corridors’ linking key 
industrial sectors to ports. E.g. Bristol exported 190,000 
vehicles whilst Immingham exported 250,000 vehicles 
in 2016 which highlights the role both ports play for 
the automotive cluster (Source: The DfT Study 
‘Transport Infrastructure for our Global Future – A 
Study of England’s Port Connectivity’) 

22% of goods and services are exported from the A46 
corridor. A large exporter driven by internationally 
significant sectors including aerospace and automotive. 

Initial report analysis and business interviews has 
highlighted that advanced manufacturing clusters in 
the central part of the corridor need efficient access to 
the ports to export their goods. 

48% of food in the UK was imported in 2015 whilst UK 
food and drink exports were around £20.1 billion in 
2016. Ports support the sector in a number of ways 
including roll-on roll-off (Ro-Ro) ferry services 
providing swift links to continental Europe for imports 

102



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

24 
 

Spatial 
level 

Outcome 
objective 

Location(s) 
demonstrating 
the strongest 
strategic case 
for this 
objective 

Key points 

of fresh fruit and vegetables which in turn are 
transported to distribution hubs such as those located 
in the East Midlands.  

Likewise, food produced in Worcestershire and 
Lincolnshire needs swift and efficient access to the 
ports for exporting produce. This will become 
increasingly important post-Brexit. 

Improved access and journey times to/from the 
Humber ports is critical for growth in these ports and 
for productivity gains in sectors involved in importing 
and exporting goods and services.  

 Strategic 
employment 
growth sites 

Warwick - 
Coventry – M1 
(Leicester) 

This section plays a key role connecting a series of 
Midlands Connect Strategic Growth sites including UK 
Central (including Birmingham Airport and the HS2 
Birmingham Interchange Station), Tournament Fields 
(Warwick), Ansty Park, Friargate, Whitley Business 
Park, Whitley South (Coventry) Horiba-MIRA and the 
Leicester Urban Area. Total of over 175k jobs. 

Connectivity to the Midland’s airports is a key factor 
for the high number of exporting industries and 
businesses located around this section, critical for 
trade and investment. (Exporting activities are 
particularly important to economies of Derby, 
Coventry and Hull).   

UK Central, HS2 Interchange station and Birmingham 
Airport will act as an international growth hub driving 
economic growth across the UK. 

Newark & 
Nottinghamshire 

The Newark and wider Nottinghamshire area contains 
a series of Midlands Connect Growth Sites including 
Newark Futures and A46 Corridor Sites. Total of circa 
4,500 jobs 

Lincoln The Lincoln area contains a series of Midlands Connect 
Growth Sites including Hemswell Cliff, Lincoln Science 
and Innovation Park and Teal Park – North Hykeham. 
Over 4000 jobs to be created across these sites. 

This is an important area for the agri-food sector and 
for distribution of products and access to markets. 
Lincolnshire is also an important location for freight 
and distribution as well as food production. 

Improved connectivity will make more peripheral 
(cheaper) land/premises more accessible and therefore 
viable – supporting profitability and helping to re-
balance the economy. 

Coventry – 
Leicester 

Up to 100,000 new homes in Leicestershire by 2031 and 
notionally a further 90,000 by 2050 (Source: Leicester 
and Leicestershire draft Strategic Growth Plan). 

103



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

25 
 

Spatial 
level 

Outcome 
objective 

Location(s) 
demonstrating 
the strongest 
strategic case 
for this 
objective 

Key points 

Strategic 
housing 
growth sites 

Additional capacity is required to realise the expected 
housing growth in the greater Leicester area. 

This section also includes plans for strategic housing 
sites east of Hinckley and a range of sites across 
Coventry including Keresley SUE and long-term 
ambitions to deliver housing growth to the south and 
east of the city. 

Newark & 
Nottinghamshire 

The Newark and wider Nottinghamshire/Nottingham 
city area contains a series of strategic housing sites 
including Newark Futures, A46 Corridor Sites and 
locations to the East of Nottingham including Gamston 
and Waterside. A total of 16,500 homes planned for 
delivery. 

Lincoln Inrix analysis has highlighted that Lincoln suffers from 
speed and reliability issues.  

Plans for housing and employment growth at Lincoln 
including the four proposed Sustainable Urban 
Extensions could be constrained without intervention. 
A total of 13,167 dwellings are proposed for the Lincoln 
Urban area within the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

Local Local growth 
sites 

Ashchurch Inrix analysis has highlighted that Ashchurch suffers 
from speed and reliability issues.  

Plans for housing and employment growth at M5 J9 
could be constrained without intervention. 

Business interviews have highlighted the importance of 
good connectivity to the SRN to ensure the swift 
movement of goods and services. 

This area experiences a mixture of both strategic and 
local traffic which constrains the movement of both 
requirements.  

Evesham INRIX analysis has highlighted that Evesham suffers 
from speed and reliability issues caused by the multiple 
roundabouts on the Evesham bypass.  

Evesham is an important location for freight and 
distribution as well as food production. 

Plans for housing and employment growth at Vale Park 
could be constrained without intervention. 

Business interviews have highlighted the importance of 
good connectivity to the SRN to ensure the swift 
movement of goods and services. 

This area experiences a mixture of both strategic and 
local traffic which constrains the movement of both 
requirements. 

Stratford Plans for housing and employment growth at Stratford 
and Long Marston could be constrained without 
intervention. 

104



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

26 
 

Spatial 
level 

Outcome 
objective 

Location(s) 
demonstrating 
the strongest 
strategic case 
for this 
objective 

Key points 

Inrix analysis has highlighted that Evesham suffers 
from speed and reliability issues caused by the 
roundabouts near Stratford.  

  Warwick Plans for housing and employment growth at The 
Asps, Harbury Lane and Thickthorn could be 
constrained without intervention. 

Delays in this area are mainly on the roundabouts at 
the grade separated junctions at the interchange with 
the A46 which can queue back onto the main A46 
carriageway 

Humber Ports Plans for housing and employment growth in the 
Humber area including Hull, Lincolnshire Lakes 
(Scunthorpe), ABLE Marine Park and Grimsby could be 
constrained without intervention. 

Community 
Impacts 

Ashchurch – 
Stratford, 
Newark and 
Lincoln 

Interventions would help to minimise the negative 
impacts of the road corridor on communities in each of 
these areas by improving safety, reducing noise and 
severance whilst also helping local communities to 
access local services by reducing conflict with strategic 
traffic.  

Environmental 
Impacts 

Stratford, 
Coventry, 
Leicester, 
Lincoln 

Air Quality Management Areas are located at each of 
these locations and therefore any increases in vehicle 
emissions would need to be managed and mitigated as 
a consequence of any intervention being progressed. 

All sources this study unless shown. 

Figure 3-1 shows diagrammatically these locations. This supports initial assertions that the role and 
function of the corridor is complicated and serves multiple needs and requirements across the spatial 
spectrum from national to local level.  

105



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

27 
 

Figure 3-1: Priority locations for investment 

 

Based on this analysis, the priority areas for investment and the rationale for this conclusion are 
summarised in Figure 3-1 below: 

Table 3-1: Key areas of focus for the A46 Corridor  

Location Rationale for investment 

Ashchurch • Housing and job creation around Ashchurch area and M5 J9 is likely to be 
constrained without investment 

• Existing alignment is constrained by frontages and existing communities  

• Inrix analysis and business interviews has highlighted that delays and reliability 
need to be tackled in this section to provide a viable alternative route to 
M5/M42/M6 and support better South West – Midlands connectivity. 

Evesham • Housing and job creation around Evesham area including Vale Park is likely to 
be constrained without investment 

• Upgrading the existing alignment is constrained by frontages, rail and river 
bridges whilst the roundabouts on the existing Evesham bypass present multiple 
challenges to journey speed and reliability 

• Inrix analysis and business interviews has highlighted that delays and reliability 
need to be tackled in this section to provide a viable alternative route to 
M5/M42/M6 and support better South West – Midlands connectivity. 

Stratford • Housing and job creation around Stratford area is likely to be constrained 
without investment including Long Marston. 

• Existing alignment is constrained by proximity to rail alignment into Stratford. 

• Inrix analysis and business interviews has highlighted that delays and reliability 
need to be tackled in this section to provide a viable alternative route to 
M5/M42/M6 and support better South West – Midlands connectivity. 

M
5

W
arw

ick
M

4
0

M
6

M
1

A
1

N
ew

ark

Lin
co

ln

H
u

m
b

ersid
e

A46 M69A46 M1/A46 A46 A46 A15

National objectives
Viable alternative routes

Minimise GHGs
Sub-regional objectives

Connectivity between hubs
Connectivity to rest of UK

Strategic employment sites
Strategic housing sites

Local objectives
Local employment & housing sites
Negative impacts on communities

Negative impacts on the environment
C

o
ve

n
try

Le
ice

ste
r

Stratfo
rd

H
o

b
b

y H
o

rse
A

607

H
in

ckley

A
sh

ch
u

rch

Evesh
am

106



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

28 
 

Location Rationale for investment 

Coventry • Substantial housing and job creation expected around Coventry and Warwick 
area including Whitley Business Park, UK Central, Tournament Fields and the 
National Battery Centre. 

• Existing traffic flow is some of the highest in the corridor with the 
Volume:Capacity Ratio (VCR) exceeding 85% at the Binley and Walsgrave 
junctions . Additional investment in the corridor could trigger the need for 
further investment to accommodate additional demand. 

• Inrix data has highlighted the importance of tackling congestion and delay at 
Binley and Walsgrave to support strategic growth in this section   

Leicester • Substantial housing and job creation expected in the Leicester and Leicestershire 
area as detailed in the draft Strategic Growth Plan. 

• The Leicester area has the highest traffic flow in the corridor with the section 
between the M1 and Hobby Horse exceeding 85% VCR.  

• The Inrix analysis has highlighted that the Leicester area has four of the top 10 
pinchpoints in the corridor including the M69/M1 interchange, M1 J21-21A, 
Leicester Western bypass and Hobby Horse interchange. 

Newark • Housing and job creation around Newark area is likely to be constrained without 
investment including Newark Futures. 

• Need to improve and strengthen links between Lincoln, Newark and Leicester to 
grow labour markets and increase agglomeration. 

• Inrix data has highlighted the importance of tackling congestion at Newark as 
this is second worst performing hotspot in the corridor.  

• Existing alignment is constrained by proximity to East Coast Main Line, River 
Trent and A1. 

Lincoln • Plans for housing and employment growth at Lincoln including the four 
proposed Sustainable Urban Extensions could be constrained without 
intervention. 

• The Lincoln bypass has a VCR which exceeds 85% due to the single carriageway 
standard, at grade junctions and relatively high traffic volumes driven not just by 
the A46 corridor but demand across the wider Lincolnshire area. 

• Improving access from the Greater Lincolnshire area to the Humber Ports and 
the A1 is an important driver for key industries in the area such as agriculture, 
logistics and advanced manufacturing 

107



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

29 
 

4. Recommendations for next steps 

4.1 Introduction 

This chapter sets out recommendations for future A46 Studies and associated Midlands Connect activities 
which could accompany further study work. It should be noted that this does not refer to delivery priorities 
as the timescales for these and the case for delivery will be dependent on a range of wider considerations 
than those detailed in this report or covered by this study. 

In agreeing the priorities for future work, the following decision areas need to be considered: 

• the need to tackle current delay and issues of reliability on the A46 to support short term and longer-
term growth;  

• option deliverability including engineering and perceived political constraints;  

• future ambitions for growth and the Strategic Case for investment – this includes an understanding 
of the housing and employment opportunities in each part of the corridor and the level of jobs 
expected to be created in SRN dependent sectors; 

• planned investment; 

• funding opportunities– need to align future work with opportunities for funding from developers, 
Highways England, LEPs and Local Authorities; and 

• environmental constraints e.g. Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs). 

4.2 Priorities for A46 Studies  

The section below sets out the recommended priorities for future A46 studies and associated Midlands 
Connect activity which would enable the A46 Corridor Strategy to be progressed. The second phase of the 
A46 study has a finite amount of resource. Therefore, the priorities for action detailed below (in order of 
need) are based on where the greatest requirement for Midlands Connect intervention is needed to help 
mobilise scheme development and secure the progression of schemes and solutions to the challenges of the 
A46.  

Following the activities described below Midlands Connect intends to draw the findings together to 
determine an overall investment plan for the corridor and priorities for investment. 

The Five Stage Business Case model requires the completion of the Financial, Management and 
Commercial Case. This business case model is more usually applied to a single scheme or programme, 
rather than a package of interventions. The intervention is therefore typically at a more advanced level of 
development than is the case for the components of the illustrative strategy. The next stages of the study 
will therefore need to consider the development of these three elements of the business case model whilst 
also recognising key interfaces with the strategic highway scheme development and funding process 
managed by Highways England. Issues to consider across the corridor include: 

• links with the Major Road Network (MRN) development process and other emerging funding 
opportunities – this is of particular importance to the A15 section of the corridor (north of Lincoln) 
which has been identified as a potential MRN route; 

• Highways England’s RIS process and Project Control Framework – scheme development timelines 
will need to develop and integrate with the RIS process and ensure that individual options are 
developed in line with the PCF process to ensure funding is secured; 

• development of the commercial case to set out scheme commercial viability;  

• development of the financial case to show that the scheme is affordable; and  

• development of the management case to describing how the investment will be delivered.  

Specific points related to individual sections of the corridor recommended for development progression are 
detailed below. Figure 4-1 below sets out an indicative development and delivery programme based on the 
illustrative strategy to highlight how the proposed next steps link into the Highways England planning and 
delivery process for RIS.

108



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

30 

 Tewkesbury (M5 J9) – Warwick (M40 J15) 

This section has the greatest number of challenges to overcome in order to achieve the Midlands Connect 
Conditional Outputs. Delivering a range of interventions at locations such as Ashchurch, Evesham and 
Stratford could help to see a 28% (13 minute) reduction in journey time on a weekday journey at 9am. This 
would help to strengthen the clustering and agglomeration effect for key industries such as automotive and 
aerospace which have strong connections with both the South West and Midlands. In addition to this 
strategic impact, investment in this section would help to support and unlock employment and housing 
opportunities at locations such as M5 J9 at Ashchurch, Vale Park at Evesham and the Stratford area. In 
delivering any solutions going forward balancing both strategic and local movements will be a key 
consideration. 

Enhancing this section has strong political support, including from the A46 Partnership, and the wider 
economic narrative for improving this section has been advanced as part of the A46 Strategy development 
process. Business engagement has also highlighted that demand amongst businesses to locate to the area is 
strong but any further decline in journey times and reliability could make business reconsider. Delivering a 
strong Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) for options in this section based on traditional time savings is a challenge 
given the current level of demand and traffic flow in the corridor. The need to grow and strengthen the 
strategic case for investment including the wider economic benefits will be imperative to securing the level 
of investment needed in this section. 

Further work is now required to develop further the nature of the proposed improvements in this section, 
and their business case. Further work should: 

• develop a clear view of the medium and long-term ambitions for jobs and housing growth based on 
close collaboration with the local planning authorities and LEPs; 

• undertake further business research to establish the extent congestion and reliability issues could 
influence their business investment decisions; 

• using the above and other additional evidence to develop further the strategic case for investing in 
this section; 

• ensure all stakeholders have been identified and engaged, and all relevant study outputs and 
evidence has been collated; 

• engage with Highways England to understand the work which has begun on investigating options for 
improvements on the A46 at Ashchurch and between Alcester and Stratford; 

• undertake more detailed investigation of design options and routing for improvements at Ashchurch, 
Beckford and Evesham, and other required interventions, in collaboration with the local authorities 
and Highways England; 

• develop a preferred package of investment for this section, reflecting the Highways England work 
and outcome of the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) bidding process; 

• develop a five-case business case for the preferred package, including a strong narrative about 
transformational impacts on the economy and wider benefits; 

• assessment of dynamic WEBs to understand impact of improvements and associated economic 
benefits further; and 

• develop a prioritised investment plan including approach to funding and financing (the latter 
building on initial work being undertaken by Midlands Connect). 

 Leicester area 

The draft Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan5 sets out a clear role for the A46 corridor in 
helping to realise the level of housing and employment growth forecast in the short, medium and long 
term. Tackling the congestion hotspots in this area would represent a significant step forward in realising 
the strong strategic case for investment and ultimately helping to facilitate better connections between the 
Midlands, South West and North-East.  

                                                      
5 The plan, prepared by the nine local authorities in the area and the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise 
Partnership, sets housing and employment growth levels to 2050 

109



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

31 

A number of options are available in order to address these issues including a proposed southern/eastern 
bypass, M1 Smart Motorway, upgrading Leicester Western bypass and Hobby Horse interchange at Syston. 
Whilst each of the options have their various merits the next stage of work would need to develop a clear 
position on the inter-relationship between the options and the best combination to deliver the national, 
sub-regional and local objectives of the A46 corridor and the Leicester/Leicestershire area.   

Further work is now required to develop a clear strategy and investment plan for the Leicester area. This 
work should: 

• engage with Highways England to understand the work which has begun on investigating options for 
improvements to Hobby Horse interchange, and progress on the M1 J19-23A Smart Motorway scheme 
(including J21 and J20A issues); 

• building on work already undertaken by Leicestershire CC, and paying regard to the findings of this 
study and HE’s ongoing work, develop a delivery strategy of local, sub-regional and national 
objectives for the A46 corridor in this area (based on incremental and decremental modelling and 
testing of options for the southern/eastern bypass, Western bypass upgrade, Hobby horse upgrade 
and M1 smart motorway (including M1 J21)); 

• undertake more detailed investigation of design options and routing for the preferred strategy in 
collaboration with Highways England; 

• develop a five-case business case for the preferred package, including a strong narrative about 
transformational impacts at a sub-regional/national level as well as locally; 

• develop a prioritised investment plan including approach to funding and financing (the latter 
building on initial work being undertaken by Midlands Connect). 

 Lincoln area 

The A46 corridor study has highlighted the constraint Lincoln bypass places not only on the A46 corridor 
but also the wider Lincolnshire area including access to the Lincolnshire coast which is integral to the 
tourism sector in the area. The strategic case for investment in the Lincoln area including the completion of 
the Eastern bypass and establishing the case and funding for the Southern bypass is predicated on the area ’s 
ambitions for growth and the delivery of housing and employment opportunities linked to both of these 
schemes. 

Whilst the evidence suggests the majority of strategic traffic in this section uses the M1/M18/M180 corridor 
to access the Humber Ports, the work to date has highlighted the importance of supporting   Greater 
Lincolnshire business links in sectors such as logistics, advanced manufacturing and food production so 
that opportunities in the Humber (including the ports) and Scunthorpe area are available and accessible to 
the wider Lincolnshire area.  Integral to this link will be the future role of the A15. Whilst the Illustrative 
Strategy has included targeted improvements to the A15 it has been noted that the route forms part of the 
proposed Major Road Network (MRN) and could therefore play a greater role going forward and look to 
attract further investment. This could ultimately lead to the route achieving expressway standard in the 
longer term should demand and the case grow. 

Further work is now required to agree an investment strategy for the greater Lincoln area, recognising the 
role of the A46 and other roads in supporting local and sub-regional economies. This work should: 

• develop a clear view of the medium and long-term ambitions for jobs and housing growth in 
Lincolnshire and south Humberside based on close collaboration with the local planning authorities 
and the Greater Lincolnshire LEP; 

• ensure all stakeholders have been identified and engaged, and all relevant study outputs and 
evidence has been collated (better representation from the Humberside area would be beneficial); 

• undertake further business research to establish the extent congestion and reliability issues could 
influence their business investment decisions (this could include discussions with potential 
developers); 

• consider further the future of the Humberside ports and how the potential role of the A46/A15 
corridor in this future, particularly in the context of supporting the Lincolnshire economy; 

• using the above and other additional evidence, further the strategic case for investing in the network 
around Lincoln and between Lincoln and Humberside (at local and sub-regional level); 

110



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

32 

• building on work already undertaken by Lincolnshire CC (e.g. on costal highways), and paying regard 
to the findings of this study and the Midlands Connect MRN proposals, develop a delivery strategy of 
local and sub-regional objectives for the A46/A15 corridor in this area (based on incremental and 
decremental modelling and testing of options for the northern and southern bypasses and A15 
improvements); 

• undertake more detailed investigation of design options and routings for the preferred strategy; 

• develop a five-case business case for the preferred package, including a strong narrative about 
transformational impacts at a sub-regional level as well as locally; and 

• develop a prioritised investment plan including approach to funding and financing (the latter 
building on initial work being undertaken by Midlands Connect). 

 Newark area 

The A46 study has highlighted the growth potential for the Newark area and level of constraint which is 
currently evident due to the congestion caused at Newark. Overcoming this hotspot will make a significant 
contribution in locking in the benefits of previous upgrades to the A46 in this section and help to provide 
an effective link between the M1 and A1 (in conjunction with solutions at Leicester). Tackling congestion 
here will also help to strengthen links from the Lincoln area to Newark and beyond and go some way in 
helping to overcome the challenges of peripherality experienced in this area and to the north-east.  

The issues caused by congestion has been recognised by Highways England which is currently developing a 
scheme in the Newark area for possible delivery in RIS 2 (subject to appropriate work on establishing Value 
for Money (VfM)). However, there are a series of challenges which need to be overcome including 
engineering constraints associated with the East Coast Main Line, River Trent and A1. Whilst it has been 
assumed within the Illustrative Strategy that the scheme at Newark will be progressed and therefore 
included in the Do-Minimum there is a risk that an optimum solution is not found. Therefore, it is 
recommended that Midlands Connect and partners should:  

• maintain political momentum for delivery of Newark bypass in RIS2; 

• ensure all interested stakeholders are identified and their support secured; 

• engage with Highways England to enhance the strategic case, focussing on benefits outside the 
immediate vicinity of the scheme (e.g. the role of the junction in providing a gateway to Lincoln, and 
the importance of the junction as part of a much more strategically important A46 corridor). 

 Coventry, Warwick and Leamington Spa area 

The strategic case for investment in the Coventry, Warwick and Leamington Spa area is strong given the 
level of growth which is forecast to take place in the area, the arrival of HS2 and the level of demand which 
is already prevalent in this section. The Inrix analysis has highlighted the importance of tackling the 
congestion hotspots at Binley and Walsgrave which are being developed by Highways England in RIS1 and 
optimised for delivery in RIS2. The A46 Partnership has also highlighted the importance of this investment 
taking place along with the completion of various junction upgrades at Stoneleigh, Thickthorn and Stanks 
which should aid traffic flow on the roundabouts at these locations and prevent queueing back onto the 
main A46 carriageway in these locations. Given the level of development of schemes in this area it is 
recommended that Midlands Connect keep abreast of Highways England’s work in delivering Binley and 
Walsgrave. The evolution of scheme progress in the sections to the south and north of Coventry should also 
be monitored. This could result in additional traffic flow in this section should an increase in demand for 
the corridor as a whole occur. Should this arise the case for accelerating further development work may be 
needed. 

Therefore, it is recommended that Midlands Connect, and its partners: 

• maintain political momentum for delivery of RIS schemes on the Coventry Eastern bypass 
(Walsgrave and Binley junction improvements); 

• support Highways England in making the case for these schemes by contributing to the strategic case 
for investment based on local, sub-regional and national objectives (including the case for 
accelerating investment); 

• ensure all interested stakeholders are identified and their support secured; 

111



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

33 

• maintain close contact with Highways England to keep abreast of developments in the corridor; 

• ensure that the potential impacts in this area of investment elsewhere in the A46 corridor (as 
identified in the other studies described above), are fully understood; 

• consider further improvements in this section of the A46 corridor based on the above, and as part of 
a corridor-wide prioritised investment programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

112



                         Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018 
 

34 

 

 

Appendix A: Stakeholders 

Table A-1: Stakeholder organisations participating in this study 

Local Enterprise Partnerships Businesses and industry groups 

Gloucestershire LEP Stoneleigh Park Estate 

Leicester and Leicestershire LEP FCC Environment 

Greater Lincolnshire LEP AB Ports 

Humber LEP Nisa Retail 

Local authorities Vehicle Manufacturer Coventry 

Gloucestershire County Council Prima Fruits UK 

Tewkesbury Borough Council Road Haulage Association (RHA) 

Worcestershire County Council Freight Transport Association (FTA) 

Wychavon District Council Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport (CILT) 

Warwickshire County Council Ashchurch Business Centre 

Stratford District Council Third Party Logistics Provider Leicestershire 
(anonymous) 

Coventry City Council Grimsby Shipyard Services 

Leicestershire County Council Karn Dean Design Flooring 

Leicester City Council Ansty Park 

Rutland County Council Retail Outlet Warwickshire (anonymous) 

Nottinghamshire County Council Total UK Limited 

Nottingham City Council  

Lincolnshire County Council  

North Lincolnshire Council  

North East Lincolnshire Council  

113



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Appendix B: Wider economic benefits calculation 

Introduction 

This appendix presents the estimated agglomeration benefits for the Illustrative Strategy, and describes 
how those benefits were derived. The forecast results are tabulated and also visualised in order to 
provide better information on the spatial distribution of the estimated agglomeration benefits, with 
cross reference to the characteristics of individual geographical areas where appropriate. 

Agglomeration is the concentration of economic activity over an area. The concept of agglomeration 
economies describes the benefits that arise from the proximity of firms and people in cities and 
industrial clusters.  There is sufficient macroeconomic evidence based on international or regional 
comparisons over time, which shows a clear association between transport infrastructure investment 
and economic performance.  

Approach to deriving benefits 

The technical approach established follows the guidance in the WebTAG Unit A2.1 Wider Impacts.  A 
Wider Economic Benefits (WEBs) model was developed following the steps illustrated below to derive 
the annual agglomeration impacts as a result of a transport intervention. 

 

Economic data and parameters 

The WEBs model used for agglomeration impacts assessment for the package was developed from 
Work Package 1.  The model is developed following the latest guidance in WebTAG.  Sources for main 
economic parameters used in this model to derive the agglomeration impacts are: 

• Employment – Cambridge Econometrics 

• GDP per Worker – WebTAG  

• Distance decay parameters – WebTAG  

• Agglomeration elasticity values – WebTAG   

Transport model data 

In addition to the aforementioned economic parameters, the WEBs model has a representation of 
baseline rail and highway transport costs, and requires input of changes in transport costs in the ‘with 
scheme’ scenario to forecast the corresponding agglomeration impacts. 

For highway options tests, rail travel costs have been assumed to remain unchanged. Generalised cost 
skims for business and commuting trips from the Midlands Regional Transport Model (MRTM) have 
been used to derive transport cost changes as a result of the scheme. The cost skims have been 
weighted across the modelled time periods (AM, IP, PM) to produce a daily cost. 

It was understood that the actual opening year for the proposed intervention is 2031.  

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
 D

at
a Transport cost or its 

components (eg time, 
distance)

Travel demand

Ec
o

n
o

m
ic

 D
at

a

Employment

GDP per worker

Eco
n

o
m

etric P
aram

eters

Distance Decay 
Parameters

Agglomeration 
Elasticities

Step 1 - Average 
generalised transport 

costs

Step 2 - ED / ATEM

Step 3 - Agglomeration 
Benefits

114



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Zoning system conversion 

The MRTM zoning system on which the cost and demand data were based was converted to align with 
their counterpart in the WEBs model. The WEBs model zone system comprises 256 zones covering the 
whole Great Britain. Within Midlands, the WEBs zoning system is largely based on Local Authority 
Districts boundaries, as shown in Figure E-1.  

Wider economic benefits forecast 

Table E-1 shows the total forecast agglomeration benefits resulting from the illustrative strategy for the 
two forecast years (2031 and 2041) and over the 60-year appraisal period (discounted). Over the 
appraisal period, the strategy could deliver over £3.3 billion of wider economic benefits.  

To reduce the impact of model noise, the transport model inputs have been masked using the masking 
definitions of the conventional user benefits appraisal. Adopting a conservative approach, further 
masking has been applied to exclude trips from or to Birmingham, Wolverhampton, Walsall and 
Sandwell zones. 

Table E-1: Total agglomeration benefits (2010 prices) 

Year Agglomeration benefits 
(millions) 

2031 (annual) £64 million 

2041 (annual) £194 million 

Appraisal period (discounted to 2010) £3,336million 

Tables E-2 and E-3 include the top 10 zones with the highest forecast agglomeration benefits for 2031 
and 2041 respectively. The amount of benefits for each zone is determined by the forecast changes in 
the GDP per worker as well as the quantum of employment present in this zone. Changes in the GDP 
per worker are derived from changes in the Access to Economic Mass (ATEM)6 of individual zones as 
the transport costs are reduced as a result of the intervention.  

Table E-2: Zones with highest agglomeration benefits in 2031 (2010 prices) 

Zone Agglomeration benefits in 
2031 (millions) 

Leicester  £11.6  

Harborough  £8.3  

Blaby  £5.5  

Charnwood  £3.9  

Coventry  £3.6  

Nottingham  £3.6  

Oadby and Wigston  £2.4  

Hinckley and Bosworth  £2.3  

Stoke-on-Trent  £2.3  

Rutland  £1.8  

                                                      
6 ATEM is also called Effective Density (ED) in WebTAG 

115



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Table E-3: Zones with highest agglomeration benefits in 2041 (2010 prices) 

Zone Agglomeration benefits in 
2041 (millions) 

Leicester  £27.4  

Coventry  £17.3  

Harborough  £13.3  

Blaby  £12.3  

Nottingham  £9.8  

Charnwood  £8.5  

Solihull  £7.0  

Stoke-on-Trent  £6.7  

Hinckley and Bosworth  £5.5  

Telford and Wrekin  £5.3  

 

The spatial distribution of forecast agglomeration benefits in 2041 across the Midlands Connect area is 
illustrated in Figure E-1. The local authority areas of North and North-East Lincolnshire is within the 
buffer zone of the MRTM so have been excluded from this plot. As detailed above, in adopting a 
conservative approach, further masking has been applied to exclude trips from or to Birmingham, 
Wolverhampton, Walsall and Sandwell zones which leaves this area blank. It is estimated that as 
further work evolves some additional benefits could be obtained to reflect the effect an upgraded A46 
between Tewkesbury and Coventry could have on the M42/M6 to the south of Birmingham. In general, 
the highest quantum of agglomeration benefits is observed in close proximity to the A46 corridor 
particularly the areas of Solihull, Coventry, Leicester and Nottingham which reflects the size and scale 
of the economies in these areas and the benefits improved connectivity can bring.  

The presence of Stoke-on-Trent and Telford within the top 10 beneficiaries is a function of the model 
which diffuses travel time benefits across the modelled area and therefore the presence of travel time 
gains in unexpected areas within the WEBs assessment. The conservative approach to masking has 
helped to manage this for most areas experiencing model noise. 

Figure E-1: Spatial distribution of agglomeration benefits, 2041 

 

116



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

In Figure E-2, the agglomeration benefits are shown alongside the change in Effective Density (ED) - 
also known as Access to Economic Mass (ATEM), and the total employment of all sectors (i.e. 
construction, consumer services, manufacturing and producer services). ED reflects the accessibility of 
businesses to each other and the labour market to these businesses. A positive relative change of the ED 
indicates an improvement of the zone’s accessibility (transport connectivity) as a result of the 
illustrative strategy. A change in the ED is a key driver of the agglomeration impact; as is the level of the 
zone’s employment (per sector). As Figure E-2 shows, the zones with high forecast agglomeration 
therefore tend to be those forecast to experience high increases in the ED (e.g. Harborough area), or 
have large quantum of employment (e.g. Leicester).  

Figure E-2: Agglomeration benefits (masked), change in effective density and employment  

 

Figure E-4 illustrates the relationship between agglomeration benefits and ED for the ten zones with 
the highest forecast agglomeration benefits. The results are cross-referenced to the average GDP per 
worker and the employment of each zone. The chart shows that effective density increases drive 
agglomeration benefits, but the magnitude of these benefits also depends on each zone’s employment 
and productivity (GDP per worker). 

117



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Figure E-4: Top 10 areas within Midlands Connect area in terms of Agglomeration Benefits 

 
 

  

118



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Appendix C: Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment 

(PERA) 

 
Purpose: To identify the initial environmental constraints, risks and opportunities for a 
project to support the option selection process. 
 
The assessment of environmental risk is intended primarily to establish if a project will 
encounter barriers to delivery in respect to scope, programme and budget. It is therefore 
different from the assessment of environmental impacts and effects. The identification of 
opportunities for environmental benefits at an early stage will help to inform the design of 
the project. The Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment (PERA) should include an 
appreciation of any policy risks and opportunities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Part 1: Project and site description  

1.1 Project 
Description 

The A46 Corridor Study involves examining the current and long-term 
problems and opportunities for the A46 corridor from junction 9 of the M5 
to the Humber ports, with emphasis on the existing and potential 
contribution the road could make to supporting economic growth. It 
focusses on providing an integrated and prioritised set of interventions 
which could address the problems and challenges facing the road and also 
potentially unlock land for future development, enabling greater 
agglomeration and supporting growth sectors of the economy. It is thought 
that investment in the A46 could have a key role in unlocking and enabling 
economic growth by: 
 

• improving connectivity and reducing journey times; 
• reducing the variability of journey times; 
• providing additional capacity to enable growth in jobs and 

homes; 
• improving links to international gateways; and 
• raising the resilience of the network. 

 
The study has identified a package of interventions with the objective of 
providing a comprehensive solution encompassing the SRN and major 
route network/junctions, or links to other parts of the network as reported 
in the Options Assessment report produced in April 2018. 
 
This PERA addresses those ‘do-something’ interventions selected for the 
illustrative strategy - see Appendix 1. Other interventions on the A46 
corridor have also been identified and are already being pursued through 
other routes (e.g. Highways England’s RIS 1 and RIS 2 schemes). However, 
this PERA does not address these ‘do-minimum’ interventions.  
 
The corridor has been divided into 5 sections and the environmental risks 
associated with the selected interventions for each of those sections are 
addressed in turn in Part 2 below. 

1.2 Project length 
& area (ha) (if 
known) 

The A46 corridor under consideration in this study runs approximately 250 
kilometres from Junction 9 of the M5, through the Midlands, to the 
Humberside ports. The corridor has been divided into 5 sections: 
 

• Section 1: M5 J9 (Tewkesbury) to M40 J15 (Warwick) - 52 km 
• Section 2: M40 J15 to M1 J21 (Leicester) - 50 km 
• Section 3: M1 J21 to Syston (Hobby Horse interchange) - 17 

km 
• Section 4: Syston to Newark (A1) - 51 km 
• Section 5: Newark to Humber Ports - 82 km 

 

1.3 Description of 
site location and 
surrounding area 
including key 
environmental 
features 

The majority of the route passes through rural mixed-use farmland, 
bypassing the larger settlements of Evesham, Stratford-upon-Avon, 
Warwick, Coventry, Leicester, Newark and Lincoln. There are many 
significant environmental constraints at several locations including, in 
Section 1, the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and 
notable tracts of Ancient Woodland. AQMA’s have been declared in 
Stratford, Coventry, Leicester and Lincoln and noise important areas (nIA’s) 

120



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

are prevalent along the length of the route. The Humber Estuary is a SSSI, 
SPA and SAC and there are numerous other SSSI’s within 5km of the route. 
The route crosses national flood zone 3 in numerous  
 
 
places with flood risk being a potential issue especially around  
Evesham, Warwick, Leicester and throughout the north of the corridor 
from Newark to the Humber Estuary.   

 

Part 2: Environmental / Policy Baseline Summary  

Note: See environmental constraints plan in Appendix 1.  

2.1 Air Quality 
& Greenhouse 
Gases 

National & Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comment 

NPPF • The presence of Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) will 
need to be taken into account. 

• The potential cumulative impacts on air quality from individual 
sites will need to be identified. 

• Any new development in AQMA needs to be consistent with the 
local air quality action plan. 

NNNPS • The presence of AQMA or Limit Values will need to be taken into 
account. 

• Any changes that may result in a need for a new AQMA or a 
change in the size of an existing AQMA, or bring about changes 
to exceedances of the Limit Values will need to be identified. 

RIS • Zero breaches of air quality regulations and major reduction in 
carbon emissions across the network 

National 
Plan for 
Nitrogen 
Dioxide – 
26/07/17 

• ‘The UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations’ sets out how the UK intends to comply with the 
EU Ambient Air Quality directive ‘in the shortest possible time’. 
This specifically addresses roads likely to be causing non-
compliance in 2021, which are in Birmingham and Coventry in the 
study area. 

• Developments which threaten compliance are likely to be 
unacceptable. 

HE Air 
Quality 
Strategy 

• This strategy sets out Highways England’s contribution to support 
Defra and DfT as they work to improve air quality in the UK and 
deliver nitrogen dioxide compliance at the roadside in the 
shortest time possible. 

Highways 
England 
Licence 

• The Licence holder should: 

− Calculate and consider the carbon impact of road projects 
and factor carbon into design decisions, and seek to 
minimise carbon emissions and other greenhouse gases 
from its operations;  

− Take opportunities to influence road users to reduce the 
greenhouse gas emissions from their journey choices.  

 

Physical Environment 
 
Section 1 
There are no AQMAs intersected by the current alignment although it runs 
alongside those at Stratford and Coventry and is close to those in Tewkesbury 
and Evesham.  
 
The proposed off-line Evesham Eastern Bypass will not intersect any AQMAs 
however a potential route could pass close to numerous sensitive air receptors 

121



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

notably residential properties and community facilities located in Badsey, 
Aldington, Offenham and Harvington.  
 
The existing route passes close to numerous sensitive air quality receptors 
including the residential properties and community facilities at Ashchurch, 
Sedgeberrow, Evesham, Bidford-on-Avon.   
 
Section 2 
The current alignment intersects the AQMAs in Coventry and the M1 corridor 
in Enderby. The alignment also runs alongside AQMAs in Warwick, Royal 
Leamington Spa, Kenilworth and Leicester and passes close to numerous 
sensitive air quality receptors, most notably the residential properties and 
community facilities at Woodlands Park, Leek Wootton, Castle End, Bramcote 
and Burbage. 
 
The proposed on-line dualling upgrades and junction improvements around 
the south and east of Coventry will further intersect the Coventry AQMA.   
 
Section 3 
 
The potential alignment of the off-line section of the Leicester Southern and 
Eastern Bypass will not intersect any AQMAs. The off-line section could 
however come close to areas which have numerous sensitive air quality 
receptors most notably residential properties and community facilities present 
in Oadby, Bushby and Syston.     
 
Section 4 
No significant environmental constraints in this section. 
 
Section 5 
The current alignment from Newark to Hykeham does not intersect with or 
come within close proximity to any AQMAs. The alignment does, however, 
pass close to numerous sensitive air quality receptors including   residential 
properties and community facilities at Newark, Winthorpe, Witham St Hughs 
and Hykeham.  
 
The alignment of the existing Lincoln western bypass intersects the Hele Road 
AQMA which is situated around the heavily urban area of Lincoln.  
 
The proposed off-line Lincoln Southern Bypass could come close to the Hele 
Road AQMA which is located around the centre of Lincoln.   
 
The improvements to the M180 J4 will be in close proximity to an AQMA 
situated around Scunthorpe.  
 

2.2 Cultural 
Heritage 

National & Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comment 

NPPF • Any heritage assets, historic environments and conservation 
areas must be conserved within the development. 

122



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

NNNPS • Any likely significant heritage impacts of the proposed project 
must be identified. 

RIS • Enhance the setting and condition of cultural heritage and historic 
features in the Company's ownership. 

• Enhance the setting and condition of cultural heritage and historic 
features in proximity to the Strategic Road Network. 

 

Physical Environment 
 
Section 1 
There are a number of cultural heritage assets within this section of the A46 
corridor route corridor including: 

• A group of Grade I listed buildings and a scheduled monument 
located at Sedgeberrow; 

• Scheduled monuments to the south and southwest and a 
registered battlefield to the north of Evesham; 

• A group of scheduled monuments located around Alcester which 
the existing route passes close to; and 

• A scheduled monument located in Offenham which any potential 
off-line Evesham Eastern Bypass could come very close to.   
 

The proposed on-line improvements from Alcester to Stratford would bring the 
A46 infrastructure closer to several listed buildings which are located close to 
the existing highway.  
 
For any potential off-line Evesham Eastern Bypass there is high potential to 
encounter unknown archaeological features. 
 
Section 2 
Cultural heritage assets within this section of the A46 corridor include: 

• A group of listed buildings and scheduled monuments located to 
the south of M40 J15 and scheduled monuments and registered 
parks located in Warwick, most notably Warwick Castle;  

• Several listed buildings, scheduled monuments and registered 
parks located around Kenilworth;  

• Coventry: Coombe Abbey grade II* registered park, scheduled 
monument and listed buildings to the east of the A46 and SE of 
M6 junction 2; 

• Various listed buildings and scheduled monuments around the 
area of Wolvey; and 

• The NW corner of M1 J21 has a scheduled monument present;  
 
The proposed on-line upgrades between Warwick and Kenilworth and along 
the south and east of Coventry will bring the highway closer to listed buildings 
and the works may encounter unknown archaeological features.    
 
Section 3 
It is expected that any potential alignment of the off-line section of the 
Leicester Southern and Eastern Bypass could pass close to a number of cultural 
heritage assets including: 

• Several scheduled monuments and listed buildings located in 
Whetstone; 

123



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

• Several scheduled monuments and listed buildings located in 
Scraptoft;  

• Several scheduled monuments and listed buildings located in 
Wigston; and 

• Several listed buildings located in Queniborough. 
 

Section 4 
No significant environmental constraints in this section. The route does 
however run directly adjacent to a scheduled monument located in East 
Bridgford and several scheduled monuments and a registered battled located 
in Elston.    
 
Section 5 
The Lincoln western bypass is located close to several scheduled monuments 
and listed buildings.  
 
A potential off-line Lincoln Southern Bypass could pass close to a grade I listed 
building located in South Hykeham; 
 
The on-line improvements to the Junction 4 of the M180 will be in close 
proximity to a grade I listed building located in Scawby. 
 

2.3 Landscape National & Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comment 

NPPF • The local area’s landscape character and sensitivity to 
development will need to be taken into account. 

NNNPS • Any likely significant landscape and visual features within or 
adjacent to the scheme boundary must be identified. 

• The scheme construction phase, the completed development and 
its operation must be considered with regard to landscape 
components and landscape character (including historic 
landscape characterisation). 

• Surrounding views and visual amenity must be taken into 
account. 

RIS • Mitigation of existing landscape problems on the network, 
especially in protected areas. 

• Enhancing landscape quality through new schemes. 

Highways 
England 
Licence 

• The Licence holder must seek advice from the Design Panel: 

− On the design of road improvement schemes, where these 
are in sensitive locations or expected to have a substantial 
impact on the surrounding landscape. 

 

Physical Environment 
 
Section 1 
At the southern end of the route the A46 passes through the Cotswolds Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty between Beckford and Ashton-under-Hill. This 
is a key constraint to major improvements and off-line measures in this 
section. Issues of significant visual impacts may also arise where the potential 
off-line road corridors run close to large numbers of potentially sensitive 
receptors, most notably on the edge of Evesham. Visual impacts may also arise 
from the on-line improvement works where the existing road runs close to 

124



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

large numbers of potentially sensitive receptors, most notably Exhall and 
Temple Grafton.  
 
Section 2 
This section does not pass through any Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
Visual impacts may however arise from the on-line improvement works where 
the existing road runs close to large numbers of potentially sensitive receptors 
most notably on the eastern edge of Coventry at Walsgrave on Sowe and 
Brinklow. There may further visual impacts from the on-line improvement 
works at areas of historical importance such as Warwick Castle and Kenilworth 
Castle, which the existing route passes.   
 
Section 3 
This section of the route does not pass through any Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. Issues of significant visual impacts may arise where the 
proposals run close to large numbers of potentially sensitive receptors most 
notably in Leicester, Sharnford and Broughton Astley.  
 
Section 4 
No significant environmental constraints in this section. 
 
Section 5 
The proposals in this section of the route does not pass through any Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. Issues of significant visual impacts may arise 
where any potential new off-line road corridors run close to large numbers of 
potentially sensitive receptors most notably in South Hykeham, Aubourn and 
Waddington. Further visual impacts may arise where on-line works pass close 
to large numbers of potentially sensitive receptors most notably Whisby and 
Riseholme.   
 

2.4 Nature 
Conservation / 
Biodiversity 

National & Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comment 

NPPF • The natural and local environment must be enhanced by: 

− Providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, including 
by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures. 

NNNPS • Internationally, nationally and locally designated sites of 
ecological conservation importance (including those outside 
England), protected species and habitats and other species 
identified as being of principal importance for the conservation of 
biodiversity will need to be considered. 

• Biodiversity interest must be conserved. 

• Mitigation and consideration of reasonable alternatives/  
appropriate compensation measures will be required.  

RIS • Net gain in biodiversity from the Company’s activities 

• Increasing the number of SSSIs in good or recovering condition. 

• Interventions to support Nature Improvement Areas. 

 

 

Physical Environment 
 
Section 1  

125



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

There are a number of areas of Ancient Woodland, most notably south of 
Arrow and between Alcester and Stratford.  
 
There are 2 Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) within 5km of the A46 (Bredon 
Hills and Dixton Wood). These are both designated for their Violet Click Beetle 
Interest. The Wye Valley & Forest of Dean SAC is the closest SAC designated for 
bat interest but is 30km from M5 J9 which is the closet point of the scheme. 
The proposed online improvements would bring the A46 infrastructure slightly 
closer to Aston Grove and Withycombe SSSI and would intersect several areas 
of Ancient Woodland between Alcester and Stratford. 
 
Any potential off-line Evesham Eastern Bypass could come within 1km of 
Windmill Hill (SSSI), designated for its presence of calcareous grassland.  
 
In addition, as the route passes through open countryside there is high 
potential for the presence of many protected species; reptiles, badgers, great 
crested newts, bats etc. 
 
Section 2  
Several areas of ancient woodland are present within the study area most 
notably around Kenilworth, Bubbenhall, Budbrooke and the SW and to the 
east of Coventry.   
 
The existing A46/ M69 route runs through, alongside or is in close proximity of 
several SSSIs. Herald Way Marsh SSSI in Willenhall is designated because of 
various habitats being present. Combe Pool SSSI in Binley is designated 
because of its presence of breeding birds and Burbage Wood and Aston Firs 
SSSI is designated because of its presence of woodland. The proposed on-line 
improvements may result in the highway intersecting Guy’s Cliffe SSSI and 
Coomb Pool SSSI. 
 
There is one SAC within the vicinity of the A46/ M69. Ensor`s Pool SAC is 
located to the south of Nuneaton and is designated because of the presence of 
White-clawed Crayfish.  
 
In addition, as the route passes through open countryside there is high 
potential for the presence of many protected species; reptiles, badgers, great 
crested newts, bats etc. 
 
Section 3  
A potential off-line Leicester Bypass at the M69 J2 could intersect Burbage 
Wood and Aston Firs SSSI and two areas of Ancient Woodland.  
The bypass could also bring the route closer to Narborough Bog SSSI, 
designated for its areas of wet woodland and meadow. It could also intersect 
the Kilby-Foxton Canal SSSI which is designated because of its fluvial fauna 
interests. This would be a key constraint to the off-line proposal.  
 
In addition, as the route passes through open countryside there is high 
potential for the presence of many protected species; reptiles, badgers, great 
crested newts, bats etc.  
 

126



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Section 4 
The existing A46 runs directly parallel to Twenty Acre Piece SSSI which is 
located in Six Hills.  
 
Section 5 
The on-line improvements to the existing highway corridor on the western side 
of the Lincoln Bypass is close to multiple areas of Ancient Woodland located to 
the north, north west and west of the study area. There are also several areas 
of Ancient Woodland located to the north of the proposed improvements at 
Junction 4 of the M180.  
 
The on-line western side of the Lincoln Bypass is situated close to Swanholme 
Lakes SSSI which is designated for its presence of invertebrates. This section of 
the highway is also close to Wisbey Park, a Local Nature Reserve. There are 
also multiple SSSI sites located to the north east and west of the M180 J4 
improvements notably Twigmoor SSSI which is designated for its presence for 
heathland, grassland and wetlands. 
 
In addition, as the route passes through open countryside there is high 
potential for the presence of many protected species; reptiles, badgers, great 
crested newts, bats etc.  
  

2.5 Noise & 
Vibration 

National & Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comment 

NPPF • Noise pollution levels will need to be considered within the 
development. 

• Noise and significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
as a result of new development will need to be managed. 

NNNPS • Noise management practices will need to be adhered to. Similar 
considerations apply to vibration. 

• The use of landscaping, bunds or noise barriers to reduce noise 
transmission should be considered in the design phase. 

Noise Policy 
Statement 
for England 

• The three aims of the NPSE will need to be considered during 
scheme assessment and design. These are to: 
1. avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of 

life; 
2. mitigate and minimise adverse impacts on health and quality 

of life; and 
3. where possible, contribute to the improvement of health and 

quality of life. 

RIS • Low noise surfacing on road links that would not be resurfaced 
due to age or condition, where benefit to the local community can 
be demonstrated. 

• Provision of noise mitigation to those properties exposed to the 
highest noise levels. 

• KPI Mitigating at least 1,150 Noise Important Areas by the end of 
the first Road Period as identified through the Defra Noise Action 
Plan 

 

Physical Environment 
 
Section 1 
The A46 route passes close to numerous sensitive noise receptors and a 
number of Noise Important Areas have been identified along the existing route 
especially between the M5 and Evesham, between Alcester and Stratford. The 

127



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

proposed on-line improvement works between Alcester and the M40 J15 
would likely affect the existing Noise Important Areas identified here.  
 
Section 2 
The A46 route passes close to numerous sensitive noise receptors and a 
number of Noise Important Areas have been identified along the existing route 
especially around the M40 J15, Warwick, Baginton, Tollbar End, M6 J2 – 
Shilton and around the M1, J21.  
 

Section 3 
Any potential off-line Leicester Southern and Eastern Bypass could pass close 
to several noise important areas located on the A6 Leicester Road. Numerous 
Noise Important Areas have been identified along the existing route especially 
around Thorpe Astley and Thurcaston.  
 
Section 4 
There are number of nIA’s along the route notably those located in Syston, 
Widmerpool and Saxondale.     
 
Section 5 
The existing on-line corridor at Riseholme passes through a Noise Important 
Area.  
 
Any potential off-line Lincoln Southern Bypass could pass close to several noise 
sensitive receptors such as those found in Hykeham. 

 

2.6 Road 
Drainage & 
the Water 
Environment 

National & Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comment 

NPPF • Flood risk must be appropriately managed, including the 
identification of safe access and escape routes where required. 

• Sustainable drainage systems must be considered in design. 

• The flow and quantity of surface and groundwater must be taken 
into account. 

NNNPS • Steps must be taken to avoid, limit and reduce the risk of flooding 
to the proposed infrastructure and others. 

• Water pollution must be effectively managed and mitigated 
against. 

• Activities that discharge to the water environment are subject to 
pollution control. 

RIS • Reducing flood risk to communities adjacent to the network and 
improving network resilience to flooding. 

• Delivering water quality improvements (drainage and runoff) 
through use of Sustainable Drainage Systems. 

 

Physical Environment 
 
Section 1 

There are numerous watercourses and flood zones along the existing A46 
corridor. Ashchurch Interchange is located in a flood plain (zone 3 – high risk) 
meaning there is a likely risk that the junction will flood. At Ashchurch there is 
Tirle Brook, and there is potential for works to encroach into the flood plain 
(zone 3 – high risk). At Ashton-under-Hill the A46 crosses the River Isbourne 

128



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

and there are tributaries of Carrant Brook, as well as a flood zone 3. There is a 
tributary of the River Avon at Salford Priors, which is also in a flood zone 3.  
 
The grade separated junction at Alcester is within the flood plain (zone 3) of 
the River Arrow. The Longbridge Island Upgrade (M40 J15) is situated within 
flood plain (zone 2 and zone 3) as the existing highway crosses over Longbridge 
Brook and Horse Brook.  
 
Any potential off-line Evesham Eastern Bypass could intersect the River Avon 
and its surrounding tributaries three times which include various flood plains 
(zone 2 and zone 3) situated to the east and NE of Evesham.  
 
Section 2 

At the M40 J15 and around Warwick and Kenilworth, the route passes over 
and comes very close to the River Avon and its tributaries, within flood zone 3. 
There are also flood zones 3 from the River Sowe and its tributaries at Junction 
and the M6 J2. Further flood zone 3 is present where the route passes over the 
River Anker and its tributaries at Shelford and at Thurlaston where the route 
passes over tributaries of the River Soar.  
 
The route runs past a groundwater protection zone in Woodloes Park, north 
Warwick and intersects groundwater protection zones at King’s Hill and to the 
north of Kenilworth.  
 
The land around the A46 at Stoneleigh is within a groundwater protection zone 
and the route also crosses both the River Avon and River Sowe near 
Stoneleigh.  
 
Section 3 
Any potential off-line Leicester Southern and Eastern Bypass could intersect 
numerous flood plains. It is expected that the bypass will intersect Whetstone 
Brook, a tributary of the River Soar (flood zone 2 and 3), the River Sence and 
several of its tributaries in Kilby (flood zone 2 and 3) and two brooks near 
Keyham and Beeby (flood zone 3). The proposed highway will also have to 
cross two flood plains around Queniborough (flood zone 3) and the River 
Wreake at Ratcliffe (flood zone 3).   
 
Section 4 
The majority of the existing route is situated outside of the flood zone. The 
northern end of the route is, however, situated in flood plain (zone 3), which 
begins to the south of Newark, before it crosses the River Trent. 
 
 
 
Section 5 
The on-line dualling on the northern section of the existing Lincoln bypass is 
located within flood zone 2 and 3 and a groundwater Source Protection Zone. 
The roundabout upgrade at the junction of the A46 and B1182 is located 
within a flood plain (zone 3).  
 

129



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Any potential off-line Lincoln Southern Bypass could intersect a large section of 
the River Witham floodplain and various drains in South Hykeham. The bypass 
will also intersect a zone 2 and 3 Source Protection Zone.  
 

2.7 Population 
and Human 
Health 

National & Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comments 

NPPF • The scheme needs to achieve a safe and accessible 
development, containing clear pedestrian routes, and high quality 
public space, which encourages the active and continual use of 
public areas. 

• The scheme must maintain connections between people and 
places and integrate new development into the natural, built and 
historic environment. 

NNNPS • The scheme must aim to join up communities and link them 
effectively to each other. 

• The scheme is expected to use reasonable endeavours to 
address the needs of cyclists and pedestrians in the design 
phase. 

• The development should consider correcting historic problems. 

RIS • Will give greater consideration to the needs of walkers, cyclists 
and local communities along with the aesthetic appearance of the 
network. 

• Joining our communities and linking effectively to each other. 

• The network must be easier to get over, under or around to 
ensure that roads do not divide communities, and that the 
associated health and wellbeing benefits of walking and cycling 
are felt as widely as possible. 

• The Company will try to make best use of the existing route; and 
where the alignment changes, use this as an opportunity to 
reduce the impact of the road on surrounding communities. 

Highways 
England 
Licence 

The scheme should seek to improve the well-being of road users and 
communities affected by the network and take reasonable account of 
the views of local communities. 

 

Physical Environment 
 
Section 1 
The existing A46 is in close proximity to numerous communities and the 
proposed Evesham Eastern Bypass would bring the road corridor close to other 
communities which are not currently directly impacted by the existing A46. 
The on-line improvements between Alcester and the M40 J15 will bring the 
A46 route closer to communities in Alcester, Billesley, Bishopton and 
Snitterfield.  
 
There are numerous public rights of way and recreational paths within close 
proximity to the A46. The southern section of the route, within the AONB, is an 
important recreational area as is the River Avon particularly within Evesham, 
Bidford and Stratford-upon-Avon – the latter being a major international 
tourist destination. 
 
Section 2 
The on-line route passes very close to several scheduled monuments, such as 
Warwick Castle and Kenilworth Castle, which have historical significance and 
are also important recreational areas. The route passes over or close to several 
rivers which are used for various recreational purposes. The proposed on-line 

130



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

improvements to the south of the M6 J2 would also bring the route very close 
to Coventry and Warwickshire Hospital.      
 
Section 3 
Any potential off-line Leicester Bypass could result in adverse impacts to public 
facilities. The proposed route would intersect several public rights of way and 
will come close to numerous scheduled monuments. It will affect villages such 
as Sapcote, Primethorpe and Broughton Astley.       
 
Section 4 
This section of the route does not run adjacent to or intersect any major 
centres population.  
 
Section 5 
The on-line dualling upgrades to the western Lincoln bypass are within close 
proximity to sensitive receptors. The existing corridor is directly adjacent to 
The Natural World Centre (located at Wisby Park Local Nature Reserve), a local 
tourist destination, and Hykeham Sailing Club.   
 

2.8 Geology, 
Soils & 
Materials 
 
 
 
 

National & Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comments 

NPPF • Valued landscapes, geological conservation interests and soils 
must be protected and enhanced within the scheme. 

• Soil pollution must be taken into account. 

• Local character and history, and the identity of local surroundings 
and materials, should be considered in the design phase. 

• So far as practicable, the contribution that substitute or 
secondary and recycled materials and minerals waste would 
make to the supply of materials, before considering extraction of 
primary materials, should be considered. 

NNNPS • Internationally, nationally and locally designated sites of 
geological conservation importance will need to be considered 
and conserved. 

• Mitigation and consideration of reasonable alternatives will be 
required. 

• Soil quality and any necessary mitigation measures must be 
identified. 

 

Physical Environment 
 
Section 1 
The Broom Railways Cutting SSSI, designated for its geological interest, is 
located less than 500m from the on-line section of the A46 from Salford Priors 
to Alcester.  
 
There is a licensed landfill site immediately adjacent to the A46 just north of 
Salford Priors and there are numerous historic landfill sites in close proximity 
to the existing road corridor, especially just north of Evesham. 
 
Any potential off-line Evesham Eastern Bypass could intersect or come close to 
several historic landfills located in Offenham. 
  
Much of the land use within the route corridor is for agriculture. 

131



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
Section 2 
High Close Farm, Snitterfield SSSI, Guy’s Cliffe SSSI and Enderby Warren Quarry 
SSSI are all designated because of their geological interested and are located 
within the immediate vicinity of the existing M46/ M69 route.  
 
Several licensed landfill sites are located within 500m of the existing route. 
Landfill sites are present in Milverton, Baginton, Thurlaston and Enderby. 
There are also several historical landfill sites located around the M40 J15, close 
to Warwick Parkway railway station, Blackdown, Baginton, Binley and Huncote. 
There is a historic landfill located south of the M69 J2, the dualling proposed in 
this area may therefore intersect this archaeological feature.   
 
Section 3 
Any potential off-line Leicester Bypass could intersect a historic landfill to the 
immediate west of the new junction proposed along the M1 and would come 
within 500m of numerous historic landfills situated in Kilby, Stoughton and 
several around Syston.  
 
Much of the land use within the route corridor is for agriculture or urban 
development.  
 
Section 4 
No significant environmental constraints in this section. 
 
Section 5 
The on-line western Lincoln bypass is situated directly adjacent and close to 
permitted landfill sites located close to the junction of the A46 and Moor Lane. 
This section of the highway is also close to several historic landfills located 
close to the junction of the A46 and Whisby Road. The on-line northern Lincoln 
bypass is located close to several historical landfills.  
 
The A158/ A15 roundabout on the northern Lincoln bypass is situated close to 
Greetwell Hollow Quarry SSSI which is designated for its geological interest.  
 
The proposed on-line improvements to Junction 4 of the M180 is situated 
close to four SSSI sites which are designated because of their soil or geological 
interest.  
 

2.9 Design  
 
 
 
 

Highways England policy 
 

Policy 
Document 

Comments 

Highways 
England 
Licence 

• Give due regard to relevant principles and guidance on good 
design to ensure that the development of the road network takes 
account of the geographical, environmental and socio-economic 
context. 

• Seek advice from the Design Panel on the design of road 
improvement schemes where these are in sensitive locations or 
expected to have a substantial impact on the surrounding 
landscape. 

• Give due regard to the particular observations of the Design 
Panel on specific road schemes 

 

132



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Physical Environment 
Local factors that could pose risks or offer opportunities for good design. 
 

Section 1 
There are significant environmental and community constraints at several 
locations along the potential route corridor. 
 
At the southern end of the route the A46 passes through the Cotswolds Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty between Beckford and Ashton-under-Hill. This 
is a key constraint to major improvements and off-line measures in this 
section. Several new river and canal crossings, a railway crossing and at least 3 
grade separated junctions will be required associated with any potential off-
line sections – the Evesham Eastern Bypass would require three river crossings.  
 
Section 2 
There are significant environmental and community constraints at several 
locations along the potential route corridor. 
 
The route passes close to several SSSI sites around the M40 J15 and Warwick 
and to the East of Coventry and around Hinckley. The route also passes close 
to several areas of ancient woodland, notably to the east of Coventry, around 
Hinckley and to the west of the M69 J2. Several scheduled monuments notably 
Warwick Castle and Kenilworth Castle are also within the close vicinity of the 
route meaning that some of the existing infrastructure is located within or 
around sensitive areas.  
 
Section 3 
There are significant environmental and community constraints at several 
locations along the potential route corridor. 
 
Any potential off-line Leicester Bypass could come close to several scheduled 
monuments which are of historical importance. The proposal will also intersect 
with Kilby- Foxton Canal SSSI designated for its presence of fluvial fauna. The 
bypass would require the construction of 19 new structures and would cross 
the Rivers Sence and Wreake. 
 
Section 4 
No significant environmental constraints in this section. 
 
Section 5 
There are significant environmental and community constraints at several 
locations along the potential route corridor. 
 
The on-line improvements to the western Lincoln bypass runs directly 
adjacent/ over several lakes and a tourist destination.  
 
Any potential off-line Lincoln Southern Bypass could run close to multiple 
scheduled monuments. The proposed route will also cross open countryside 
which could result in adverse impacts to areas such as Waddington. The routes 
will require the construction of two new roundabouts and will cross the River 
Witham.    
 

133



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 3: Preliminary Risk Assessment  

Include policy and local environment ratings with clear explanation/justification for ratings 

 
Policy conflicts & environmental risks / opportunities RAG rating 

 
  

 For each topic area, a concise summary of the key issues should be 
provided and a RAG rating (for policy & physical constraints) 
allocated based on the above guidance. For each policy conflict / 
environmental constraint identified, the risk on program and budget 
should be identified. In addition, opportunities where a project can 
provide benefits from the existing baseline scenario should be 
identified. 
 
As a guide, the RAG ratings should be attributed at follows; 
 

• Red: policy conflicts and / or environmental constraints that 
cannot be addressed using established and readily deliverable 
design solutions or mitigation thereby posing a threat to project 
delivery;  
 

• Amber: policy conflicts and / or environmental constraints that, 
whilst potentially significant, can likely be resolved / mitigated 
with potential implications for program and budget; and 
 

• Green: policy compliant and / or environmental constraints that 
can likely be resolved / mitigated within program and budget. 

 
 

 

3.1 Air Quality & 
Greenhouse Gases 

National & Highways England policy 
The aim of the A46 improvements is to address current and 
long-term congestion problems with an emphasis on the 
contribution the road could make to supporting economic 
growth and potentially unlock land for future development.  
 
Interventions which increase traffic flows within any of the 
AQMA’s in the route corridor could lead to adverse impacts, 
which it may not be possible to mitigate. 

  
However, assuming the national plan to tackle roadside 
nitrogen dioxide concentrations is effective by the early-
2020’s, the risk of a scheme opening in 2031 affecting 
compliance with this air quality policies is small. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amber 
 

134



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
Policy conflicts & environmental risks / opportunities RAG rating 

 
  

Physical Environment 
Detailed design of any potential alignment of off-line 
interventions provides an opportunity to maximise the 
separation distance between new road sections and 
sensitive air quality receptors. However, it is likely that 
there will still be dwellings within 200m of any potential 
new alignments which may be adversely affected and there 
is also potential for adverse effects at receptors adjacent to 
online interventions. 
 
There are no potential off-line bypass routes in Section 2 
which means that no new sensitive receptors will be 
exposed to air pollutants. The existing route does however 
come close to and intersects the Coventry AQMA between 
the junction of the A46 and A45 and the M6 J2. The 
proposed junction improvement works and  
 
on-line dualling in this section will therefore result in an 
increase in vehicle numbers which is likely to adversely 
impact this AQMA as mitigation measures may not be 
possible. In other areas where junction improvements are 
proposed, no AQMAs are present however sensitive 
receptors may be adversely affected by the increased 
traffic.  
 
The impact of introducing traffic close to new receptors or 
increasing flows on the existing route alignment is likely to 
result in more losers than winners in air quality terms. 
Overall, therefore, the scheme may bring about increases in 
exposure to air pollutants. However, the scale of these 
adverse impacts may not be significant, based on HE 
guidance. More detailed air quality assessment would be 
required to confirm. 
 
The increase in traffic overall will lead to an increase in GHG 
emissions. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amber 

3.2 Cultural 
Heritage 

National & Highways England policy 
Environmental assessment will identify potential effects and 
the measures required to conserve cultural heritage assets. 
It is anticipated that mitigation measures and any potential 
enhancement could be incorporated into project budgets 
and programmes, if these are planned appropriately as the 
project progresses but there is a likelihood that not all 
assets could be avoided. 
 

 
 
 
 
Amber 

135



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
Policy conflicts & environmental risks / opportunities RAG rating 

 
  

Physical Environment  
Detailed design will need to look at potential for avoidance 
of cultural heritage assets within the potential route 
corridors. However, given the number of listed buildings 
and other heritage assets, the likelihood of being able to 
avoid all impacts, especially in the vicinity of the off-line 
aspects of the route, is considered to be low.  

 
 
 
Amber 
 
 
 

3.3 Landscape National & Highways England policy 
Landscape policy will be considered as part of the 
environmental assessment and the development of the 
design and associated mitigation measures will ensure 
impacts on the local areas landscape character will be taken 
into account. The risk of policy non-compliance will 
therefore be managed. 
 

 
 
 
Green 

Physical Environment  
It is likely that there will be effects on the local landscape 
character, especially at the southern end of the route where 
the A46 crosses the Cotswolds AONB, although the existing 
A46 does already impact this area. 
 
For the potential off-line bypass sections of the route there 
is widespread potential for adverse visual impacts which 
could be challenging to mitigate in places. For example, the 
Evesham Eastern Bypass runs directly through open 
countryside and will result in greater adverse landscape 
character and visual impacts than on-line interventions.  
 
In Section 3, any potential off-line Leicester Bypass could 
result in adverse landscape character impacts because a 
new highway would need to pass through open 
countryside.  
 
The on-line dualling along the western Lincoln bypass may 
result in adverse character and visual impacts as the area is 
a tourist destination and the surrounding lakes are used for 
recreation. 
 
Any potential off-line Lincoln southern and eastern bypass 
could cause adverse landscape character impacts as the 
route would bring highway infrastructure into a greenfield 
area. Significant environmental mitigation is therefore likely 
to be required. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amber 
 
 
 
 

3.4 Nature 
Conservation / 
Biodiversity 

National & Highways England policy 
Nature conservation policy will be considered as part of the 
environmental assessment and mitigation measures to 

 
 
Green 

136



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
Policy conflicts & environmental risks / opportunities RAG rating 

 
  

provide net biodiversity gain will be promoted therefore the 
risk of policy non-compliance will be managed. 
 
Physical Environment  
In Section 1, although there are a number of designated 
sites and tracts of Ancient Woodland in close proximity to 
the route they are mostly within those parts of the route 
which are already dualled or could be bypassed by any 
potential off-line sections.  
 
It is considered unlikely that the scheme would have any 
adverse impacts on the Bredon Hills and Dixton Wood SACs 
although a HRA screening should be undertaken. The Wye 
Valley & Forest of Dean SAC is designated for its bat interest 
and as such impacts within 30km should be assessed. 
However, at its very closest point this SAC is @30km from 
the starting point of the scheme (M5 J9) and as such no 
adverse impacts are anticipated. A notable site designated 
for its scientific interest is the River Humber which is a SAC, 
SPA and SSSI. None of the interventions proposed are 
within the vicinity of the Humber however and as such, it is 
not considered that a Habitats Regulation Assessment 
would be required. 
 
In Section 2, the existing corridor runs past several SSSI sites 
and areas of Ancient Woodland. The on-line dualling 
proposed between Warwick and Kenilworth and the  
junction upgrade at Kenilworth is likely to have an adverse 
effect on Ancient Woodland in these areas.  
Although much of this has already been intersected by the 
A46, further losses may prove difficult to mitigate.   
The proposed on-line dualling south of the M6 Junction 2 
will impact upon Coomb Pool SSSI which is likely to prove 
difficult to mitigate. 
 
In Section 3, the existing corridor runs past several SSSI sites 
and areas of Ancient Woodland however many of these are 
in areas where no planned works are proposed.  
Any potential off-line Leicester bypass could intersect 
Burbage Wood and Aston Firs SSSI and two areas of Ancient 
Woodland. It could also intersect the Kilby-Foxton Canal 
SSSI. This could prove difficult to mitigate. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amber 

3.5 Noise & 
Vibration 

National & Highways England policy 
The A46 interventions would be expected to be designed 
such that they meet the first aim of the NPSE, which is to 
“avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of 

 
 
 
 

137



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
Policy conflicts & environmental risks / opportunities RAG rating 

 
  

life”. In policy terms significant impact is set at the levels 
where an nIA is defined, so by meeting the first aim of the 
NPSE there will be no new nIA’s created. The second and 
third aims of the NPSE would also need to be considered. 
This would be undertaken through scheme design and/or 
the provision of specific noise mitigation. It is considered 
that these aims of the NPSE can be achieved through 
standard noise mitigation measures. 
 

 
Green 
 

Physical Environment  
Noise issues will be most significant where online 
improvements or new road construction will take place 
within approximately 500m of significant numbers of 
sensitive receptors, such as residential properties and 
community facilities.  
 
The introduction of a new road into areas that may 
currently experience a low level of noise is likely to cause 
significant environmental impacts, especially at night - the 
proposed Evesham bypass, Leicester bypass and Lincoln 
southern bypass would bring new road corridors close to 
large numbers of potentially sensitive noise receptors. The 
requirement for significant noise mitigation measures e.g. 
barriers or low noise surfacing may be quite substantial in 
such locations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Amber 

3.6 Road Drainage 
& the Water 
Environment 

National & Highways England policy 
Flooding/water policy will be addressed through the 
environmental assessment and appropriate mitigation 
included within the scheme design. As such, the risk of 
policy non-compliance will be managed. 
 

 
 
Green 

Physical Environment  
There is potential for the scheme to impact upon several 
watercourses and flood zones. It is anticipated that any 
impacts can be mitigated through established and readily 
deliverable best practice design and construction methods 
although for interventions such as the Evesham, Leicester 
and Lincoln bypasses which cross substantial tracts of land 
within flood zone 3 and require numerous river crossings 
the level of required mitigation could be substantial 
 
In Section 5, there is a high potential for the proposed 
works to impact upon various flood plains notably those in 
Waddington. Impacts are expected to be negligible however 
as best practice mitigation, design and construction 
methods will be employed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amber 

138



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
Policy conflicts & environmental risks / opportunities RAG rating 

 
  

 
The increase in hard surface area is likely to affect surface 
water drainage and flood risk but it is anticipated that this 
can be mitigated by attenuation and management of 
discharge flows. 
 

3.7 Population and 
Human Health 

National & Highways England policy 
It is considered that potential off-line interventions in 
particular could potentially be in conflict with the 
Population and Human Health policies and would be 
challenging to resolve through readily deliverable design 
solutions or mitigation. 
 

 
 
 
Amber 

Physical Environment  
The potential introduction of any new off-line sections of 
road and the improvements to the on-line sections could 
have a significant impact on the numerous local 
communities within close proximity of the potential route 
with land loss, severance, visual, noise and air quality 
impacts. It is also likely that there will be some severance 
and/or diversion of PROWs.  
 
The new bypasses may prove beneficial for local traffic if 
strategic route journey times are reduced and local roads 
are avoided. This could help sensitive receptors in Leicester 
through reductions in congestion. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Amber 

3.8 Geology, Soils 
& Materials 
 
 
 
 

National & Highways England policy 
Geology, soils and materials policies will be considered as 
part of the environmental assessment and therefore the 
risk of policy non-compliance will be managed. 
 

 
 
Green 

Physical Environment 
It is considered that potential impacts can likely be resolved 
using established and readily deliverable design solutions or 
mitigation thereby not posing a threat to project program 
and budget. 
 

 
 
Green 
 

3.9 Design  
 
 
 

Highways England policy 
The proposed interventions are likely to impact the 
surrounding landscape, especially at the southern end 
where the A46 crosses the Cotswold AONB, although the 
existing A46 does already impact this area. As such, advice 
will be sought from the Design Panel and due regard will be 
given to relevant principles and guidance on good design. 
 

 
 
 
 
Green 

139



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
Policy conflicts & environmental risks / opportunities RAG rating 

 
  

Physical Environment 
For any potential off-line interventions the introduction of 
new sections of road could have significant effects on the 
local landscape character. 
 
In Section 1, a number of major structures will be required 
which may require significant engineering works e.g. new 
river and railway crossings and a rail line crossing required 
for the Evesham bypass. 
Existing infrastructure and residential and industrial 
frontages close to the current A46 alignment is a significant 
constraint to potential on-line interventions in a number of 
places, especially between Ashchurch and Evesham.  
 
In Section 3, the Leicester bypass will require several 
structures which are very likely to require extensive 
engineering works. At least 19 new bridges will be required 
and 2 railway crossing will be required. The bypass will also 
need to cross the River Soar and the River Wreake.  
 
Any potential off-line southern and eastern bypass could 
result in significant adverse impacts and could change the 
local landscape character as much of any potential route is 
located in greenfield land. Potential off-line bypasses will 
require the construction of 6 new structures and will cross 
the railway twice and the River Witham twice. This will 
require extensive engineering works. Any potential off-line 
eastern bypass could also run close to Greetwell medieval 
village which is a sensitive receptor, resulting in a 
requirement for significant environmental mitigation. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Amber 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 4: Summary  

4.1 (if applicable) 
Variance in 
risk/opportunities 

 
 

- 

140



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

between project 
solutions 

4.2 Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) likely to 
be required? 

 

Yes 

4.3 Is a Habitat 
Regulations Assessment 
likely to be required? 

 

Yes 

4.4 Difficulties 
encountered in obtaining 
environmental 
information and 
constraints in 
undertaking assessments 

 

This document has been prepared on the basis of an indicative 
schemes only at this stage. More detailed alignment information for 
the potential off-line sections and details of the on-line 
improvements that would be needed is required for detailed 
assessment to be undertaken. Careful horizontal alignment of the 
potential off-line sections during detailed design could enable some 
potentially adverse impacts to be avoided.  
 

4.5 Summary of National 
& Highways England 
environmental/ policy 
risks and opportunities 

Summary 
Compliance with air quality policy is dependent upon progress with 
the national plan to tackle roadside nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations. Assuming it is effective, the risk of policy conflict 
should, however, be small. There is potential for policy conflicts for 
cultural heritage as it is likely that it will not be possible to avoid 
significant impacts on some assets. Policy conflicts may likewise 
occur for Population and Human Health as the proposals may not 
be able to mitigate for some of the potential off-line interventions. 
Policy conflicts should, however, be able to be avoided for other 
topics through the use of established and readily deliverable design 
solutions and/or mitigation. 
 

Overall RAG Rating  
Amber 
 

4.6 Summary of physical 
environment risk  

Summary 
 
The proposed interventions include both off-line and on-line 
improvements to the existing A46 between the M5 J9 and M180 J4 
with the aim of providing a free flowing, 60mph minimum speed 
route to improve the contribution the road could make to 
supporting economic growth along the corridor.  
 
There are a number of significant environmental constraints at 
several locations along the route particularly between the M5 and 
Warwick where the existing route is mainly single carriageway.  
 
At the southern end, the A46 crosses the Cotswolds AONB which is 
a key constraint to major improvements and off-line measures in 
this section. The route overall passes in close proximity to 
numerous residential communities and a number of nIA’s have 
been along the route, especially between the M5 and Evesham,  

141



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

between Alcester and Stratford, around Warwick/Royal Leamington 
Spa and around Leicester close to a potential off-line bypass. The 
potential off-line sections will also bring new road into close 
proximity to new sensitive noise and air quality receptors, especially 
to the west of Evesham, between Bidford and Broom and Wigston, 
Syston and Waddington. 
 
The potential off-line sections will have to be considered with 
regard to flood risk mitigation. The potential off-line highway 
interventions in Evesham, Leicester and Lincoln are all within 
significant areas of flood zone 3. Although mitigation methods 
during the design phase should limit the level of flood risk there will 
be a significant increase in impermeable area.  
 
The proximity to residential receptors and increase in traffic flows is 
likely to lead to localised air quality and noise impacts. However, 
the scale of these adverse impacts may not be significant, based on 
HE guidance. More detailed air quality and noise assessment would 
be required to confirm.  
 
Any potential off-line sections in Evesham, Leicester and Lincoln 
could require extensive engineering works. Several rail and river  
crossings would be required and would require mitigation to 
reduce the impact to the local landscape character.  

Overall RAG Rating 
Amber 
 

 

 

Appendix 1: Environmental Constraints Plans 

142



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Section 1: Tewkesbury - Warwick  

143



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

144



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

145



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

146



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

147



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

148



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

149



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Section 2: Warwick – Leicester 

 
 
 

150



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 
 

151



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

152



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

153



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

154



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 

155



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

156



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

 

157



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

158



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

159



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

 
Section 3: Leicester  

160



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

161



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 

162



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

163



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 
 

164



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

165



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 

166



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 

167



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 

168



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

169



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

170



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

171



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Section 4: Syston – Newark  

 

172



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

173



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

174



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 

175



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

176



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 

177



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

178



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

Section 5: Newark – Humber  

 
 

179



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

180



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

181



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 

182



 

  Strictly Embargoed until 0001 7th November 2018   

 

 
 
 

183



This page is intentionally left blank



A46 Corridor Study 
Stage One 

The case for improving one of the  
UK’s most important trade routes

November 2018

Immingham

Grimsby

Skegness

Lincoln

Newark-On-Trent

Grantham

Loughborough

LeicesterTamworth

Nottingham

Mansfield

Chesterfield

Matlock

Derby

Stoke-On-Trent

Burton upon Trent

Shrewsbury

Telford

Wolverhampton

Ludlow

Walsall

Birmingham Nuneaton

Solihull

Redditch

Worcester

Hereford

Ross-On-Wye

Coventry

Warwick

Stratford-Upon-Avon

Kidderminster

Lichfield Oakham

Foreword by Sir John Peace
Chairman, Midlands Connect

The Midlands is the beating heart of our 
nation, and the centre of the UK transport 
network. That’s why an investment in the 
Midlands is an investment in Britain.  

The region has attracted some of the 
world’s best manufacturing, automotive, 
logistics and agri-food businesses. They
all depend on reliable transport links to 
regional, national and international markets. 
But our road network is struggling to keep 
up with the 21st-century demands being 
placed on it. To entice more world-class 
brands, we need a long-term approach to 
addressing these challenges. 

Spurred on by a Midlands-wide boom in 
professional services, growing demand for 
rail travel must be matched by our railway 
capacity. Making the most of space released 
by HS2, and linking to the six Midlands 
stations serving the new network, is vital to 
widening the pool of skills for businesses 
to draw upon. 

With four of the UK’s fi ve main freight 
lines running through the Midlands, 
delivering our Midlands Rail Hub plans 
could put an additional £22 billion of 
freight onto our railways every year.  

On the roads, our Midlands Motorway Hub 
vision will address the growing impact 

road network. Our £50 billion export 
economy will only continue to fl ourish if 
road and rail access to ports and airports is 
an ongoing priority. 

This report sets out our routes to growth. 
It explains our priorities, why we’re 
developing them, our progress so far, 
and how investing in them can transform 
transport infrastructure, and with it, the 
Midlands economy. By making the case for 
investment in the right places at the right 
time, we can make sure the region’s people 
and businesses continue to prosper. 

The report also celebrates the importance 
of our partnership in developing these 
plans and making them a reality. We are 
determined that the region should have an 
infl uential seat at the table as and when 
critical central government decisions are 
taken. This is an essential next step in 
ensuring infrastructure investment 
delivers for every corner of the Midlands.

“The Midlands is 
the beating heart of 
our nation, and the 
centre of the UK 
transport network.”

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   2 06/11/2018   11:32

185

HHUDSON_1
Text Box
APPENDIX B



The A46 - one of the 
UK’s most important  
trade routes
Spanning 155 miles from Gloucestershire to 
Lincolnshire, the Midlands section of this vital 
East–West corridor is home to 5.5 million people and 
almost 3 million workers. Its businesses earn £115 
billion a year, that’s 9% of the English economy.  

Future proofing the A46 is locally, regionally, nationally and 
internationally important. As well as providing critical connections 
between communities, homes and jobs; acting as a ring road or 
bypass for cities like Coventry, Lincoln and Leicester; and helping 
businesses reach their supply chains and customers; the A46 also 
provides access to international gateways like Birmingham and 
East Midlands airports and seaports in Bristol and the Humber. 

Despite its importance, the corridor is not performing as it could. 
Road-reliant businesses in the automotive, aerospace, advanced 
manufacturing, textiles and agriculture sectors based along the 
route are being held back by slow and unreliable journey times. 
The standard of the road varies along its length, from 70mph 
motorways and dual carriageways with grade-separated junctions,  
to narrow village high streets with pedestrian crossings. Even 
in the more developed sections, pinch points at major junctions 
result in frustrating levels of congestion. 

Uncertainty is stifling investment, increasing business costs and 
limiting job opportunities. With government keen to stimulate 
housing development across the country, the network will soon 
be under more pressure than ever. The A46 is perfectly placed to 
facilitate the inclusive growth it is currently constraining.

Although steps are being made to upgrade parts of the route, 
this progress must be accelerated by using a corridor-wide, 
rather than fragmented approach, which risks simply shifting 
congestion down the road. Midlands Connect is working 
alongside businesses, Local Enterprise Partnerships and councils, 
as well as Highways England to create a 20-year improvement 
plan for the entire A46 corridor.

Boosting productivity with infrastructure improvement like this is 
central to the government’s Industrial Strategy and will strengthen 
the economic might of the Midlands, as well as the country as a 
whole. 

01    A46 Corridor Study – Stage One

By bringing forward the A46’s first truly 
holistic strategy, we can enhance and 
future-proof access to jobs and supply 
chains, while also providing a resilient 
alternative to the existing motorway 
network for business and freight traffic.

£115 billion 
economic output –  
9% of the English economy

5.5million 
people

2.9million  
jobs

155 
miles in length

Our research shows that around Evesham, 
Coventry, Leicester, Newark and Lincoln, 
average speeds at rush hour are regularly 

below 20mph

Nigel Huddleston MP  
(Mid Worcestershire)

Midlands Connect A46 Champion 

“ Upgrading the A46 isn’t just a Midlands priority, 
it’s a national priority and this initial report will 
help get it higher up on the national agenda. We 
will only be successful in promoting the case 
for this corridor by working together – cross-
Midlands, cross-sector, and cross-party. This 
report clearly states why the A46 is so important 
and deserves national attention. We need to 
unleash housing development sites, solve road 
safety black spots and take heavy traffic out 
of places it doesn’t belong. The next stage of 
the report being released next year will go into 
more detail about exactly where work should be 
focused, what it will entail and how it  
should be phased”

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   3 06/11/2018   11:32

186



A holistic solution
Some great work is already being done to address issues on the A46. Highways England has begun work on 
the road itself to alleviate a number of pinch points in Coventry and Warwickshire, while behind the scenes, 
the A46 Partnership – a coalition of Local Authorities and Local Enterprise Partnerships along a 70-mile 
stretch of the route between Gloucestershire and Leicestershire – is working together to address challenges 
including road safety, poor resilience and community severance. 

To build on these efforts, now is the time to look at how specific 
bottlenecks affect the A46 as a whole. This allows us to put 
together a programme of strategic upgrades which help the entire 
corridor, rather than single junctions. Under the current national 
investment approach, it could take 40 years or more until the road 
is fit for purpose, meanwhile growth, business development and 
international trade will all be held back.

In the 15 years from 2015-2030 the economic output of the A46 
corridor is forecast to increase by over a third to £153 billion. 
These forecasts include 400,000 new residents and 146,000 new 
jobs as the UK economy rebalances away from an over-heating 
south east corner. However, only a comprehensive, holistic 
solution to improving the corridor’s primary artery, the A46,  
can support this growth.

Midlands Connect has outlined the strategic case for a  
co-ordinated package of improvements along the length of 
the A46. We have analysed the needs of businesses and local 
populations, as well as future growth aspirations, to understand 
how a more efficient expressway could support jobs growth, 
housing development and ultimately improve quality of life. 
If delivered in full, this programme of activity could establish 
the A46 as a globally-recognised economic corridor – capable 
of serving local, regional and long-distance users, while also 
boosting productivity and inward investment.

The case for improving one of the UK’s most important trade route    02

The ‘economic prize’ 

Our initial forecasts suggest that over the 
next 60 years, corridor-wide improvement 
of the A46 could bring economic benefits of 
£7.1billion through quicker journeys, reduced 
business costs and improved productivity. 
This is a conservative figure and, when 
economic growth from new jobs and 
housing is factored in, the overall benefits 
could be significantly higher. 

35% increase in economic 
output to £153 billion

£7.1 billion  
in economic benefits

146,000  
additional jobs 

400,000 
increase in population

2015-2030 Corridor-wide  
growth forecast 

By looking all the way along  
the corridor we can:

>   Improve the movement of people and goods  
by reducing congestion and enhancing journey  
time reliability

>   Increase network resilience by providing a viable 
alternative to the surrounding motorway network, 
including the M1, M5-M6, and M42 ‘Birmingham Box’

>   Improve connectivity between the South West and 
the Midlands, supporting the corridor’s manufacturing, 
logistics and agricultural sectors

>   Assist in unlocking and accelerating numerous 
strategic housing and employment sites 

>   Overcome local challenges like road safety and 
community severance

>   Offer better, more reliable connectivity between economic 
centres, including Leicester/Coventry, Derby/Nottingham 
and Warwick/Leamington Spa to international gateways 
including East Midlands and Birmingham airports and the 
ports of Humberside and Bristol.

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   4 06/11/2018   11:32

187



A catalyst for business 
and industry
The A46 corridor is a hotbed of industry, home to 
a number of globally-significant sector clusters 
including battery technology in Warwickshire, 
Leamington’s ‘Silicon Spa’, food production in 
Worcestershire and Lincolnshire and world-class 
manufacturing facilities across the region, including 
textiles in Leicester and automotive in Coventry. 

These businesses are particularly reliant on having access to 
dependable road networks, as well as connectivity to international 
markets by air and sea. Over a quarter of all jobs and economic 
output in the corridor are in sectors dependent on the road 
network. Consequently, the huge variability in journey times and 
congestion on the A46 is having a significant negative impact on 
firms’ productivity today, while limiting their ability to grow and 
attract skilled staff in the future.

Productivity
Addressing regional imbalances in productivity and economic 
output is a priority for national policymakers. Productivity in the 
A46 corridor is already above the Midlands’ average, however, its 
potential is so much higher and it still lags well behind averages 
for areas further south. 

The corridor supports a number of 21st century sectors with  
high growth potential, such as advanced manufacturing and  
agri-tech. Combined with the route’s ability to open up an 
underused trading channel between the North East and South  
West of England, it is clear to see the A46 has an important role to 
play in redressing regional imbalances and boosting prosperity.

Exports
22% of the goods and services produced by firms along the A46 
are sold abroad. The UK average is 15%. For businesses trading 
internationally, building and maintaining profitable links to 
suppliers and markets is dependent on high-quality, low-cost, 
reliable and frictionless connections to export terminals. The A46 
corridor passes close by East Midlands Airport, the UK’s busiest 
for dedicated air freight; Birmingham Airport, with its newly 
extended runway for the world’s biggest passenger aircraft; and 
is book-ended by major international ports in the Bristol Channel 
and the Humber – including Immingham and Grimsby, the 
largest port in the UK by tonnage moved.

However, the quality and perception of these international 
connections must be greatly improved if the economic potential  
of the A46 business community is to be realised. Congestion and 
poor network reliability are barriers to trade and deter businesses 
that rely on just-in-time production processes. Targeted 
investment within a wider long-term programme will increase 
business confidence; significantly reducing journey times by 
resolving key pinch points, particularly between the M5 and  
M40 and between the M1 and A1 corridors.

£40,000

GVA/head by region (2015)

£30,000

£20,000

£10,000

£0

London

South East

East
 of E

nglan
d

South W
est

A46 co
rri

dor

North
 W

est

East
 M

idlan
ds

West
 M

idlan
ds

Yorksh
ire

 & The H
umber

North
 East

03    A46 Corridor Study – Stage One

22% 
of goods and services  

are exported 

47%  
higher export rate 
than UK average

16%  
of GVA in 

manufacturing,  
20% in distribution

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   5 06/11/2018   11:32

188



Improvements  
backed by business
In spring 2018 we spoke to businesses along  
the length of the A46. They reinforced the need  
for urgent improvement of the corridor, voicing 
frustrations about current road conditions and 
explaining how they impacted on future growth plans.

Working with Chambers of Commerce in Herefordshire & 
Worcestershire, Coventry & Warwickshire, the East Midlands and 
Lincolnshire, Midlands Connect surveyed hundreds of firms located 
within 10 miles of the A46 - to ask how road conditions, traffic levels 
and current investment plans were affecting their business.

The consensus was clear – of the 250 businesses surveyed, 
97% said an improved A46 would significantly boost their 
productivity.

Managers told us improving the A46 would allow them to create new 
jobs. They also highlighted the longer-term economic risk to the area 
of doing nothing, with a significant proportion warning they would 
consider relocating their operations if conditions worsen. 

 
>   65% say the improvements would allow them to create 

new jobs;

>   75% say the A46 impacts business performance due to 
unpredictable journey times, hindering their ability to  
respond to customer and supplier needs and restricting 
their ability to attract new customers;

>   71% say traffic and/or road conditions have got worse in  
the last 5 years; only 20% said conditions had improved;

>   19% have considered relocating because of traffic and/
or road conditions, with a further 29% saying they’d 
consider it if conditions get any worse.

Paul Butler, Managing Director, Rotec Engineering, Vale Park Evesham: 

“ We produce small parts for agricultural machinery, Formula One cars, aircraft and trains. 
The distribution network is extremely important to us; 90% of our business is all around the 
UK and Europe. However, in the last few years the A46 has become a nightmare. At 4pm 
on a Thursday or Friday, it’s fully congested in both directions, which can add 30 minutes 
to journeys, and that can be a real issue. Improving the A46 would make a huge difference 
and could significantly impact on the growth of our business.”

The case for improving one of the UK’s most important trade route    04

The voice of business is clear: improving the A46 will have a positive impact on trading 
activity and the economy as a whole.

65% 
said the improvements would allow  

them to create new jobs

97% 
said an improved A46 would boost their productivity

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   6 06/11/2018   11:32

189



A safer place to live and work
In places the A46 is dangerous, noisy and cuts communities in half. Particularly where single carriageway 
sections meet “at-grade” junctions (e.g. roundabouts or traffic lights), the road effectively severs one part of 
a town from another, with pedestrians and cyclists having to endanger their safety in order to reach schools, 
shops and other local amenities.

There are a high number of traffic accident ‘blackspots’ along 
the A46. Often these are found where limited overtaking 
opportunities on single carriageway stretches result in reckless 
manoeuvres by frustrated drivers. Even without collisions, 
congestion significantly impacts wellbeing – queuing traffic 
creates more pollution than free-flowing vehicles. In addition 
to poor air quality, frequent congestion limits people’s ability to 
reliably access employment opportunities. Upgrading the A46 
will widen access to jobs, improve road safety, encourage housing 
development, bring communities closer together and ultimately 
improve quality of life for everyone along the route.

Access to jobs
Urban networks function more effectively when vehicles and 
people can flow seamlessly between them. Improved connectivity 
widens businesses’ labour pools, increasing economic density, 
and reducing operating costs. 

Suboptimal access to skilled labour is an issue across the 
A46 corridor. In rural Lincolnshire and Worcestershire, poor 
connectivity makes commuting difficult and attracting labour 
from other areas is challenging. In high growth locations around 
Warwick, Coventry, Leicester and Newark, the A46 is becoming 
increasingly important for everyday life. However, local, trade  
and commuter traffic is now competing around local centres 
and busy out of town business parks. As people strike a balance 
between housing needs and working patterns, A46 users will be 
commuting further to access jobs and leisure pursuits. The route 
must be improved to serve the evolving needs of both longer 
distance traffic and local journeys.  

Housing
The UK “housing crisis” is well documented, with local authorities 
setting ambitious home building targets. The government’s 
Housing White Paper, ‘keys to unlocking development’ sets 
out the relationship between addressing the country’s housing 
shortage and investing in infrastructure. Without improvements 
to transport links, planned housing growth will either push the 
system to breaking point or prove impossible to implement. 

The Office for National Statistics predicts the population of 
the A46 corridor will grow by 600,000 (over 10%) between 2018 
and 2041. This level of growth is above the English average, and 
higher than any other region outside of the south of England. 
Such an increase would require an additional 250,000 homes to  
be built over the next two decades, more than 10,000 every year. 

Improving the A46 is essential in providing capacity for  
a growing population. New housing development is expected 
to be most intense in the central section of the A46 corridor. 
Warwick, Coventry, Rugby, Nuneaton and Leicester all have 
several large housing developments either being built or going 
through the various stages of planning. It is an issue at either end 
of the corridor too, with significant housing growth also planned 
in Evesham, Newark, Scunthorpe and around Lincoln.  

05    A46 Corridor Study – Stage One

Upgrading the A46 will widen access to jobs, improve road safety, encourage housing 
development, bring communities closer together and ultimately improve quality of life 
for everyone along the route.

Improving the A46 is essential in 
providing capacity for a growing 
population.

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   7 06/11/2018   11:32

190



Sir Peter Soulsby, Leicester City Mayor and Chair of Transport for the East Midlands:

“ The A46 is locally, regionally and nationally significant. Improvements to the road will serve 
a vital local purpose, freeing up land to develop badly needed housing. Businesses along the 
corridor are crying out for us to help them to move freely right along the A46; it’s essential to 
them and the nation that it becomes a reliable link across the centre of the country. We have 
at last got ourselves joined up. Now the government must help us join up the Midlands, and 
join us to the rest of the nation.”

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   8 06/11/2018   11:32

191



Next steps
Highways England and local councils are responsible for a number of improvement 
works already proposed for development on specific sections of the A46.

Although the upgrades detailed in the table above are welcome, 
the evidence gathered by Midlands Connect clearly highlights 
the merits of devising a corridor-wide improvement scheme for 
the A46. Accelerating works is essential to supporting business 
growth, encouraging inward investment and enabling housing 
development. 

The next stage of our corridor study will evaluate the merits 
of potential improvement schemes across the length of the 
route, creating a sequential programme of activity that delivers 
maximum benefit and value for money. While we have identified 
a number of practical options for investigation, grouped by 
geographical location, this list is by no means exhaustive. Further 
interventions may be discovered in the next stage of development 
while the benefits of some schemes may not appear to outweigh 
the costs, in which case they will be dropped from consideration. 

The next phase of our A46 corridor study will be released in 2019. 
This will go into more detail about exactly where work should 
be focused, what it will entail and how it should be phased. In 
undertaking this next stage of development, Midlands Connect 
expects to gain support from the DfT for allocating Road Investment 
Strategy 2 (RIS2) funds to our A46 priorities. In the meantime, we will 
continue to work closely with Highways England and the relevant 
local highway authorities to deliver a corridor approach to upgrading 
the A46, which meets the needs of all users, speeds up journey times, 
makes trips more reliable and improves safety. 

All of Midlands Connect’s road programmes, including the A46, aim 
to future-proof our region’s road network for the next century, making 
it fit to support new and emerging technology and innovation, 
including Connected and Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs), electric 
vehicles (EVs) and the associated physical and digital infrastructure.

Improvement works scheduled for development

Scheme Status

Stanks Interchange improvements Scheduled for delivery in 2018

Stoneleigh Junction improvements Scheduled for delivery in 2019

Coventry Eastern Bypass package (Binley and Walsgrave) Scheduled for delivery by 2025

A5 Dodswell – Longshoot widening Scheduled for delivery by 2025

Lincoln Eastern Bypass Delivered by Spring 2020

07    A46 Corridor Study – Stage One

If you’re passionate about the Midlands 
and the future of our transport 
infrastructure, you have the power 
to support this project and make 
the Midlands the innovative and 
productive region Britain needs it 
to be. As we forge our new position 
in the world, now is the time to join 
the Midlands Connect journey and 
make our vision for economic growth, 
prosperity and social mobility a reality. 

Sign up to our pledge list at www.midlandsconnect.uk
Engage with us on twitter @midsconnect

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   9 06/11/2018   11:32

192



Immingham

Hull

A15A15

The case for improving one of the UK’s most important trade route    08

Further improvement  
schemes to be  
investigated  
in Stage Two

Gloucestershire and 
Worcestershire

-   Possible 
interventions and 
options for bypass in 
Ashchurch, Beckford 
and Evesham 

Leicestershire 

-  Potential for 
Leicester southern/
eastern bypass 

-  M1 Smart Motorway 

-  Upgrading Leicester 
Western Bypass 

-   Improving Hobby 
Horse interchange  
at Syston. 

Lincolnshire

-  Potential for 
southern Lincoln 
bypass, connecting 
to the under 
construction  
eastern bypass

- Targeted 
improvements on the 
A15 north of Lincoln

- Junction 
improvements 
between the A1 and 
Lincoln to provide 
grade separation

Newark area

-   Overcoming 
congestion hotspots 
to lock in benefits of 
previous upgrades

-   Cement effective  
link between  
M1 and A1

-   Support for 
acceleration of 
Newark Bypass 
proposal

Coventry and 
Warwickshire

-   Evolution of scheme 
progress in the 
sections to the south 
and north  
of Coventry 

-  Alcester to Warwick 
Expressway

-  Possible 
interventions in near 
Stratford-upon-Avon

- Junction 
improvements 
at Thickthorn, 
Stivichall and M6 J2

our final proposal 
could add £7.1bn  
to the UK economy

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   10 06/11/2018   11:32

193



 

A50/500 

A46 

A1(M)
M 

A5 

A38 

A50/500A50/500

A15A15

A38A38
A46A46

A5A5

A1(M)A1(M)

Stoke-on-Trent

Grimsby
Immingham

Derby

Tewkesbury

Midlands
Motorway Hub

09    A46 Corridor Study – Stage One

Midlands Connect Roads Programme

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   11 06/11/2018   11:32

194



 

A50/500 

A46 

A1(M)
M 

A5 

A38 

A50/500A50/500

A15A15

A38A38
A46A46

A5A5

A1(M)A1(M)

Stoke-on-Trent

Grimsby
Immingham

Derby

Tewkesbury

Midlands
Motorway Hub

About Midlands Connect
Midlands Connect explores, develops and recommends major transport  
projects which provide the biggest possible economic and social benefits  
for the Midlands and the rest of the UK. These initiatives will create more  
capacity for passengers and freight on the Midlands’ roads and railways.
As the transport arm of the Midlands Engine, we work with local authorities, LEPs and  
Chambers of Commerce, as well as Highways England, Network Rail, HS2 and the Midlands’  
two international airports, to ensure national transport projects benefit the Midlands and  
Midlands projects benefit the nation.

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   12 06/11/2018   11:32

195



Immingham

Grimsby

Skegness

Lincoln

Newark-On-Trent

Grantham

Loughborough

LeicesterTamworth

Nottingham

Mansfield

Chesterfield

Matlock

Derby

Stoke-On-Trent

Burton upon Trent

Shrewsbury

Telford

Wolverhampton

Ludlow

Walsall

Birmingham Nuneaton

Solihull

Redditch

Worcester

Hereford

Ross-On-Wye

Coventry

Warwick

Stratford-Upon-Avon

Kidderminster

Lichfield Oakham

Foreword by Sir John Peace
Chairman, Midlands Connect

The Midlands is the beating heart of our 
nation, and the centre of the UK transport 
network. That’s why an investment in the 
Midlands is an investment in Britain.  

The region has attracted some of the 
world’s best manufacturing, automotive, 
logistics and agri-food businesses. They
all depend on reliable transport links to 
regional, national and international markets. 
But our road network is struggling to keep 
up with the 21st-century demands being 
placed on it. To entice more world-class 
brands, we need a long-term approach to 
addressing these challenges. 

Spurred on by a Midlands-wide boom in 
professional services, growing demand for 
rail travel must be matched by our railway 
capacity. Making the most of space released 
by HS2, and linking to the six Midlands 
stations serving the new network, is vital to 
widening the pool of skills for businesses 
to draw upon. 

With four of the UK’s fi ve main freight 
lines running through the Midlands, 
delivering our Midlands Rail Hub plans 
could put an additional £22 billion of 
freight onto our railways every year.  

On the roads, our Midlands Motorway Hub 
vision will address the growing impact 

road network. Our £50 billion export 
economy will only continue to fl ourish if 
road and rail access to ports and airports is 
an ongoing priority. 

This report sets out our routes to growth. 
It explains our priorities, why we’re 
developing them, our progress so far, 
and how investing in them can transform 
transport infrastructure, and with it, the 
Midlands economy. By making the case for 
investment in the right places at the right 
time, we can make sure the region’s people 
and businesses continue to prosper. 

The report also celebrates the importance 
of our partnership in developing these 
plans and making them a reality. We are 
determined that the region should have an 
infl uential seat at the table as and when 
critical central government decisions are 
taken. This is an essential next step in 
ensuring infrastructure investment 
delivers for every corner of the Midlands.

“The Midlands is 
the beating heart of 
our nation, and the 
centre of the UK 
transport network.”

Midlands Connect
16 Summer Lane, Birmingham, B19 3SD

MCAdmin@midlandsconnect.uk
www.midlandsconnect.uk

@MidsConnect

18891 Midlands Connect 12pp AW 2.indd   1 06/11/2018   11:32

196


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 November 2018.
	8 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 - 2022/23.
	Copy of Appendix A - Revenue 2019-20 V2
	Appendix B - Growth 2019-23
	Appendix C - Savings 2019-23
	Appendix D - Draft Capital Programme 2019-23

	9 Environmental Performance 2017-18 and Greenhouse Gas 2017-18.
	Appendix A V2
	Appendix B V2

	10 LLEP Energy Infrastructure Strategy.
	11 A46 - Update on Midlands Connect Work
	294 - Scrutiny 17.01.19 - A46 APPENDIX A
	1. Introduction
	2. The case for investment in the A46 Corridor
	3. Priority sections for investment
	4. Recommendations for next steps

	294 - Scrutiny 17.01.19 - A46 APPENDIX B


